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VISION

=1
_5 oS

To be an acclaimed contractor and developer in Asia
with dynamic and sustainable growth
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MISSION
fiEan

- Improve people’s quality of life through city and

infrastructure development
ZEPMMERER  RABELERE

Grow with our employees through fulfilling work
environment and career development
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- Create value for shareholders
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CORPORATE CULTURE
R

performance. In our business
of our clients and ensure that
e our projects with qualified,
lear priorities are to thoroughly
and to fulfill our obligations
ges and proactively tackle

a positive way.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

TERER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman)
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

(Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer)

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

Li Wai Hang, Christina
Han Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Wu William Wai Leung
Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Ho Gilbert ChiHang
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Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
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Xu Jianhua
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Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Xu Jianhua

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TRAREBLE

July 2017
20177 A

Official Commencement of
Construction of Anderson Road Quarry
Site Project

Chun Wo, the construction business of the
Group, has held the Project Commencement
Ceremony for the Site Formation and
Infrastructure Works for Development of
Anderson Road Quarry Site on 17 July 2017.
The tree planting ceremony has marked the
official commencement of the construction
of this contract which is valued at HK$2.67
billion.

T
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August 2017
2017 8 B

Entering into the Philippines Construction Market,
an Important Step for Tapping ‘Belt and Road’
Initiative

Together with two independent third parties, the Group
has entered into a contract with Manila Water Company,
Inc. on 25 August 2017 which will be involved in
designing and constructing of the Novaliches-Balara

Aqueduct in the Philippines. The value of the contract
is approximately 5.4 billion Philippine Pesos (equivalent
to approximately HK$800 million), and is expected to be
completed in 2021.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
ERAELE

September 2017
201759 A

Chun Wo and Lifewire Jointly

Present “Lifewire Run” Charity

Run

On 17 September 2017, the “Lifewire

Run” co-organised by Chun Wo and

Lifewire attracted more than 2,700

runners and over 60 organisations

sponsored and participated in the

event, raising a total of approximately

HKS$1.9 million. The net proceeds

were donated to Lifewire for aiding

child patients. Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,

Derrick, JP, Chief Executive Officer

and Chief Operating Officer of the

Group; Mr. Paul Chan Mo-po, Financial

Secretary of the Government of the

Hong Kong Special Administrative

Region; and Dr. Ko Wing Man, former BHE Lifewire(# - BB SER [ Z . F8H | 2=

Secretary for Food and Health Bureau 201769 A 178 - &A1 R Lifewire (& - B MG ME [ B0 - Bk | 2250 -
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Garnered Two Awards under the FHKI’s
“Industry Cares” Recognition Scheme
Chun Wo has garnered the “Grand Caring

Award (Enterprise Group)” and “The Most

Innovative Award (Enterprise Group)” under &&
the fifth “Industry Cares" recognition scheme 3

of Federation of Hong Kong Industries on @R

26 September 2017, acknowledgement
and recognition of Chun Wo's outstanding bk

performance in fulfilling its corporate social Mot e e s iy e
responsibility in the past year.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TERAELE
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i 7% AT Ak "~ | Acquisition of certain Equity Interests in a

o - P i ' “®%'. Renowned Construction Company in Macau
T 1 T The Group has acquired certain equity interests
- in Ng Kam Kee Construction Company Limited in
x - Macau, thereby becoming a strategic shareholder
: ] of that company. This investment extends our
e reach in the Guangdong—Hong Kong—Ma;ao
Tr Bay Area, and consolidates the Group's leading

™ position in the industry.
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October to December 2017
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HK$1.05 Billion Loan Facility
The Group has been granted a HKS$1.05 billion term loan facility from four banks. Part of the loan is to be used to restructure the
loan portfolio of the Group, while the rest is to be used for new business development.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
ERAELE

January 2018
20181 A

CEDD's Award of Contract Exceeds

HK$580 Million Value

CW-STEC-CMGC JV has successfully secured the
contract of Tseung Kwan O - Lam Tin Tunnel -
Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated
Works by the Civil Engineering and Development

Department with the contract sum exceeds HK$580
million.
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February 2018
2018 2 A

Strategic Collaboration with Top Spring
International to Advance Property Business in
Hong Kong

The Group and Top Spring International Holdings
Limited have entered into a collaboration to develop
the property business in Hong Kong, with the project
being a premium residential property project located at
Waterloo Road, Ho Man Tin.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TERAELE

May 2018
2018 5 A

Award of Shing Mun Tunnels and Tseung Kwan
O Tunnel and Kai Tak Tunnel and Lion Rock
Tunnel MOM Contracts
Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited has
secured the six-years management, operation and
maintenance contracts of Shing Mun Tunnels and
Tseung Kwan O Tunnel as well as Kai Tak Tunnel and
Lion Rock Tunnel from the Transport Department
of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. The contract for Shing Mun
Tunnels and Tseung Kwan O Tunnel has commenced & /2 350 me bt s 51 4 B B B 38 T B B SE A 7 L BB Y S T 38
on 1 June 2018 and contract for Kai Tak Tunnel and BBEESY
Lion Rock Tunnel will commence on 1 August 2018. ERBETEARA TS E BRI/ TR kTS 2R/ 15 A E
NEZHPIRBMEERZBEURRERENGTFILERENE
B 2ERGEERBEH - HABENSEREE2EHER
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June 2018
2018 F 6 A

HK$1.2 Billion Term Loan And Revolving Credit Facility Agreement

The Group has entered into a HKS$1.2 billion term loan and revolving credit facility agreement with five banks. The long-term
cooperation with the banking community has enabled the Group to focus on diversifying its business strategically and actively
participate in large-scale infrastructure projects.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

Z—E
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“We will maintain efforts to become an infrastructure and
investment group with an increasing breadth and depth
of market exposure and business experiences. At the
macro level, we will continue investing in high-potential

construction related companies in Asia. ”
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Asia Allied
Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2018 (the "Year”). For the Year, the Group has been able to generate a
net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)") of
HKS$150 million.

Consistent with our primary mission, we have continued to grow the Group's
footprint from a leading construction and development company in Hong
Kong to an enterprise with increasing reach and prominence across Asia, thus
living up to our “Asia Allied Infrastructure” name. Towards fulfilling this long-
term plan, we have established strategic ties with parties that align with and
can capitalise on our expertise in large-scale infrastructure, development and
investment projects. In building such alliances, we have at the same time
enhanced our preparedness for seizing opportunities arising from China’s
"Belt and Road” initiative, as well as the development of the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Bay Area (the “Greater Bay Area”), which is set to become an
important financial and technology hub of Southern China, hence requiring
significant infrastructure development. We are particularly pleased to welcome
a new shareholder, SFund International Investment Fund Management Limited
("SFund International”), who shares our vision and whose experience and
resources will provide added impetus for realising our goals. With the support
of SFund International, we will be able to more effectively explore infrastructure
and real estate development opportunities from the projects in Greater Bay
Area (the “Greater Bay Area Projects”), particularly in relation to education,
medical and elderly care services and housing. This is most timely given
the significance of this year, a year in which we will be celebrating the 50"
anniversary of the Group while at the same time looking for fresh prospects for
driving future growth.

In planning for tomorrow, we are fully aware of the importance of building a
strong foundation today. For us, such a foundation is represented by the Chun
Wo construction business which has continued to perform encouragingly,
having been awarded several distinguished projects during the Year. Our
expertise has been leveraged outside local borders as well. Through a jointly
formed company with two third parties, the Group has involved in designing
and constructing water conveying facilities in Philippines for Manila Water
Company, Inc.. It is worth noting as well that subsequent to the Year, we have
entered into a memorandum of understanding (the “MOU") with Guangzhou
Nansha Development Zone and Guangzhou Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co,, Ltd. ("Guangzhou Fund”). The first objective of this tripartite
alliance will be to establish an international education base in the Nansha
New Area. The significance of the MOU is manifold, facilitating not only the
realisation of goals set out by the three parties, but also enabling us to establish
a beachhead in Nansha New Area, being a new state-level area and pilot free-
trade zone located in the heart of the Greater Bay Area, which in turn will allow
us to further our goal of seizing opportunities resulting from the Greater Bay
Area Projects. Yet another aspect of the MOU of note is that it marks our first
joint-development project with Guangzhou Fund since its subsidiary, SFund
International, became a strategic shareholder of the Group.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18
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Just as the construction business is an integral part of the Group’s makeup,
so too is the property development and assets leasing segment, which for
the Year provided a stable source of revenue through the disposal of certain
properties. To encourage the ongoing development of this segment, we have
continued to bolster our portfolio both independently and in partnership with
other developers. An example of the latter is our entry into a collaborative
agreement with Top Spring International Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 03688), under which a premium residential property
located at Waterloo Road, Ho Man Tin will be developed. The cooperation
not only enables us to mitigate risk, but also to advance and strengthen our
position in the Hong Kong property development market.

FUTURE STRATEGY AND DIRECTION

In the coming year, we will maintain efforts to become an infrastructure and
investment group with an increasing breadth and depth of market exposure
and business experiences. At the macro level, we will continue investing in
high-potential construction related companies in Asia. At the same time, we
will be exporting our project management expertise and transferable skills to
increase our involvement in large-scale projects, including those in the Greater
Bay Area, and to take advantage of the infrastructure construction boom across
Asia.

In view of the improving operating climate in Hong Kong, including a larger
labour pool resulting from the near completion of many infrastructure projects
as well as less steep rise in construction costs, we will also seek involvement in
various projects in Hong Kong. In particular, the expansion of the Hong Kong
International Airport into a three-runway system, initiated by Airport Authority
Hong Kong, and projects under planning by Hong Kong Housing Authority and
Hong Kong Housing Society which all align with the expertise of the Group.
By engaging in projects initiated by both the public and private sectors, we
will further strengthen our business foundation, enabling us to have different
means and methods for realising our long-term goals.

With respect to the property development and assets leasing segment,
we remain cautiously optimistic about its development. Whether working
independently or in concert with our new partner, the Group’s strategy will
continue to be on developing premium properties that are able to create long-
term value. This will include developing premium retirement housing to satisfy
ever rising demand from a rapidly aging Hong Kong population.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

As the Group continues on its journey to become a major force in Asia, | would
like to thank all those who have played key roles in ensuring that this journey
has stayed on course and in line with our expectations during the Year. In
particular, | wish to extend my gratitude to the management team and the
entire Asia Allied Infrastructure workforce for their unwavering commitment
and dedication towards realising the big picture yet remaining attentive to
every detail. Furthermore, | would like to express my appreciation to all of our
business partners and Shareholders for their unstinting support.
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2016/17: HK$8,463,164,000 5 5
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2016/17: HK$205,506,0005% 5
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has continued to perform stably during the Year. It recorded a total
revenue of HK$8.23 billion (2017: HK$8.81 billion) and net profit attributable
to Shareholders of HK$150 million (2017: HK$206 million) for the Year. Due to
the enlarged issued share capital and dividend distribution, the Company’s net
asset value per share slightly decreased to HK$1.35 as at 31 March 2018 (2017:
HK$1.39).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Construction

The construction segment, which is mainly operated under the renowned
“Chun Wo" brand, represents the principal business of the Group. Consistent
with this stature, the construction segment has continued to be the chief
revenue contributor of the Group, generating a revenue of HK$7.68 billion
(2017: HK$8.31 billion), with segmental profit totalling HK$116.3 million (2017:
HK$149.2 million) for the Year. As at 31 March 2018, the total value of contracts
held by the Group amounted to HK$28.85 billion, of which the projects of
HK$12.24 billion in contracts were ongoing.

Competition remained intense in the construction segment, which
consequently placed pressure on profit margins. The slow funding approval
process for public works projects resulting from political concerns continued
to bring challenges. However, there is a sign of gentle decline in labour costs
by the fact that many existing large-scale infrastructure projects are nearing
completion. Moreover, there is partial relief in the form of public and private
housing, with the Hong Kong Government continuing to release land to
satisfy strong demand, thereby creating more building opportunity for the
construction segment.

As at the Year, the Group has been awarded 12 new projects. Among the
significant projects won include construction of Hong Kong International
Airport — Terminal 2 Foundation and Substructure Works, Public Rental Housing
Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate in Shek Kip Mei, and Tseung Kwan O — Lam
Tin Tunnel — Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated Works.

The Group has 27 projects that were ongoing as at the Year, most of which
involve a high degree of technical expertise and world-class construction
capabilities. Among the significant projects that are under development
include the Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and the
Island Eastern Corridor Link, and Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control
Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works. The Group has also completed
11 projects during the Year, including Handling of Surplus Public Fill (2014-2016),
Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme, and Trackwork and
Overhead Line System of Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link
(Hong Kong Section).

The Group has taken to seize opportunities from the “Belt and Road” initiative,
it has secured a contract with Manila Water Company, Inc., through a jointly
formed company with two third parties which has involved in the designing
and constructing of water conveying facilities in the Philippines.

The Group also acquired Ng Kam Kee Construction Company Limited in
October 2017. Besides gaining access to the Macau market, the exercise has
enabled the Group to establish an important stepping stone for tapping the
Greater Bay Area.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWME DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EREEEE )
New Major Projects Awarded in the Year RAEFEHRAENETEEE

Project Name
HE&E

Building Construction Works 12 F 25 T 12

1 Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate Phase 11
AHABE+—HALARATEEEREAZETRE

2 Phase 1 Redevelopment of Ming Wah Dai Ha
BREAEE —HERIER

Civil Engineering Works £ /K T#2

3 Hong Kong International Airport — Terminal 2 Foundation and Substructure Works
BEBERES - —REERNEER TEAEBIR

4 Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin Tunnel - Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated Works
FEER - BEARGE - B ERRE R MR T2

5  Improvement of Water Supply to Sheung Shui and Fanling
PR RMpEEKRERTE

6  Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle Advance Works
HEBTELEERRIAR - MISEATHTIRE

7 Design and Construction of the Novaliches — Balara Aqueduct 4

4 ELA D HT - Balara PO 57 %7K 8 < iRt & T2

Electrical & Mechanical Works & 1 & ## T2
8  Electrical Installation for the Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Tseung Kwan O Area 65C2 Phases 1 & 2

BERFESQREDHEFERRFIZF —ME_PRETIENENRETRE

Foundation Works ith & T 72

9  Foundation, ELS and Excavation Works for Proposed Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland Lot No. 44, Junction of
Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue Wai, Yau Tong
HESEHRCFERMEAMRE 4FHETERAR 2E - AlREAERZEIR

10 Foundation for Public Rental Housing Development at Tsing Hung Road, Tsing Vi
FREBBRAHXBEFEEHRAZNETE

11 P4-001 Direct Contract for Bored Pile Works for Galaxy Resort & Casino, Phase 4 Lot 4 New Integrated Resort Development
at Cotai City Macau
JRPER Ak SRR R e B 35 58 0 BA B PO BR AR & R (BRI B R 1A B 2 #E LB A2 (P4-001)

Maintenance Works # {8 T2
12 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch)
is responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and Outlying Islands (South)) (Contract No.: TC F928)

RETENE(BERMES (B)) NHREBVXSHEEARNNIETREIRNT RS (ROBE « TCFI28)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWME DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ EIREE)
Major Projects Completed in the Year RAEFERT 2FEIFR

Project Name
HE&E

Building Construction Works #£F 25 T 12

1 Design and Construction of New Territories West Regional Office and Water Resources Education Centre of Water Supplies
Department (Programme No. 117KA)
Rt FZEKRBEN AN E LKERBE F.0 (T 2R 117KA)

2 The Superstructure Main Contract for the Proposed Residential Development at Lot No. 1180 in D.D. 215, Hong Tsuen Road,
Sai Kung, New Territories
AR BN BME 215 8MRE 1180FETHRIAR FETREAL

3 Construction of Public Rental Housing Development at Lin Shing Road, Chai Wan
s EAREREERRIAR

4 Main Contract for Proposed Redevelopment at Nos. 12-24 Lun Fat Street, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
ARBTHBEENREUMREETRERAEY

5  Proposed Residential Redevelopment at No. 20 Peak Road, Hong Kong
ABILTEE 205 EEERIER

Civil Engineering Works + /K T2

6  Handling of Surplus Public Fill (2014 - 2016)
BRIBFIER A FRIERL 2014 - 2016)

7 Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme
55 i AT &

Fitting Out Works £ &f T2
8  Fitting Out Works for Common Area (Lift Lobbies and Guard Houses) Nominated Sub-contract at Proposed Residential
Development at Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11227

NEERMEE 11227 RETERABEEDHBE (EBAERRLE) KA=REMHTIE

Foundation Works ith & T 72
9  Foundation for Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Tseung Kwan O Area 65C2, Phase 1

HEReSQBRE-—MEDHEFERRAS 2HETE

Maintenance Works #1{£ T2

10 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Achitectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is
responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and Outlying Islands (South)) (Contract No: TC B928)
RETAAR(BFESLES () "VAREEVESBRARNRNBETREIENTEHEL (SXMHmK - TCBI28)

Railway Works &% T 12
11 MTR Contract No. 830 — Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (Hong Kong Section): Trackwork and Overhead
Line System

BEA R0 - EREREFR (FER) - SUBREBERS
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Design and Construction of New Territories West Regional Office and -
Water Resources Education Centre of Water Supplies Department (Programme No. 117KA)
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Proposed Residential Redevelopment at No. 20 Peak Road, Hong Kong
EBWTRE 20 R ETERIER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWME DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ EIREE)
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REFEERBEENTEIR

Project Name
HE&E

Building Construction Works #£F 25 T 12

1

2

3

Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate Phases 7 & 8
BRPELRENHALBEIEEERIBRRETIR

Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Passenger Clearance Building
BRRABEBOE - IRIRKE

Main Contract for Subsidised Sale Flats Project at Shatin Area 36C

PH36CEMEEFRENNEEEHBBEL

Design and Construction of Redevelopment of Kwai Chung Hospital (Phase 1)

TRBRERETRR (F—H) - Rt LEETRE

Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Remaining Ancillary Buildings and Facilities
BIWRABEBOR - 88 NEHBIREY MK

Main Contract for the Proposed Residential Development at TMTL 499, Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories
R HEPIMHER S 409 S H M EHETHRIAR AL

Superstructure Works for Proposed Residential Development at R.B.L. 270, No. 17 Shek O Road, Shek O, Hong Kong
BARORARE 17 AL EEMRER 270ETHREE 2 FETIR

Construction Works for New Hangar of Macau International Airport

RPIBIR SRR R s T A2

Construction of Columbarium at Wo Hop Shek Cemetery — Phase 1

MEAESBERLEME —HEETIZ

Civil Engineering Works + K T#2

10

Liantang / Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works — Contract 3
EBiE/ BEEORLHTRREMRERTIRE - TREH=

Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site
ZERBABESAMERN L FELERERTE

MTR Contract No.1108 - Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels
BEIEHRE 1108 - DHE - BUEw RARRE T2

MTR Contract No.1107 — Shatin to Central Link: Diamond Hill to Kai Tak Tunnels

BEE R 1107 - 2F 4 - #EAILERIERE

Queen’s Hill Development — Road and Drainage Works

SRIERE - ERMRBIIR

In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Advance Works
DHEBKMRMEE T2 () - AT T2

Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East
WEFERIBE—S  PRETRELFRE

Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link
RIREF 42 ¢ Jb AR EFIR R E R T2

Provision of Universal Access Facilities for Highway Structures — Package 2 Contract 1
RERBEYRMGERTRE - Z_AFE—HEL
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Liantang / Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works — Contract 3
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Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site
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MTR Contract No. 1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWME DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year (continued)

EFEOREE )
REAFELERFEENETEIR®)

Project Name
HE&E

Maintenance Works #{& T2

19  MTR Contract No. 11209 - Shatin to Central Link: Platform Modification and Associated Works at East Rail Line

BEA RS 11200- DA  REREVEAANERIBRTRE

20 Term Contract for Minor Works 2015 for Hong Kong East and Hong Kong West Clusters

015BEBRLESTEREE N TIEEREH

21 Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for
which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible (Designated Contract Area:

Tai Po, North District and Outlying Islands (North))

RIEEAKE (K - LR &S (1)) NREEZMESTBRB BOREY) - D REMYEETIGE - N -

REREETIERNTEHEL

22 Term Contract the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for
which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible (Designated Contract Area:

Central, Peak and Mid-levels)

RIETANE (TR WBERFL) NARESENESHRATNREY - b REMYEETHRR - M -

RERBETIRERNTHEL
23 Main Contract for Refurbishment of Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital
EEHHABEE I RESL

24 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1: Mains in Eastern and Southern Districts

FHRLEEKETIEENRERFE 3 RREERKETE

25 Preventive Maintenance Works, Upgrading Works and Associated Ground Investigations for WSD Slopes,

2012-2013 Programme
20122 2013 FEKBERIKTAD 4 - oiZ MR BRTIZ

26 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1: Major Mains in Western New Territories

FMRBEKETEFNBERS 8 IARISEEKETLRE
27 Term Contract 2015 for Waterworks District E — New Territories East

KIS TIREHE K 2015 - HIRE- AR

Property Development and Assets Leasing

The property development and assets leasing segment contributed a profit of
HK$197.7 million (2017: HK$123.4 million) for the Year.

During the Year, the Hong Kong property market has remained bullish,
driven by aggressive purchasing from the general public. As a consequence,
government auctions saw fierce bidding that resulted in record-breaking
transactions for land parcels. In the face of such a highly charged
atmosphere, the Group has sought to prudently refine its property portfolio.
Correspondingly, it has elected to dispose of the Group's interest in the
“T PLUS" residential property located at No. 2 Tsing Min Path, Tuen Mun,
which is expected to generate favourable returns. Furthermore, recognising
the importance of establishing strategic ties to minimise risk, the Group will
co-develop with a strategic partner the premium residential property located
at Waterloo Road, Ho Man Tin. Separately, the Group expected to commence
construction of a residential project at Tung Chung Road, Lantau Island, by the
mid of 2019.

In respect of the Group’s properties and land in Shijiazhuang City, the People’s

Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Group is continuing negotiation with a third
party on their possible disposal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Professional Services

City Services Group Limited (“City Services”) has been operating the Group's
security and facility management business for years. The business segment
continued to deliver encouraging results, generating revenue of HK$548.0
million (2017: HK$484.9 million), and segmental profit of HK$26.7 million (2017:
HK$15.8 million) for the Year.

Indicative of the high level of professionalism in which the business conducts
its services, the segment has been able to renew a number of contracts with
key clients. Just as importantly, City Services has been awarded several new
contracts, including a property management contract for Elegance House in
North Point, security contracts with Hong Kong Baptist University and HGC
GlobalCentre Limited, a security and car park management contract with the
Hospital Authority — Kowloon East Cluster, and a residential security contract
for Ocean Shores in Tiu Keng Leng.

Other Business

The Group is committed to diversifying its income streams, and this is clearly
illustrated by the variety of new businesses that it is engaged in. Though
some were in their early stages of development, all possess favourable growth
potential, are able to provide the Group with invaluable experiences. As at the
Year, this dynamic cluster includes the provision of upscale safe deposit box
services, operation of an online building materials procurement platform, and
the provision of construction financing services.

Upon the winning of contracts to manage four more tunnels subsequent to
the financial year end, the Group will be managing a total of five tunnels in
Hong Kong, namely the Cross-Harbour Tunnel, the Shing Mun Tunnels, the
Tseung Kwan O Tunnel, the Kai Tak Tunnel and the Lion Rock Tunnel, which is
approximately 40% shares in Hong Kong tunnel management market.

During the Year, the Group has entered into the MOU with Guangzhou Nansha
Development Zone and Guangzhou Fund with the objective of providing
education, medical and elderly care services and housing in the Nansha New
Area, which is located in the heart of the Greater Bay Area. Given that the
Greater Bay Area along the “Belt and Road"route is set to become an integrated
financial and technology hub of southern China, the MOU holds tremendous
significance for the Group’s future development.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly relies upon internally generated funds as well as bank
and other borrowings to finance its operations and expansion, which is
supplemented by equity funding when it is required.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

At 31 March 2018, the total net debts of the Group amounted to approximately
HKS$749.6 million, representing total debts of approximately HK$2,766.8 million
less total of cash and bank balances of approximately HK$2,017.2 million. The
debt maturity profile, based on scheduled repayment dates set out in loan
agreements of the Group at 31 March 2018, is analysed as follows:

Borrowings and obligations under AR T HEER 2 EE

BEERWR DT

RBESRIBER®)

R2018F3 A31H  AEBZ FEBRBNA
749,600,000 7T + B & 755 42 B8 %9 2,766,800,000
BIUREIR & RIRTTAE #2428 58472,017,200,000
BT o IREAEEN2018E3 A31 B2 ERW
EE BT ENRBE - BECEEAS T
T

As at As at
31 March 2018
A 2018 5%

31 March 2017
M201745
3A31H

HKS million
BEABTT

3HA31H
HKS$ million
BEAT

hire purchase contract and
finance leases repayable:

KREBA M R EREHRIE

Within one year or on demand —FRFIRER 2,677.5 24776
After one year, but within two years —FREMFA
- On demand shown under -SIARBBEIERERER
current liabilities Z &b 37.5 442.1
— Remaining balances - BREE 5.9 114
After two years, but within five years MFEBZEAFA
— On demand shown under -SIARBAEIERERER
current liabilities ZED 1.3 328
— Remaining balances — BRER 1.6 7.2
Over five years AFENUE 4.0 39
2,727.8 29750
Guaranteed bonds BRES
— Repayable within one year -R—FRNEE 39.0 -
— Repayable after one year, but - —EREMFEANEE
within two years - 390
Convertible bonds AR ES
~ Repayable within one year -R—FREE - 2178
Total debts BT 2,766.8 32318

At 31 March 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the proportion of net
interest bearing debts to equity attributable to Shareholders, was 0.30 (2017:
0.66).

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group's
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars
or Renminbi which are the same as the functional currency of the relevant
group entities. The Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange rate
fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure
to currency risk only when it is required. Furthermore, the Group’s borrowings
have not been hedged by any interest rate financial instruments.

Details of the structure and interest rate profile of the bank and other
borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2018 are set out in Note 32 to the
financial statements.

201838318 » AEBZEREBEL XA
FHEER R AR E(RER 2 ) 5030
(20174 : 066) °

REEREINERBER - AEEZEERIR
SHEBPUBTHARE ST - AEMBRENE
B I EMARR © NEERE 2 IMNER
FEBR TN WERERERTRERITES
KIRVEE R PTATE 2 SRR - tEHD - AREKE
ZAEEWER A AR R &5 TAEFE T -

REER 20184 3 A 31 HRYIRIT R EMETH
HERNRRD M2 BRI ISR 32
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group are set out in Note 32(e) to the
financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 44 to the
financial statements.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 6,810 employees as at 31 March 2018.
Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$1,833.6 million. Employees are remunerated according to their nature of
work and the market trend, with merit-based components incorporated in
the annual increment review to reward and motivate individual performance.
Employee bonus is distributable based on the performance of the respective
divisions and the employees concerned. Moreover, the Group also provides in-
house training program and sponsorship for external training courses which
are complementary to their job functions.

With a view to providing incentive for employees to achieve performance goals
and aligning the interests of employees directly to the Shareholders through
ownership of shares of the Company, the Company adopted the restricted
share award scheme on 1 August 2017, pursuant to which the Company
may grant to eligible participants restricted shares of the Company. Such
grant shares are acquired by the scheme trustee on the market of the Stock
Exchange and held upon trust for the benefit of the grantees and shall become
vested in the grantees upon satisfaction of specified vesting criteria.

In addition, the Company had also adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), under which the Directors are authorised to grant share
options to the eligible participants to subscribe for shares of the Company
for the purpose of, among other things, providing incentives and rewards
to, and recognising the contributions of, the eligible participants. The Share
Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 3
September 2012.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Construction

The Group remains cautiously optimistic about the construction sector in Hong
Kong in the coming years. Such optimism is based on ongoing and strong
demand for both public and private housing, which, in respect of the former,
will encourage the Hong Kong Government to continue augmenting land
supply as well as accelerating development of land, public housing and public
rental housing, all of which will bode well for the Group. As for private housing,
resilient demand will embolden developers to introduce more projects,
thereby creating even greater opportunities.

The Group will continue to invest in reputable construction related companies
in Asia, export its project management know-how and transferable skills to
facilitate its involvement in large-scale projects in the region and examine
acquisition and partnership opportunities to increase its participation and
major infrastructure developments. The Group’s holistic approach will become
a part of regional force.

Property Development and Assets Leasing

The bullishness of Hong Kong property price invariably raises concerns about
the market entering a bubble, the Group will choose to err on the side of
caution looking for property development opportunities that result in long
term income. It will also seek to establish joint ventures so as to allow the
Group to optimally use its working capital. Correspondingly, the Group has
established a joint venture with a third party subsequent to the Year, which
acquired a property located on Cameron Road, Tsim Sha Tsui. The property
will be redeveloped into either a Ginza type commercial building or a serviced
apartment building, hence the Group will be able to derive diverse revenues
from the investment.

Professional Services

To encourage the ongoing development of City Services, the Group has
continued to consider with proceedings to spin it off and separately list on the
Stock Exchange.

Other Business

The Group's various new business interests have continued to follow their own
distinct phases of development. While the Group will seek to expedite such
development so as to increase their contributions, it will also capitalise on the
expertise and experience gained from these businesses to seize opportunities
in Hong Kong and across the region as they arise.

With the arrival of SFund International as a strategic Shareholder, the Group
will leverage the two parties’ strengths to explore opportunities that emerge
from the Greater Bay Area, particularly in the aspects of education, medical and
elderly care services and housing. SFund International, together with the efforts
from Guangzhou Fund, the parent company of it, will be partnering with the
Group in establishing an international education base in Nansha New Area,
centrally located in the Greater Bay Area.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Overview

In the year ahead, the Group will maintain its mission to seize long-term
property development opportunities, whether directly or through joint
ventures. It will also continue broadening its income streams via new business
developments.

In the PRC, the Group will be working closely with Guangzhou Nansha
Development Zone and Guangzhou Fund in establishing an international
education base in the Nansha New Area that is the initial objective of the
alliance. From this important first step, the Group will pursue the parties’
directive of also providing education, medical and elderly care services and
housing principally in the Greater Bay Area.

Maintaining a sustainable and healthy financial position has also been one of
the Group's key corporate objectives. With syndicated loan facilities of HK$2.05
billion concluded during the Year, the Group was able to enhance its financial
flexibility and funding capability, as well as enable the Group to accelerate its
business expansion.

Alongside efforts to gain a foothold in the Greater Bay Area, the Group
will exploit its half-century of experience, solid reputation, experienced
management team and dedicated staff to strengthen its regional presence,
particularly in countries along the “Belt and Road” route. In this way, the
Group will evolve into a leading multinational enterprise that is truly an ally to
companies across Asia.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

MEREEE)
)

ERE—F  EmeARIGEBHEDRE K
EEBEEEEREBNEEREE  ETEE

8 BT R LA I A SR -

R AEESEEMNEDFRER K EMNE
SERAMK  SEREARESHERY AR
HEEN - AKX EEBBRE  AEEERE
BHiE5 - TBRRNERRHEHE BREEE
BRA R AL -

HRIFENERNTBRAEAEENEE
EBIZZ— ° KREFEFH)2,050,000,00078 TR
BEREMINEAER 2 UBEFTERTRE
71 BN EEREEER -

BRECNFRANERIN - AEBERFEEF AL
BEE  BENBRE  KRUENEEREKRR
m,\mEI LMJD?@E&W%?J‘X LER[—

—B A RBRIET o Mtk - AREKE
EEXZ%EEE@ SEMARAENALERED
o,



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRS

i][[3

INTRODUCTION o

Our Group is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of corporate social
responsibility (“CSR"). The business sector is placing an increasing emphasis on
CSR performance, particularly in the aspects of safety and health, sustainable

REBBDRER 7J<¥f£¥?i'§§&((ﬁ
Fit T
iR
development, community impact and law and regulatory compliance. We %i«é
ge i
B
Hx

B

& J)"?ﬁ AEERtcEdeaTR

Tﬁﬁé?%&ﬁ% A[FEERE HEY
HEER /iiiﬁ/\%ﬁfiﬁ A9 BE B A

MIAHEBEEER - BB - HER &
RIRIE AR EBRE S AR MAFNOE -

REBEREEBHTATE -

understand that we do not operate our business in isolation of our society.
Employees, suppliers, clients, the natural environment and the general
community are all our stakeholders influenced by the ways in which our Group
transacts the business.

=
g
i
=

During the Year, we have continued our efforts to enhance CSR performance RAFE - HPID B BZHEBEES RS

via various initiatives. The four key subject areas this Environmental, Social and ﬁ::%\?i@ﬁffﬁfﬁ R g RER (IR
Governance (“ESG") Report covers are: (I) Workplace Quality, (Il) Environmental g RER]D HRE XI@\@% () THER
Protection, (Ill) Operating Practices and (IV) Community Involvement. zﬁ%ﬂf% (i) IRIBARTE ~ (i) & BB X (v) #L @

Sco;e of ESG Report

RERH %%”

Environmental
Pro;ection
RIBRE
Community Operating
Involvement Practices
%j: I:Il:l E2 /\ Mﬁﬁ{ﬁu
() WORKPLACE QUALITY () THERREER
Our People BMWET
As at 31 March 2018, our Group had approximately 6,810 employees with R2018%F3 A 31 A N&E#H6810
the majority stationed in Hong Kong. We recognise that employees are HREE - KREDERNESE - HZPVFHE
valuable assets of our Group and embrace the philosophy of investing BERAEEE ﬁé? I[%?%&éiﬁ/\/\
in people by providing them with a range of training programs that can THES  MEERH-FRIATES
enhance their professional skills and knowledge. We are also committed FE A R AMBEIFFIRE ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@(j}
to maintaining a safe and healthy working environment for all employees REZEBEBH#FZENEENTIER
as well as to implementing equal opportunity employment practices. BURERTFERERSER -
Statistics in relation to employment EBREENS TS
Gender Distribution of Employees Employment Type
EE MR 5 EEEH
2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18
[ Male % 744%  72.0% Tl Top 0.6%  0.4%
BHEBRD L Management
Female%  256%  28.0% SEERAR
ZHEADE Middle 55%  6.5%
Management
FEEEAS
B Ssupervisory  18.0% 15.4%
ExXas
[ Operaton  759% 77.7%
1BR1iE
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BB - HERERHE

(1

WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Working Conditions

To attract, motivate and retain talents, our Group regularly reviews
our staff compensation and benefit packages to ensure our
benefits are competitive in the market. With reference

to prevailing market conditions, a review is conducted
annually on the pay packages of employees and
other employment benefits, which include the medical
scheme, health check program, travel insurance, training
subsidies and retirement benefits.

Training and Development
Training

Continuing learning is one of our core values. The Group's support in
development and training applies to staff of all levels. We have been
offering training sponsorship to all staff members to encourage self-
improvement in a learning organisation since 2005. Employees are
provided with comprehensive in-house training and sponsorship for
external training courses including seminars, workshops, visits and
demonstrations to upgrade their skills and knowledge for performing
their duties more effectively and promoting their personal development.

Since 1999, Our Group's Chun Wo Construction and Engineering
Company Limited has been certified by the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers as a Scheme A Training approved organisation in Civil, Building
and Building Services disciplines.

Training programs offered by the Group

GLAD Program for accounting trainees

Core Program

Elite Program

Graduate/Freshman Program for Engineers/Quantity Surveyors

Design Engineer Program
Technical Apprentice Program
Site Agent Development Program

QAN RN

Recognition from Employees Retraining Board
-“ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme”
“Manpower Developer” accreditation

®  Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited
®  City Services Group Limited

“ERB Merit Award for Employers”
®  City Security Company
Limited

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TERRERE@
Training and Development (continued) FIRER @
Development B
_I?:aslr;etball Soccer Team 0 ;glgrlre‘ Tennis
E R EERE 5= IR
Sports Team friendly matches with our joint venture partners
EE)E B HEERHBTLEE
v
I I I
Team Spirit Harmony Regular Exercise
s 1 e REEF
“Cating Hotline”  : Requestforhelp Enquire information ¢ Express opinions -
[RIZEAR P BRIBE EREA REE :

;) 2 @ =

Accredited with the “Happy Company” label @  Realising the concept of “Happiness at Work”
.. from 2013 to 2018 > HADDY Bt % BR[O IEMIER
Recoﬁgg;tlon H 2013 £ £ 20185 %ompgﬂl ® Building a pleasant working environment to
w7 A8 [ B | 25 years increase staff's level of happiness at workplace
R A TYEIRE RIBA B TTIER AR
484 Ny
LK

Placing Great Value on People Development and

Treasuring the Well-being of All Our Employees
BEERALBRRZ2BESNEL

Employee Health and Safety EERERZR

By integrating internationally-recognised 1SO 9001, ISO % 38 5 Bl A% BB 22 AT #9150 9001 ~ 1SO
14001 and OHSAS 18001 certifications into our quality, 14001 B2 OHSAS 18001 RFEBEEME -
environmental and occupational safety and health Plan RREEBELZEIRERERRS K&

B ERBEZGTARERZREE &
EE/[PDCA] Zg#EE—FTHERMEA
NEEENER N EUNETETE
kW EBBEALFNRKRA

management systems respectively, our Group
demonstrates our compliance with health and
safety standards. Our Group'’s “PDCA” system
further ensures each individual and team

) ) " Continuous =
to contribute its ability to meet statutory Improvement 1=
requirements and achieve the ultimate BEpE

ST m ==

goal of continuous improvement.
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

(1)

Employee Health and Safety (continued)

We are aware of the importance of workplace safety. To guarantee the
occupational safety standards of our construction operations, we have
introduced a safety audit system designed to monitor the effectiveness
of our safety management system. For 2017, the corporate average
safety audit score was 86.6%, exceeding the target of 85% (in 2016, the

score was 86.8%).

In 2017, all safety indicators were in line with our objectives, reflecting
our dedication and achievements in construction site safety.

TERBEEZE ®

BEERERZE ®

BFRANTERELZ22EBMHE - AR
BEE PEREEBRELTREE . M
EHTLZ2ERGE  ARERLZEE
BRGSHKI - R2017F  DEFHEL
2EEDEE866% - HBiBS5% KB IZESD
(2016 F 2 D ENAE86.8%) °

R2017% - IA L ZHRFHEBEFIME
BN RRBEMY TREWRZE2TH
HIER M

Actual

=
B PR

Safety-related Conviction B 2 RAR E 3E =5 2
Audit Score B H =85% 86.6%
Accident Severity Rate RE)EINEBREX 116 days/case

(Average man-days lost per case)

168 /A%

Accident Frequency Rate (per 100,000 man-hours)
BHNE(BTEBIR) 2017 Target <0.21

20179 B#5<0.21
03
0.25

0.22 0.22 021 0.207
0.2
0.1
Year
00
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 R
\’:/ ) )
— Excellent and Consistent Occupational Safety Performance
P —ESHNREREER

Protect the Safety & Health of Workers at Construction Sites
RIBHRAMBBREIANZZRER

36

Mini Health Check Stations

NV AR Uk

Ensure workers in optimal state

HERT ARNRERRE

Heat Shelters and Water Sprinklers
on Rooftops

[ TR AN PR 2R K 7K 25

Dissipate heat gain
LIEHAVER
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Morning Exercise
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Alert workers of the potential injuries
and ways of prevention
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WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Health and Safety Policies

Our security and facility management divisions also follow a well-
structured management system and conduct annual audit to ensure
that we meet international standards. Both our City Security Company
Limited (“City Security”) and City Professional Management Limited (“City
Professional Management”) have received accreditations in 1ISO 10002
customer satisfaction management system awarded by Accredited
Certification International Limited (“ACI") and the aforesaid companies
and our Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited have received ISO
9001 quality management system standard, ISO 14001 environmental
management system standard and OHSAS 18001 occupational health
and safety management system awarded by ACI.

Our target is to fulfill all relevant health, safety and environmental
protection regulatory requirements and provide our staff with a
hazard-free workplace. To achieve this, we encourage all employees
to take responsibility and comply with the systems, policies, manuals,
procedures and working rules such as wearing personal protective
equipment and reporting violations of regulatory requirements or orders.

0

Company’s Policies

No violence in the workplace

No sexual harassment and discrimination
An alcohol-free and drug-free workplace
A non-smoking workplace

Immediate reporting of accidents

Familiarity with fire prevention and safety working procedures
Special arrangement for typhoons and rainstorm warnings

Security of property and safety inspection

1SO 14001
o9

The safety and health of all our employees and the public are of
paramount importance to our Group. Thus, our senior management
places a strong emphasis on our safety and health performance. To
this end, our Group has set up an effective occupational health and
safety management system conforming to the Factories and Industrial
Undertakings (Safety Management) Regulation and OHSAS 18001:2007
requirements. Related guidelines are stated in our Group's safety policy.

(1)

OHSAS 18001

BB - 4 ERERERE

TERBEEZE ®

RERZZBR

KPR EZREEERESINRET—F
EETENEERANETFESRZ
LARER L PIFF & BIBRAZ2E - H IRy
EEARAR ([HHERE]) R mEE
EEARAR([MMEEXERE ) EREK
RO RAEAR A D) ([FEBR R AR )R
FISO 100N BFHEERERZRE &
FHARAREMHENBEERRR
NEVERBRRA AL T 1S0 9001 E £
BIHEE TR E © 1SO 14001 IR B IR
B2 Z AT /E [ OHSAS 18001 Bk @ FE M &2

faz L::2} =7 5
EERERRE -

Az

HAREEMES @ BUEEMNLTENERE
HEEEZ - Eilt SEEEABIHER
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OHSAS 18001 : 2007 #RTE:&3Z 7 B WK B
ERBELTETIEER - AEEIHEN
REBOLZEZEERNA °
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RREEER  TREEBRKZEZESE
MTIERE - RERULES - HIAIEE
PBERBEAZEELETABE
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DNAHE
HBETIESMTHNRAN
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EIETERIR
ANESEREINEH
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TEREER®

Safety and Health Awards T2 REERE

In the Year, our various business units garnered more than 50 safety MAFEBEMZEEBELBEERRS0
and health awards, proving our effective implementation of occupation félZ 2 RIERR I - (BB MR AEE
safety and health system throughout the various divisions in our Group. SESEBEHEEBRELDHBERR
In particular, Chun Wo — CRGL Joint Venture have received the industry %t tﬁ%&ﬂ - B AR e B
honours of the “Safety Management System Award — Construction (Sliver P[22 ERHIE AR - BR(RE) | 5
Award)” affirming our outstanding contribution to industrial safety and e BEBRMETELERERTE
health. MERL °

The Group is honoured to receive the following safety and health awards RAFE  NEBELETNEZE RERE
in the Year: #

CEDD Construction Site Safety Award 2016 T ARIRHAREI LT E %2016

Civil Engineering and Development Department I ARIRHRE

® CEDD Construction Site Safety Award (Gold and Merit Awards) o ITARAIRBHEEEIHWEZEZANE
(R RRERE)

Airport Authority Capital Works Department Second Quarter 2017 BB EEG2017 FE_—FTTHETE

Site Safety Award K

Airport Authority Hong Kong BB EE T

&  Site Safety Award o TiHerKiE

The 16th Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health Award BT ANEEBREZEREALE

Occupational Safety & Health Council (“OSHC”) BEZE2RER ([BZ/E])

®  Safety Management System Award — Construction (Sliver Award) o LTEEBEBEHIERE- 2EXA5

(R2])
®  Work Safe Behaviour Award (Sliver Award) o If’lffi\ﬁz%jiﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁ)
®  Occupational Safety & Health Annual Report Award (Merit Award) o BLRFRAKGERE)

®  Safety Performance Awards (for 10 subsidiaries) o LTERAKXE(THENBAR)

e _ -

..@m«-u;ﬁﬁé‘é?-;i Wiy
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TERRERE@

Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZEREERE @)

Construction Safety Week 2017 Temporary Works Excellence Award BB E2017 Bl TR S AL

Development Bureau and Construction Industry Council (“CIC”) REGRZLERZS ([ZEXEE]))

®  Building Works Category (Gold Award) o EBFEEIRER (28

®  Civil Engineering Works Category (Bronze and Merit Awards) ® TARIEMAER (RERERLRE)

The Lighthouse Club Safety Awards e L2 A%

The Lighthouse Club BBHEE

® Safe Foreman Award 2017 - Recognizing Excellence in Safety ® RTREI017-FBLERT(IE
(Runner-Up) R#)

®  Safe Project Team Award 2017 — Recognizing Excellence in Safety (2 o LTETIREBFHEER07 - 28T
Certificates of Merit) 2R (MBERIR)

e —

Occupational Health Award BFEREEALE

OSHC BZ/&
® Joyful @ Healthy Workplace Best Practices Award — Branch/Small o HFOFeRERIEMAS - /50
and Medium Enterprise (SME) Category (Merit Award) /RN AR (R IR R BR)

The Lighthouse Club International Design for Safety Award 2018 BEEEFZ 2R A%2018

The Lighthouse Club BEBHEE

®  International Design for Safety Award 2018 (Highly Commended) o BIBRZ2RFTARE2018(REXRD)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () IHEBREE @
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBEERE @
23rd Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme FEof=EREMEEFTE
Development Bureau and CIC REGREBEXZS
&  Public Works — New Works (1 Silver Award and 3 Merit Awards) o IHIRE-NEIE(—ERER
—IHERR)
@&  Public Works — Repair, Maintenance, Alteration and Addition Works @ ~ L TLIE - 45 - RE - SE R
(Merit Award) BIRE(ERR)
HKCA Safety Awards BEBEAEEEELT DAL
Hong Kong Construction Association BEEERE
®  HKCA Safety Merit Award o TEREHSHILIERE
®  HKCA Proactive Safety Contractor Award ® DBARERNERBENTEERER
AR
@&  HKCA Safe Person-in-Charge Award o TBEEZERELERIERE
@  HKCA Safe Supervisor Award ® DTEEEFNSLERBEIAE

Quality Public Housing Construction and Maintenance Awards 2017 ~ BEAREEZARREHIEA L2017

Hong Kong Housing Authority BEEEZSE
®  New Works Projects - Outstanding Contractor - The Innovative @ ¥ TI2IEHE - BLARR - BE(E
Use of BIM Technology (Highly Commended) BEREM 2 BIFER (REXRS)

®  New Works Projects — Outstanding Contractor — Wage Monitoring @  #TLi2THE - GHFER - TE%
System — Domestic Sub-contractors WERZGF-BESBH
®  New Works Projects — Best Site Safety (2 Safety Innovation Awards) @  #LIZIEE - xETLHLE
(MIEZZEIER)
® New Works Projects — Best Site Safety — Completed Project Site @  #TLIRIEA - HZEIMZE - 28]
Safety Award (Demolition/Piling/Civil Engineering) Tivze s (FrEl/HE/ T/RTEE)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) ) IHEBRREE @
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZEREERE @)
Construction Industry Safety Award Scheme BEELTEER
Labour Department EBIE
@ Building Sites - Public Sector Category (Silver Prize) o EFEEHME-RESHERE)
@  Safety Teams Category (1 Sliver Prize, 1 Bronze Prize, 1 Meritorious ® LTERM(—IEESE . —HIFE .

Prize and 1 Certificate of Good Performance) —IEEERR—THRIFRAEE)

&  Safe Workers ® ZTEIR
®  Civil Engineering Sites Category (Certificate of Good Performance) o ITATREEMNS (RIFRRES)
® Workat-height Safety Prize (Qutstanding Performance) ® EEAREILEZERIFB(EME

H18)

Wi - HERY

Wrmn W = Y avseai e Vs s

DSD Construction Sites Housekeeping Award Scheme 2017 REET 2 ZEE 82017
Drainage Services Department RBE
® The Grand Award o BEEARE
®  The Best Construction Sites Housekeeping Award — Large Scale o FEIMEZE - AR+ ARTRS
Civil Works Contracts (Contract Sum Above $500M) Category A (EHEES BT L) AR
RICS Awards Hong Kong 2018 ERBTHENMEEE E2018 FEALE
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors EXBHHEMEE
®  Project Construction Team of the Year (Certificate of Excellence) o HEERBEKRE(ERE)
Awards @
AR O RICS
2018 @

Project Construction Team of the Year
Certificate of Excellence
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()

WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Safety Activities

To ensure the continuous improvement of occupational safety and
health standards, we have developed an evaluation questionnaire to
collect feedback from the participants of all meetings, seminars and
forums.

Our Group encourages employees to participate in occupational safety
and health activities and voluntary services and share expertise and
information not only with colleagues but also fellow workers in the
Hong Kong construction industry. To actively promote occupational
safety throughout our Group, a range of safety activities, including safety
workshops, special safety seminars and community activities, were
organized during the Year. Chun Wo Safety Day was held in 2018 with
the aim of affirming our philosophy of embracing safety standards and
norms among our staff and stakeholders. It was our honour to have Ir KH.
Tong, Edwin, JP, director of Drainage Services Department, to attend as
honourable guest.

Through these activities, all participants have increased their awareness
and knowledge of occupational safety as well as exchanged ideas,
helping to promote the safety culture in our Group.

Compliance with Employment Laws

(1)

We have adopted the comprehensive Employee
Handbook for employees of our Group and review the
policies from time to time to ensure that we comply with
the Employment Ordinance in respect of employment

L]
protection and benefits for employees. Our human e q \
resource functions of different business units also [Fes * 8% & 2
observe the departmental manual to adhere to legal and

GEFELEARE

regulatory requirements throughout the recruitment
process and avoid the employment of illegal labour.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

TERBEEZE ®

ZEEE

BEREENERELE MERZE
BFMEREFAEBAERSE RNERE

@ nedwmEtrn2RERERE
B

AEEZHET2ERER 2 RERE
BRERRY  YERFESZNEFBEE
EANIRNDZEXMBREM - B1E
BESAEEMIBELE - HPAREKEF
ERBRTLZELEES  BRLE2T
1597 - BFRlZ 2 g Rt RES - B
018FBITMENLZEAEAZEREBT
RFNEETREFENMAE - BT
KERBKEEFRERBALERNTHLH
FRERERE -

il R E) - A2 INE SR R R
ELZ2RH BERABASLRIRE
R BPREARERESGLZEXIE

B EREH
BAEARARENEERREZEMNES
F R BB % FHE - ARERE
& TR RERRERIES BN ERF
Bl o« BAPITR) R F B ALY A 71 B IR AR P
BT RRPI T - AR B E RIS BN
AERIERRE - UWRIHBREBIPE
BT o



(11

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

As a responsible corporate citizen, our Group has established policies
and measures to minimise pollution, efficiently utilize energy, reduce
waste and expand recycling in our operation. Risk-based thinking, life-
cycle perspective and mitigation have been incorporated into our
management system to address the latest environmental challenges.
Our Group has established effective environmental management
systems in compliance with internationally-recognised ISO 14001:2015
and ISO 50001:2011 standards. Adhering to the core values of the Group,
we are members of various environmental groups and actively support
these organizations.

Waste and Resources Management

RIR HEREBRS

) REFRE

EABEANEEAR  AREEBHIET
BRLENER EEEREPRE
BATER - BRERRER - B EE N IE
ABERBE - ZMEREEBRZBAR
AR B4 - SRR KB R
M AR BRF AR E - AEE
B 1% BB B B2 52 1] #9150 14001:2015 }2 1SO
50001201 14228 » SR AMAIRIBER X
7o BMRZERREENHD B RER

THEWEE - BT AEENROEE -
BYREREE

R EERER RIEINEREE - A
ETHACEREYDEHIE -

Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on-site to reduce waste
production and enhance recycling.

Avoidance and Minimization Top Priority
BEREBERD BER
Reuse of Materials
ERAMH
Waste Management hierarchy Recovery and Recycling
B2 REE EREEBSS
Treatment
R
Disposal v Last Priority
=5 BB
Example fIF

Metal and Concrete and Temporary Works Construction & Demolition Waste

MI ........... ‘A

© B RORE T RERR T2 T2 RAFHREED
v v
Other Construction Sites Paving Bricks
HfthREE T3 HERE

Plastic Wastes of Damaged Water Barriers Traffic Cones

Expired Safety Helmets Syt e 25 3 FE
N o AT i,%'é \)) X@*ﬂ?ﬁ
Recycled BHEIR L 2 SRR B B REY) e
p o V| A
EBREE v
Plastic Granules
B R

Reduce Waste Production and Enhance Recycling

A B A R I SR INTE IR A A
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5 HERERRE

(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

Waste and Resources Management (continued)

RIGRE

BYREREE @)

” Recycled and Reused Over 85% of Construction Waste

LT

BNRRBERERFR

BRBERERZ A 85%M T2EEY

(AMEETE)

Waste recycled at public fill RARIEREIR BEREEY) 402,017.00
Soil reused by other project EE HMIBEERAMELT 81,861.00
Timber/paper/cardboard recycled (non-office waste) BB R RARM/ R/ GERAEREY) 398.00
Paper recycled (office paper) BRFERER(FAERA) 1.66
Concrete recycled fEiRBiE BRI 44800
Metal recycled ERBEeE 3,629.00
Plastic recycled fRiIREEZR 15.79
Total #Et 488,37045
Infrequent hazardous waste from demolition of old structures or REFHERENAZENIEREE

equipment (e.g. asbestos), which accounted for less than 0.006% of the
total waste generated has been separated and treated in accordance
with local regulations.

Mana

ik

Asia Allied

Disposed Less Than 15% Waste }
FEE DR 15%EY

ging Resources and Energy Use in an Eco-friendly Manner
Implementing Eco-Friendly Actions in our offices and project sites
to promote environmental awareness

Using B5 bio-diesel at project sites with the aim of reducing
carbon emissions

Managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment of high
efficiency equipment

Phasing out traditional T8 tubes and replacing with energy-saving
T5 fluorescence tubes and LED lighting

Using Lighting Management System (LMS) to control power
voltage and save energy

Reusing wastewater after sedimentation treatment for site
cleaning, water suppression systems, wheel washing at site access,
water barrier filling, etc.

Reusing recycled water for preliminary air lifting of bore piles
Reusing water dripping from air-conditioners for roof sprinkler
cooling systems and watering of plants of site office

Using noise barrier and enclosure to protect sensitive receivers

Maximize the Benefits in Environmental Protection,
Energy Efficiency and Carbon Footprint Reduction

RERRRE RRRBEREOREDORAEE

Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

BER (AR IEFMELREMERTRE

0.006% °

IR R DI PR BE S IR

Pressure on Landfill Disposal
HEIEREEYHE S ‘

DBRRERENANERERKERER

EMAERIERMBRARRRT
B DRFTREER

£ ABS W Em - B R D iR EE
i

BRLKSURE  EERHLE
NER

B LEKNEHNTINE » LAETRE
15 B a &LED FRRAEN (X

B AR TR R A I B R KR
f=22

LREEACTURERIE © BIRE AR A
BR BKIMERS  RIHHA
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Environmental Measure

(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) (1)

Sustainability designs and construction methods have been initiated
in our project sites with developed mitigation measures to protect our
environment, reduce waste generation and enhance recycling.

Example flF

Project of Redevelopment of
Kwai Chung Hospital

Building Information Modelling

BESEEE

BB - 4 ERERERE

RIERE®

RRER

HAFIE R IE B s B R AT R AR AR AT M
TR AR ORI hE AR IR
5 OB B EL RIS INEREE

Dust Control

BB IRIE S

EHBRERZRA

® Alternative design of retaining

existing carpark

SERAARERBERS
v

Protecting the adjacent sensitive
hospital building against noise and
dust impacts.

RAEM A B R RE REKR

=719
Ta

ik

AR 5 LR

Accurately predicting structural,
architectural and building services
installation for identifying potential
clash

ERBEEBEE  BEUERET
RBEREUBDNEEER

v

Reducing abortive works and
eliminating waste on materials

BB TR LR AIREER

Minimizing Environmental Risks

& \Water mist canon at large scale site
formation works

FEAR THIREKRER
v

® Controlling dust emissions and
protecting the environment

BRI N E MR ERR
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RE - HERERRE

(1 ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) (n BERE @

Environmental Measure (continued) RIRETE (&)

Carbon Emission Monitoring System Eco-renovation On-Grid Solar System
—HmEERAR RREE Uiz BN EEN
Eco-Friendly Actions (at offices and & Applying energy-saving lighting ® Operating in parallel with the electricity
construction sites) P EfgE AR AT grid of the site for supplementing the
RAERIFITE (R AERTHD) @ Utilizing natural light in interior foil-based generation and protecting

& Paperless meetings design environment
i EEANFZT EEREARIR HETHHBEEREESER - A
® Switching off lighting and appliances @ Reusing old furniture HRUAERRNEEURRER
(computers and monitors) during ERERE =
lunch hours
T RER R RARRE (B
NEFEE)

® Maintaining indoor temperature
between 24°C and 26°C in summer
months

REFEFENBENT 24E26E

Enhance Staff’s Environmental Awareness for Reducing Energy Consumption and Carbon Emissions

REETIRERRNER - B REREFER BN
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(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

Environmental Performance

In 2017, Chun Wo have been awarded the
CarbonCare® Action Label by CarbonCare Innolab,
recognising our achievement in adopting innovative
carbon reduction solutions and high standards of

ESG reporting.

During the Year, our Group has established a
comprehensive group-wide carbon audit system
which extended the scope of carbon audit to
monitor emission data of the different business units

under our Group.

The Key Performance Indicators (“KPI(s)") demonstrating our Group’s

performance under the environmental area are disclosed as follows:

Description

P

C 0
"‘1.?5_ 8 hc’f\
Awarded Year 2017 (CCAL-2017-017]

BB - 4 ERERERE

BRERE®

I% ﬁ AR )“&

R 2017 F - BEEERGIEAIPE
% [RIRBEETEEE] - RBEM
R B Htg d FR i FE i P EAS MWﬁ
UREKFRIRE - L8 RERD
] o

RAFER  AREDR i’z\ﬁ/@
EEBEEBRES ARG £
ﬁ%iﬁﬁ%%ﬁ??ﬁ&%{ﬁ%m%alﬁﬁi
REETREBFEM

F BR AN £ [ BRI 7 T 4B A 2 A R AE K
1R ([RARERIER]) BT -

Aspect Al:

[EmEAL:

Al

Emissions

Benn

The types of emissions and respective emissions data

BERUIESE S AR R PR BUR

Disclosure of emissions is omitted as the Group's operations do not result in significant air emissions from vehicles.

BMRARE 2 BETEEBTBEELREERSE

Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate, intensity

REE

BERBASINE Rk INE

Scope 1
&3

Direct Emissions

BRI

Scope 2
gE2

Energy Indirect Emissions

BERSFE BN

C FIE AR B SRR 2 KE -

Total (tonnesCO,e)
-t (sw—mfnER)

23,441

Intensity (tonnesCO,e per HK$ million

| BE(SM R E RS ST S)

2017188 DNBMEERZERBIRLF
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(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) () RERE®
Environmental Performance (continued) BRRENM @

Description

ik

Aspect AT: Emissions (continued)

EBmEA:  BERY (&)

A13 & Total hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity
A

14 FREAAERESERYAE R QVER)ZE

Hazardous Waste Non-hazardous Waste
(tonnes) (tonnes)

BEEEY BEBEZEY

(W) (1)

31.96 565,110

Intensity (tonnes per HKS$ million revenue) Intensity (tonnes per HKS$ million revenue)

I (W /45 5 A8 T3S ) I (W /45 % M3
0.01 68.65

Al15 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved

B E PR B 15 e M AT 1S AR

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION " above.
2R EA[BRIBRE |6 -

A16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

WilREEERBERRZYN L  REELENEELAERR

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION " above.
2R B[ RIBRE |6 -
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(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

Environmental Performance (continued)

KPI Description

BIRAY it
=

Aspect A2:  Use of Resources

EBmA2 BRER

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity

RSN EE R AHEEREREREE

Electricity (kWh)
AEE (TRE)

[
10,975,254
[ |

N

O

Diesel (Litre)
FUB (F)

5,912,230

Petroleum (Litre)

ﬂ B (FF)

540,448

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity

BFKEBREE

Water consumption
(m?3) :
FXE

(3LF53K)
441,847

Intensity — (kWh per HK$ million revenue)
ZRE-(TER/SBEEE TR

1,333.40

Intensity — (Litre per HKS$ million revenue)

RE-GHEB RS TR
718.29

Intensity - (Litre per HK$ million revenue)

T - (/S EEBT N
65.66

Intensity — (m* per HK$ million revenue)

FE - (5K S EEE TR
53.68

201718 3k M ESEEZRRKRERA A

49



50

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HEREBRE

(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) () RERE®
Environmental Performance (continued) BRRENM @

Description

g

Aspect A2:
[EEA2:

A2.3

A24

A2.5

Aspect A3:
[E T A3:

A3.1

Use of Resources (continued)

BIRER (&)

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved

Ht BRI 8 FA R as 51 8 TS AR

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION " above.
2R LA BRIBRE |6 -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and
results achieved

R SKEGER KR LRI B ERRERE - A REF R 8 R A SRR

Please refer to the section headed "ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION" above.
B2 R L[ RIBIRE | —H o

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced

SRmATAEEMHNEE R (WNER) SEEEMEE

Disclosure of packing material is omitted since it is not identified as material aspect in the business of the Group.

A B R R EIERB R AR E 2 BRI AE - FULAR QR B -

The Environment and Natural Resources

RIENRAER

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them

X RS HRENAARERNEAZERERNEEAETENTD)

Please refer to the section headed "ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION" above.
2R Ll [RIBRE] —&f -
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(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) () RERE @
Environmental Awards RIREEIE
Our Group's efforts in contributing to environmental protection have REBEERIRRAANS NEZ TS
been recognised by the community with the following environmental BE - WRAFEANLENTIRRE
awards received during the Year: 8 :
Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme 2017 2017 R ER A EEF S
World Green Organisation SRR EAA S
® Green Office and Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards Labelling o HEWAERERIEMEZE S
Scheme - Spring 2017 (4 Certificates) - 2017 FHFEE (HIEFES)
23rd Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme F 23 [F AR E
Development Bureau and the CIC BEGREEXZE
® Outstanding Environmental Management & Performance Awards o HERREMRPRRERR)

\ (Silver and Merit Awards)

20171853 TMBAERERARAT | O]
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R - HEREBRE

(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) ) REREFE®
Environmental Awards (continued) BRHEIE @)
"ﬂiﬁiz—: 220 ST !ﬁ

i Uik, ]

Hong Kong Green Awards 2017 EBREIPEAIE2017

Green Council BIRIEES

@&  Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) o BERRZEREBRELE)
(1 Platinum Award, 1 Gold Award and 1 Bronze Award) (—IEA&E - — BN —THE)

®  Green Management Awards — Corporate — Large Corporation (Gold o EHRREERE-4X - RBEDE
Award) (ﬁ"fﬁ)

® Green Management Awards (Large Corporation) — Project o BEHRREBER(RANDE) - AHE
Management (2 Gold Awards, 1 Silver Award, 2 Bronze Awards and B (MIBeE  —IHRE - WIE
3 Merit Awards) HHAE N = TRE R 4E)

@  Sustained Performance 3 Years + (for 2 subsidiaries) o BB G E I L) (MR

BAR)
2017 Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards BBEFEIRIRALE2017
Hong Kong Construction Association BEEEFE

&  Environmental Merit Award o RREER
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

We recognise that supply chain management is essential to operational
efficiency and therefore work closely with suppliers and contractors to
effectively and efficiently meet our clients’ needs, while emphasizing
responsible operating practices.

Our Group is stringent in selecting qualified suppliers, ensuring that their
entire production process is in line with our standards and specifications.
Not only do we require our new suppliers to submit all relevant
documents for review, we also run background checks to evaluate their
reliability. We conduct regular inspections and evaluations to review
the standards of our suppliers and cease cooperation with unqualified
suppliers. We are committed to developing and maintaining effective
and mutually fruitful working relationships throughout our entire supply
chain.

Product/Service Responsibility

We recognise that good quality products and services are keys to
success and enhance our competitive edge. Adhering to this belief, our
Group has established the Quality Management System embedded with
risk-based thinking, life-cycle perspective and mitigations. Such system
is implemented by reliable business teams, ensuring the quality of our
products and services as well as efficient handling of all queries from our
clients.

The heads of individual business units discuss any particular incident
related to our products and services with the relevant division
managers, project managers, supporting departments and committees
sharing their views regarding various aspects of good standards and
statutory compliance. Corresponding improvements are planned
and implemented across all levels. Senior management also regularly
conducts reviews with business units and takes necessary precautionary
measures whenever applicable.

We maintain reliable electronic and hard copy recording systems at
various stages, including material delivery notes, origin certificates,
method statements, traceability records, inspection and testing reports,
etc,, to facilitate any needs for a recall. Recall procedures are traced
through our recording system to obtain relevant information to make
decisions on any further action that may be necessary.

Our Group implements stringent quality control measures comprising
detailed operational flows and procedures, project management and
staff training to ensure that we deliver high quality services to our clients.
In recognition of our quality assurance, our various business divisions
have been accredited with ISO 9001 quality management system
standard and upgraded to I1SO 9001:2015 edition to sustain our business
position and I1SO 10002 customer management system standard.
Through the ISO 9001 upgrade, the internal and external factors are
determined to support our Group strategic direction.

BB - 4 ERERERE

() EEEH

HEEEE

BT R HEEEEDREEERE
ARAISERE)—IR - IR AP (e R Ko
EHBERAE  BRUTZBERRD
MENHADEREFPFFR  AREERE
BEW=ZELA -

REBERIES ERMEER - BAERE
EEEERFATEHLMANEERR
1% o I MBE BT HEREIER A A
B AMER - TeETssRE
ARHAE AT SEME - MATEETLE R
At - iR R eRE - BRI
HEASEROEEEAFE - RO E
EEHEATRRIESAUSEEN
BYERE

Em/BREET

HAIRES B D E fn MRS T I B R
2 URARMNEFEY AEER
STHES RLTmEBERS &
AR BB M - EaniEEE MR,
T o L R A R EBEBRNER
17 HERE M BRI E R SR ER R
BEFHMALH -

BEBEMTEEMEO LR - 1AA
&7 ERHBFAMZE S WEMBAR
2 MRS E S UBLRFIRE
REREETERIRER - HlF]HEXR
Zhe - XYRNERET - SBEIEAR
INE R EAETRE - WHEEE
B N EREUL B TR R 1

RMRETENET REEX R ER
G RETRATEER SEnHESE
B EmAURE  INBEE PR
- RERIRBES  UERM I
REEE - AORFEEBRMNZE
ZHMEY - U ER  RE
B — 5778 -

RER B H e B AR A SR B FE R i (B AR R
EMEERENMERF - BEEEMET
Z) - MEREMAREERNERERN
R7 - tEABYURMEERENRA %
A EEERISO001 EEE IR
FAZERTE N TR 2150 9001:2015hRAN
PA#ERS T PR TS AL - &2 1SO 10002 &
FEIERGFIZERE o 150 9001 89 F+
® o NBRIBAEIEETEAEER
ZIREE (A ©
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Product/Service Responsibility (continued)

Applicable laws and regulations governing property development and
assets leasing are being complied with, and practices are in conformity
with those promulgated by Lands Department, Buildings Department
and Planning Department. In property development projects, from
design to after sales care, health and safety considerations are taken into
account and that our Group is committed to the delivery of high-quality
products and services to the satisfaction of customers.

To address regulatory requirements in the context of property
sales, in addition to internal staff members, external legal advisors
and professional consultancy firms are appointed to advise on the
compliance of relevant laws and regulations, particularly the Residential
Properties (Firsthand Sales) Ordinance which regulates the provisions
of sales brochures, promotional advertisements, price lists, show flats,
viewing of properties, sales arrangements, execution of agreements,
register of transactions and the like, as well as observance and
performance of the conditions set out in the Land Grant and the pre-sale
consent under the Lands Department Consent Scheme.

Our security and facility management divisions also adopt control
measures in respect of compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations, especially the license requirements under the Security and
Guarding Services Ordinance and responsibilities of a property manager
under the Building Management Ordinance.

Data Protection and Privacy Policies

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any
confidential information such as customer data under

our privacy protection policy. Consumer data including
project-related information and other sensitive

information are subject to access right control to ensure

its security and prevent any abuse or misuse. Our Group

observes Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and reviews '
our human resource and business practices from time to

time to ensure its compliance.

Anti-corruption

Our Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are important
contributors to the value of our assets and business. It is therefore
essential for all employees to ensure that our Group's reputation will not
be tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. Various policies and
guidelines are in place to avoid any breach of the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance.

Employees should decline an offer of gift if acceptance of it could affect
their objectivity in conducting our Group’s business, induce them to act
against the interests of our Group or lead to allegations of impropriety.
If an employee wishes to accept a gift with the amount greater than
the limit as stated in our Employee Handbook, such employee should
seek written permission from the managing director of the particular
subsidiary or our Group. Any employee in breach of the code of conduct
in the Employee Handbook will be subject to disciplinary action
including termination of employment.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption (continued) &\'

Periodic written reminders are sent to our business ?‘
partners and suppliers about our Group's policy
regarding “No Acceptance of Advantages”.

Conflict of Interests

All employees should avoid any situation which
may lead to an actual or potential conflict of
interests and should make a declaration in writing to the head of the
subsidiary or our Group when such a situation arises. Failure to do so
may give rise to allegations of favoritism, abuse of authority or even
corruption.

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group believes that operating a successful enterprise includes
contributing to the society. During the Year, The Group encouraged
employees to devote time and to actively get involved in community
engagements and charity works.

NGO Partnership Programme 2017/18

With the aim of fostering cordial transgenerational relations and
bringing harmony to the community, Chun Wo has partnered with
the Community CareAge Foundation ("CCAF") and Senior Citizen
Home Safety Association (“SCHSA”") during the Year. Those two non-
governmental organisations aim to enhance the living quality of the
elderly in the community.

A series of activities have been organised and our staff have been
able to better understand the plight of the elderly, thereby becoming
more considerate in their approach towards them. Moreover, this
understanding has been promoted among their family members, friends
and personal networks.
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R - HEREBRE

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

NGO Partnership Programme 2017/18 (continued)

A variety of related activities have been arranged during the Year
highlighted by the following:

Elderly Vision Inspection Service — The Elderly Vision Inspection
Project organised by CCAF was held at the Wun Sha Elderly Centre
and Lai Tak Tsuen, Tai Hang. Our colleagues joined the Initial Eye
Examination Training Briefing to learn more about how to conduct
the vision test for the elderly. They visited the elderly, providing
initial eye examination services and had a nice time with the
senior citizens.

Elderly Caring Call Service — Our colleagues joined and supported
the Elderly Caring Call Service organised by SCHSA and visited
the association’s Oi Man Centre. They were taught effective
communication skills and conveyed their love, care and warm
greetings to the elderly over the phone.

Elderly Visits — Visits to the elderly were organised by CCAF in Po
Tat Estate, Sau Mau Ping for two weekends. Colleagues first joined
the briefing session to learn more about the examination method
for Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (“IADL"). They then visited
the elderly and provided IADL examination services to better
comprehend their needs. Our colleagues participated in this
meaningful event to express their concern and warm greetings to
the elderly who are living alone.

CCAF Elderly Caring Day — As CCAF and SCHSA have become
Chun Wo's CSR Theme Partners, a series of volunteer activities
related to care for the elderly have been launched throughout the
Year. The CCAF Elderly Caring Day became the central feature of
the closing ceremony of this meaningful programme. There were
game booths for more than hundred senior citizens to participate
in. Our colleagues also joined as volunteers to assist with the
operation of the event and game booths. Through this activity we
hoped to raise staff awareness towards the elderly by providing
support services for elderly carers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

“Lifewire Run”

Lifewire Foundation Limited (“Lifewire”) was established by Chun Wo in
2014 and officially registered as a charity and operated independently
starting in June 2015. This is the first crowdfunding platform for children
with medical needs in Hong Kong. On 17 September 2017, the “Lifewire
Run” co-organised by Chun Wo and Lifewire attracted more than 2,700
athletes running in the race, while over 60 organisations sponsored and
participated in the event, which raised approximately HK$1.9 million
in total. Net proceeds were donated to Lifewire to be earmarked for
addressing child patient cases.
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CSR Award Scheme and Harmonious Community
Programme

To support and encourage the participation of staff in volunteer services,
an award scheme was launched last year to recognise colleagues who
are committed to completing specified service hours. A total of 550
staff members, which is upped more than double as compared with the
year 2016/17, joined the scheme and 2,009 service hours were recorded
through participation in the Harmonious Community Programme, which
covers the 18 districts of Hong Kong where our project sites are located.

Our colleagues assigned to the project of the Design and Construction
of the New Territories West Regional Office and the Water Resources
Education Centre of the Water Supplies Department visited the elderly
at Tin Yiu Estate, Tin Shui Wai which was organised by Yan Oi Tong and
Drainage Services Department. Our colleagues expressed their care
through the distribution of “Lucky Bags”and helped to install water filters,
which can reduce water consumption by 45%, at the homes of the
elderly.

Moreover, our colleagues supported the Elderly Visit organised by the
Ching Wan Society and People Service Centre. Our colleagues conveyed
their concerns and love by giving them soup with the aim of building a
caring society.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

CSR Award Scheme and Harmonious Community
Programme (continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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In addition, more than 30 colleagues of Chun Wo participated in the
"Pink Walk for Breast Health” The annual flagship event of Hong Kong
Breast Cancer Foundation (“HKBCF") has helped raise funds for the
development of the HKBCF Kowloon Breast Health Centre.

The Harmonious Community Programme is now in its fourth year. In
2017 alone, our staff supported 41 volunteer activities organised by
different project sites. This enthusiastic support again demonstrates how
the such programme is an effective means for our Group to contribute
to the community.

Our colleagues at City Services also actively engaged in community
services, including the “Lifewire Run” and the “Charity Sales Day”
organised by the Kwun Tong Community Green Station and the Shatin
Community Green Station, all of the products sold in the charity sales
were handmade by our colleagues as well.

Scholarships for Tertiary Students

Highlights of our Group's support for the sustained growth of the
construction industry include providing scholarships to tertiary
students studying engineering and quantity surveying for nurturing the
professionals of the industry, as well as funding university research that
drives industry innovation.

Scholarships have been awarded to students from institutions including
The University of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Vocational Training
Council ("VTC") and CIC. At the same time, we have made donations
amounting to HK$100,000 to support students in Project Mingde,
a volunteer construction and education activity established by the
Department of Civil Engineering, The University of Hong Kong.

In addition, our Group has donated HK$60,000 as part of the sponsorship
for Support! International Foundation to hold a ‘Learn-to-Learn!
Programme’ which aims to provide free English training to children of
our frontline staff.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

5 HERERERE

Business-School Partnership Programme (“BSPP”)
and Future Stars Programme

The Group has participated in the BSPP organised by the Education
Bureau for the third consecutive year. Seven students from Form 4 to
Form 6 were invited to work at our head office in the administration,
corporate communications and information technology departments
as well as Lifewire for four days. The participating students gained an
understanding of career paths in the construction industry and a wider
perspective of the workplace.

This year, the Group has also joined the “Future Stars Programme”

organised by the Commission on Poverty, which provides scholarships
to enhance the capabilities of young people from less privileged
background.

Donations to Charities

The Group has made donations to various charitable organisations in
support of worthwhile causes in Hong Kong during the Year. Financial
support of over HK$1,162,000 was extended to Buddhist Wong Wan Tin
College, SCHSA, WiseGiving Charitable Trust and funds operated for the
construction industry, including the CIC, VTC, Construction Charity Fund,
etc.

CSR Awards and Recognition
Caring Company

With nominations from Lifewire, SCHSA and the /
Evangelical Lutheran Church Social Service - Hong Kong
and SAHK, Chun Wo is proud to have been awarded

Kong Council of Social Service for the year 2017/18.

Chun Wo has been a recipient of the Caring Company Logo for thirteen
consecutive years. In addition, after being nominated by Hong Kong
Employment Development Service Limited, Social Services of the Hong
Kong College of Technology and Christian Action, both City Security
and City Professional Management have been awarded the 10 Years Plus
Caring Company Logo for the year 2017/18.

the 10 Years Plus Caring Company Logo from The Hong a7 1
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

CSR Awards and Recognition (continued)
SE Supporter+ Award
The year 2017 marks the third year that Chun
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Wo has garnered a "SE Supporter+" Award. The f %Imlbﬁumﬂﬂ RS | K28 o [ TRt WIS | 3277 5T

“SE Supporter+” Award Scheme was established
by Fullness Social Enterprises Society Limited to recognise efforts in
promoting collaboration between different organisations and sectors
that benefit social enterprises and lead to the development of a more
harmonious society.

Partner Employer Award

Chun Wo has been honored with the Partner Employer
Award for 2017/18 from The Hong Kong General Chamber ﬁﬁ
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of Small and Medium Business. The award has been Fanner tmpoyeiwanmrrn 52 B FAIE AR R T By M KB 2 E A

presented in recognition of the Group'’s efforts in hiring graduates
from local technical institutes and universities, offering them training
opportunities and practical experience that facilitate their long-term
career planning.

Industry Cares Logo

Chun Wo has garnered the “Grand Caring Award
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(Enterprise Group)” and “The Most Innovative Award " ERLETE“; ® gErIzEEEAE(GCEEARN] R I&
(Enterprise Group)” within the fifth annual “Industry Cares” ﬁ IRERG AR (AR ] BE—T KRG

recognition scheme, further acknowledgement and
recognition of its outstanding performance in fulfilling corporate social
responsibility in the past year.

THE FUTURE

Our Group for its part recognises the importance of CSR and continuously
strives to enhance our CSR performance. In conducting our business, we will
continue to take into account the interest of all of our various stakeholders and
actively engage them through a sustainable business model. Furthermore, our
Group will regularly review our Corporate Social Responsibility Policy to ensure
that our CSR initiatives and performance address the needs of society in the
changing environment.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREEEEAEESR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic BA, MBA, JD
Chairman

Mr. Pang, aged 45, graduated from Columbia University, New York in 1995 with
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political Science and Mathematics,
and obtained a Juris Doctorate from the New York University School of Law in
1998 and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from Kellogg-
HKUST in 2010. After working at a well-known law firm for two years in Wall
Street, New York, he moved on to set up three information technology system
and solution companies. Mr. Pang current is a member of council of the City
University of Hong Kong, and has served as a standing committee member
of Hebei Province of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
since January 2018 and has been appointed as a vice president of Belt & Road
General Chamber of Commerce in April 2018.

Mr. Pang joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the assistant to the
late Chairman, Dr. Pang Kam Chun. Mr. Pang was appointed as the Chairman
and Executive Director of the Company in April 2010 and re-designated as the
Co-Chairman and Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2015. He
has been further re-designated as the Chairman and Executive Director of the
Company since March 2017. Mr. Pang is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and Executive Committee of the Board and a member of the
Management Committee of the Board. He also holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Pang is the brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick, Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company, and the son of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina ("Madam
Li"), Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Pang is a director of GT Winners
Limited (“GT Winners"), the controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined
in the Listing Rules). Mr. Pang and Madam Li each owns 45% equity interest in
GT Winners.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREEEEARESR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Xu Jianhua LLB, MBA, LLM
Deputy Chairman

Mr. Xu, aged 49, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law of the China University
of Political Science and Law, a Master’s degree in Business Administration
of Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and a Master of Laws
degree in International Economic Law of City University of Hong Kong. He
was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in 1994 and a senior economist in the
PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu has over 16 years of corporate management experience
and extensive experience in transactions of mergers and acquisitions and
investment and financing. He was a director of a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and two companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Xu was appointed as the Co-Chairman and Executive
Director of the Company in January 2015. He has been re-designated from
the Co-Chairman to the Deputy Chairman in March 2017 and is currently a
member of the Management Committee and Executive Committee of the
Board. Mr. Xu also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick JP
BSc, MEng, MBA, PhD, PE(US), MICE, MHKIE
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer

Ir Dr. Pang, aged 43, graduated from the University of California, Berkeley in
the United States in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science degree and obtained a
Master of Engineering degree in Civil and Environmental Engineering from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United States in 1998 and a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of Philosophy in Civil
Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
2014. Ir Dr. Pang is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United
Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered
Professional Engineer in the State of California, United States. He has over 18
years of geotechnical design and construction experience in the United States
and Hong Kong. He has been appointed as a non-official member of the Land
and Development Advisory Committee since July 2015 and has served as a
non-official member of the Construction Industry Council since February 2017.
He has also been appointed as a non-official member of the Task Force on Land
Supply since September 2017. Ir Dr. Pang was appointed Justice of the Peace
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in June
2017.

Ir Dr. Pang joined the Group in 2001 and holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed as Executive Director
of the Company since April 2010 and acted as the Deputy Chairman of the
Company from April 2010 to March 2017. Ir Dr. Pang has been appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Company since April
2017. He is also the Chairman of the Management Committee and a member
of the Executive Committee of the Board. He is the brother of Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, the Chairman and Executive Director of the Company, and also
the son of Madam Li, Executive Director of the Company, both of whom are
controlling shareholders of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant BBus., MEcon., LLM, FCPA(Aust.),
CPA, CTA, ACMA, ISCA, ATIHK, CGMA
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Shea, aged 51, graduated from Monash University of Australia with a
Bachelor’s degree in Business and later completed a postgraduate programme
of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a Master's degree in Economics from
Jinan University, China and a Master of Laws degree from Renmin University
of China. He is a fellow member of CPA Australia, a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong,
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United Kingdom
and Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and a Chartered Global
Management Accountant. He is also a Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong
and a China Tax Committee member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
and obtained a Certificate of Pass in Practice Training Examination for Hong
Kong Certified Tax Advisers Serving in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service
Industry Cooperation Zone, Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly issued by Shenzhen
Municipal Office of the State Administration of Taxation and Shenzhen Local
Taxation Bureau.

Mr. Shea has substantial experience in accounting and finance in listed
companies and worked as qualified accountant and company secretary in
various companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange over the
years. He was the group financial controller of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184)
from 1999 to 2005. He has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00371) since 2002 and is also the
chairman of the audit committee of the company. He has also been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Hi-Level Technology Holdings
Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113)
since 2015 and is the chairman of the audit committee, nomination committee
and remuneration committee of the company. Mr. Shea joined the Group as
Financial Controller of property development in 2008 and has been appointed
as the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company since
2015. He has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company since
July 2017 and is also currently a member of the Management Committee and
Executive Committee of the Board. Mr. Shea also holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREEEEARESR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Madam Li, aged 67, joined the Group in 1975 and has over 43 years'experience
in the construction industry. Madam Li previously acted as an Executive
Director of the Company from July 1992 to February 2015 and had continued
to be a member of the senior management of the Group thereafter. Madam
Li has rejoined the Board as an Executive Director of the Company since
November 2017. She also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Madam Li is the mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman
of the Board and Executive Director of the Company, and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick, Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company. She is a director of GT Winners, the controlling
shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Madam Li and Mr.
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic each owns 45% equity interest in GT Winners.

Madam Han Li

Madam Han, aged 48, holds a Bachelor's degree of Engineering of Xiangtan
University and a Master’s degree in Economics of Jinan University. She is
currently the deputy general manager of SFund International. Madam Han has
over 15 years' extensive experience in management and securities investment
in banking and finance industry. Madam Han has been appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in April 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Wu, aged 51, holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree and
a Master of Business Administration degree of Simon Fraser University in
Canada. He was qualified as a chartered financial analyst of The Institute of
Chartered Financial Analysts in 1996. Mr. Wu was the chief executive officer
of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (now known as Sunwah Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 00188) from April 2006 to September 2010. He was also
a director and chief executive officer of RHB Hong Kong Limited from April
2011 to October 2017. Mr. Wu has been appointed as an executive director and
chief executive officer of Jun Yang Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00397) since November
2017.

Mr. Wu previously worked for a number of international investment banks
and possesses over 25 years of experience in the investment banking, capital
markets, institutional broking and direct investment businesses. He is a
registered license holder to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4
(advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). He has been appointed as a member
of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since January 2013.

Mr. Wu has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since February 2015 and is also the Chairman of Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Board.

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Lam, aged 49, is the General Manager of Wanda Hotel Development
Company Limited (stock code: 00169), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange and a member of the Dalian Wanda Group. He was an
executive director of Yuexiu Property Company Limited (stock code: 00123), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and also the chief
financial officer of the Yue Xiu Group. Mr. Lam was previously the head of
Corporate Finance and Business Development at GOME Electrical Appliances
Holding Limited (stock code: 00493) ("GOME"), one of China’s largest electronics
retailers, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Prior to
joining GOME, he spent about 10 years working in investment banking and
capital markets at Schroders Asia, ABN AMRO Rothschild, and Deutsche
Bank. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and holds a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) degree from Rice University in the United States. Mr. Lam
has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since January 2017 and is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Board.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Mr. Ho, aged 41, is the senior director of NWS Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00659). Mr. Ho
has extensive experience in the area of corporate management, investments,
corporate finance, merger and acquisition transactions and international
brand and retail management. He was the managing partner of AID Partners
Capital Limited and the executive director and chief executive officer of
AID Life Science Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 08088), the vice president of ITC Corporation Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
00372), the senior investment director of New World Development Company
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00017), an executive director of New World Strategic Investment Limited
and was a partner of an international law firm Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver and
Jacobson LLP. Mr. Ho is a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Shenyang, a standing committee member of the
Youth Federation of Inner Mongolia and a vice chairman of Inner Mongolia &
Hong Kong Youth Exchange Association. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Commerce
degree and a Bachelor of Laws degree from The University of Sydney, Australia
and was admitted as a solicitor in New South Wales, Australia and England and
Wales and as a solicitor and barrister in the High Court of Australia.

Mr. Ho had been a non-executive director of Renhe Commercial Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 01387) during December 2007 to February
2012, a non-executive director of Capital Environment Holdings Limited (stock
code: 03989) during January 2010 to September 2010, an independent non-
executive director of Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 00640) during March 2010 to November 2013 and an executive director
of HMV Digital China Group Limited (stock code: 08078) during October 2016
to June 2017, and is an independent non-executive director of Kam Hing
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02307) since May 2010 and Hailiang
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02336) since May 2014 (all of the
above-mentioned companies are listed on the Stock Exchange).

Mr. Ho has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in January 2017 and is also a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Group
Mr. Tam Chi Kwong, Steve MSc(PM)

Mr. Tam, aged 54, obtained a higher diploma in structural engineering and
an associateship in civil and structural engineering from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1986
and 1988 respectively. He further obtained a postgraduate diploma in civil
engineering and a master of science degree in project management from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1996 and 2009 respectively. Mr. Tam has
more than 11 years of experience in corporate management. He joined the
Group in 2002 and is currently the general manager (internal operations) of
the Group overseeing the overall performance of the internal operations of
the Group. Mr. Tam holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company
and is also a non-executive director of City Services Group Limited. He is also
currently a member of other business executive board of the Group.

Construction Segment

Mr. Lee Ka Lun, Stephen BA(AS), B. Bldg, Dip Proj Man (RICS),
FRICS, FHKIS, ACIArb, RPS(QS)

Mr. Lee, aged 61, graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor
of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree in 1980 and a Bachelor of Building degree
in 1982. He is a Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) with fellow membership
of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and The Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors and membership of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. He is
on the List of Arbitrators of Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre and
is a member of the Joint Panel of Arbitrators of The Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors and The Hong Kong Institute of Architects. Mr. Lee has 37 years'
experience in quantity surveying and commercial management in Hong Kong,
the Mainland China, Taiwan, Macau, Singapore and Malaysia. He worked with
the Group from 1998 to 2005 and re-joined the Group in 2011. Mr. Lee is a
Director (Legal and Commercial) of the Group. He is also currently the Chief
Executive Officer of the construction segment of the Group, responsible for the
management of the overall construction business of the Group.

Mr. Yiu Chi Sang, Andy Dip(Eng), LLB(Hons), MA(ArbDR),
MSc(C:Mgt), MRICS, MICE, MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb,
FHKIArb, CEng

M. Yiu, aged 62, graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in 1981 with
a Diploma in Civil Engineering. He was awarded a Master of Arts degree in
Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and a Master of Science degree
in Construction Management in 1998 from City University of Hong Kong. He
further obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree in 2004 from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a member of the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors, the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom,
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and the American Society of Civil
Engineers as well as a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators,
the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators. Mr. Yiu has
over 37 years' experience in the construction industry, including civil, building,
foundation and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau, Vietnam
and the Mainland China. He re-joined the Group in 2008 and is currently the
Chief Operating Officer of the construction segment of the Group, responsible
for the management of the overall construction business of the Group.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Mr. Ko Wing Nin, Ken BSc(Eng), MSc(Eng), CEng, MICE,
FHKIE, RPE(Civil), AFCHKRI

Mr. Ko, aged 54, graduated from Chu Hai College in 1986 with a Bachelor
of Science and Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He also obtained
a Master’s degree in Civil and Structural Engineering from the University of
Sheffield, the United Kingdom in 1994 and a Master’s degree in Construction
Law from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011. He is a member of
the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional Engineer
in civil discipline in Hong Kong and an Associate Fellow of China Hong Kong
Railway Institution. He has 32 years’ experience in the construction industry
including civil, building, foundation and marine engineering projects in
Hong Kong, Macau and the United Arab Emirates. Mr. Ko joined the Group in
2006, and has been appointed as a director of Chun Wo Foundations Limited
since 2014. He currently acts as a director of Chun Wo Construction Holdings
Company Limited and has also been the Deputy Chief Operating Officer
of the construction segment of the Group since 2018, responsible for the
management of the overall construction business of the Group.

Mr. Lau Tai Wai, David FHKIE, FHKIHT, CEng, MICE, MiStructE,
MCIArb, RPE (Civil, Structural)

Mr. Lau, aged 59, graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1982. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and
the Hong Kong Institution of Highways and Transportation and a member of
the Institution of Civil Engineers, the Institution of Structural Engineers and the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators of the United Kingdom as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer in civil and structural disciplines in Hong Kong. He has
36 years' experience in a wide range of civil engineering from a diversified
perspective of management, construction, design as well as build-operate-
transfer (BOT) in Hong Kong, the Mainland China and Taiwan. Mr. Lau joined
the Group in 2013. He is currently Director of the construction segment and is
in charge of Civil Business Unit.

Mr. Lee Chun Fai, Rayland BSc, MHKIE, MICE, CEng, PEng, RPE

Mr. Lee, age 63, graduated from the University of Manitoba, Canada in 1979
with a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the Institution of Civil Engineers, the
United Kingdom and Registered Professional Engineer in civil discipline in
Hong Kong. He has 38 years' experience in heavy construction industry on
tendering, supervision and project management in local and overseas market.
Mr. Lee joined the Group in 2010. He is currently a director of the construction
segment and is in charge of the Civil Business Unit and Overseas Business Unit
of the construction segment.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Mr. Ng Man Lee, Kevin BSc

Mr. Ng, aged 59, graduated from the University of Leeds, the United Kingdom
n 1981. He has over 35 years' experience in the construction industry, including
civil, water works and building construction projects in Hong Kong, Macau, the
Mainland China and Singapore. Mr. Ng joined the Group in 2012. He is currently
a director of the construction segment, responsible for Building Construction
Business Unit, and a director of Chun Wo Building Construction Limited.

Property Development and Assets Leasing Segment

Mr. Poon Chi Choi, Anthony BA(AS), BArch, HKIA,
Registered Architect HK, Authorised Person — Architect,
PRC Class 1 Registered Architect Qualification

Mr. Poon, aged 56, graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1986
with degrees in Bachelor of Arts in Architectural Studies and Bachelor of
Architecture. He is a Registered Architect (HK) and Authorised Person (List of
Architects) and possesses PRC Class 1 Registered Architect qualification. He
has more than 32 years’ experience in architectural and interior design, project
management and property development for projects of a variety of scales and
complexity in Hong Kong and the Mainland China. Prior to joining the Group
in 2008, he had worked as a director in two large scale architectural practices
and also served a public listed property development company in Hong Kong,
responsible for the design and project management of projects in China.
Mr. Poon is currently a director of Chun Wo Property Development Holdings
Limited and a member of the property development executive board of the
Group, responsible for the management of the overall property development
and assets leasing business of the Group.

Professional Services Segment
Mr. Wong Wing Tong, Michael MISM, CMIPSA

Mr. Wong, aged 62, has more than 21 years’ experience in the management
level of security and facility management services. He previously served at the
Hong Kong Military Service Corps, formerly the British army unit in Hong Kong,
and obtained various professional military qualifications and skills. Mr. Wong is
a member of the International Professional Security Association. In September
2016, he was appointed as an executive committee member for Chamber of
Security Industry Limited for a period of 2 years. Mr. Wong joined the Group in
1997 and is currently the chairman of the board and managing director of City
Services Group Limited, responsible for overseeing the management of the
security and facility management business of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SRERBE

The Company has been making continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance into its management structure and
internal control procedures. The Company is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance, the principles of which serve to uphold a
high standard of ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects
of business, and to ensure that affairs are conducted in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, after a specific enquiry made by the
Company, that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on behalf of the
Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group's overall
strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of management
performance. The Board confines itself to making broad policy decisions and
also exercising a number of reserved powers as mentioned below, while
delegating responsibility for more detailed considerations to the Management
Committee of the Board under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Operating Officer of the Company:

those functions and matters as set out in the terms of reference of
various Board committees (as amended from time to time), for which
Board's approval must be sought from time to time;

those functions and matters for which Board’s approval must be sought
in accordance with the Group's internal policy (as amended from time to
time);

consideration and approval of the financial statements in interim reports
and annual reports, announcements and press releases of interim and

annual results;

focusing its attention on matters affecting the Company's overall
strategic policies, financing and Shareholders;

consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and
reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies and

practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and
regulatory requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board had duly performed its duties relating to the corporate governance
functions and was not aware of any code provisions of the Code being violated
during the Year.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information, including
regular reports from the Board committees and briefings on significant legal,
regulatory or accounting issues affecting the Group. Directors may seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, which will be
paid for by the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors including
six executive directors (“Executive Director(s)") and three Independent Non-
executive Directors ("INED(s)"), with INEDs representing not less than one-third
of the Board as required under the Listing Rules. The Board members are listed
below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, JP

(Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina
Madam Han Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Each of the INEDs has entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of three years. The appointment letter is renewable subject to
consent given by the Company and the respective INEDs. The INEDs are subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Board had at all times during the Year met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least one INED
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each INED
to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent under the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among members of the Board, other than Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the
Chairman of the Board, and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, being brothers, and
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director, is the mother of Mr. Pang
Yat Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance and maintain a sustainable development in long
run. In this regard, the Nomination Committee has endorsed a Board Diversity
Policy (the “"Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

Board diversity shall be achieved through consideration of a number of factors
and measurable objectives as set out in the Policy, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional expertise,
industry experience, skills and knowledge.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the implementation
of the Policy and will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Policy.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company had held four board meetings and two general
meetings (including the annual general meeting and special general meeting).
The attendance records of individual members of the Board and Board
committees at the respective meetings during the Year are set out below:

EERAR @)

AARIHAESERKEL L EIRARLRIREG
ERERRERBERRESRES - Bt 0 12
HEZEESEME—EEERKEBLIEEER
([ZBER])  ERiEEREEZRKEZ T
ZITET o

BEREERBREZ It BAEEZBERN
HZ2BEREZRHEBIZ(BFEBTRERE

Al iR UERBBEESR - EEAH - 7%
A5 - FREER AN

RAZERARERZBRZIT - RIEKE
BB R - URRZBRITZ AN -
EEHEERZLHE

RAFERER  ARBRTTHREZREER
ARBERAE (BREEREF KNS RBRE R

RE) EXZRMEERETZES ZERIK
BRAFEALFRBEZ 2 CEIHIIT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Audit

Meeting

g2

2/2
2/2
2/2

Board  Committee
Meeting
EZR BKZE8
Directors = ]
Existing Directors: RTES:
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr.Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman) & — R4 (EfE) 4/4
Mr. Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman) BREELE(BIERE) 3/4
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick [ R ] 4/4
(Chief Executive Officer and (1THRHEHFEERY)
Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant! RESRHE 33
(Chief Financial Officer and (ERABERNANE)
Company Secretary)

Madarn Li Wai Hang, Christina? FEERL 22
Madam Han L? BRAzL -
Independent Non-executive Directors B IEHTEE
Mr.Wu William Wai Leung HEREAE 4/4
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhRELE 4/4
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang AEELE 4/4
Resigned Director: EERIES:
Executive Director HiTEE
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement* DB A -

! appointed as an Executive Director on 13 July 2017

2 appointed as an Executive Director on 2 November 2017
3 appointed as an Executive Director on 24 April 2018

4 resigned as an Executive Director on 1 June 2017
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company'’s expense. All Directors are regularly provided with information in
respect of the Group’s latest business development and the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements to facilitate their effective performance of directors’ duties
and ensure compliance and maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. During the Year, all Directors had participated in seminars and/or
studied materials for developing and refreshing their knowledge and skills. The
Company has received from all Directors their respective training records for
the Year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the Year, the Board had been led by the Chairman, Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic.

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement, the then Managing Director, had resigned the
position of the chief executive of the Company on 1 June 2017.

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick has assumed the role of the chief executive of
the Company since his appointment as the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Operating Officer on 1 April 2017.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the chief executive. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board while the
chief executive is responsible for managing the Group's business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Management
Committee and the Executive Committee. The respective terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the Code and
are available on the Company’s website. All committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Management Committee

The Management Committee was established in April 1993. It operates as a
general management committee with overall delegated authority from the
Board in order to increase the efficiency for the business decision and facilitate
the approval of certain corporate actions.

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Management Committee:

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist the
Management Committee in the running of the day-to-day business of the
Company. It is responsible for the development and implementation of the
business plans for corporate and business units. The Executive Committee is
also supported by the heads of Project Management, cascading performance
management down to project level.

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises four members,
all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Executive Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was formed in April 2005. The primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure
for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the Group
and determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and the senior management of the Group. When
reviewing the remuneration package of an individual Director, such Director
will abstain from voting.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, all of whom are INEDs.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
and approved the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and senior
management of the Group, considered the restricted share award scheme for
the Group and recommended the grant of share options to Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in Note 9 to
the financial statements of this annual report. The annual remuneration of the
members of the senior management of the Group by band for the Year is set
out below:

Remuneration Band

FHER

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was formed in April 2005. The responsibilities of
the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and the succession
planning for Directors, to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures for the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors.

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose candidates for
appointment to the Board for consideration and the Board will review the
qualifications of the relevant candidates for determining the suitability to the
Group on the basis of his/her qualifications, experience and background. The
decision of appointing a director must be approved by the Board and all Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises three
members, consisting of an Executive Director and two INEDs.

Members of the Nomination Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the Year:

(i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objective assessment for the year ended 31
March 2017;

(i) assessing the independence of the INEDs;

(i) recommending the retiring Directors who offered themselves for re-
election at the 2017 annual general meeting for Shareholders’approval;

(iv)  considering the appointment of the Executive Directors; and

(v)  considering the re-appointment of the Executive Director and INED.

1,000,001 77T 22,000,000 /& 7T
2,000,001 7 7T 23,000,000 /& 7T
3,000,001 7 7T 24,000,000 77T

N
TREBRS

EERETMZEES®W)

1 SN {E))

AFEEEFMWE 2 FIBHNAF R WHHRK
Mo AFEAEESEERABZFES
Bz SR ETIT

Number of
Senior Management

BEEEABAR

REZEE®
REZEEE@N2005F4AKY - IREEEE
BEA(EFE)MESEIHENZITUL
EFRETTENESRIREES  BRIEER
ZHRE BB RAENK  WEERRTRENRT
EEVEFATRASRHE -

RBEZERT @ REZEE ﬂﬁﬁi%?ﬁ&%
REANBUEZE  MEERBEMNBRAAR

ZEE  WRRHERE  KBREBSREZS
AERTECAEH - ZEEFREVAE
SERMERE  MABESRKEZREY
ARAMEA BRA - WAZTTAEEBAE -

RARERH - IRRRB @M =—RAKEHEK -
BR-AWVTESEMEBELIFNTES -

BEZEEEKE :

TR (EE)

tHE=LAE

MWEERE
INTARZZEERAFERNZ TIERE :

() WAEERIEE - ABMAKANHR

TEHZE017F3/83BIEFEZAAE
B iZ8aTE

(i) FHEBMIEMITESR 2B

(i) FEEMEIER 2017 FRERF RS
EEET s RTES

vy ZEATEFEZRE: R

v ZEENZINTEZRBINNTE
$ o

201718 3% TENBESEZERABMR LA

75



76

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998. The Audit Committee
provides an important link between the Board and the Company’s external
auditor in matters coming within the scope of the Group’s audit. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial and
accounting policies and practices of the Group. It also reviews the effectiveness
of both the external audit and internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three INEDs with
its chairman possessing appropriate professional qualification, accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Members of the Audit Committee:

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Year:

(i) reviewing the annual report and the annual results announcement of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017, with a recommendation to
the Board for approval;

(i) reviewing the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process, with a recommendation to the
Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor at the 2017 annual
general meeting;

(i) approving the remuneration and the terms of engagement letters for
the purpose of appointing the external auditor in connection with the
statutory audit and review of the results announcement by the external
auditor;

(iv)  reviewing the interim report and the interim results announcement
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2017, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval; and

(v)  overseeing the Group's financial reporting system and risk management
and internal control procedures and reviewing the report of the internal
control function on the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group's internal control and conducts review
on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.

Role of the Board

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility in ensuring and reviewing
the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls, risk management and legal
and regulatory compliance of the Group in order to safeguard the interests of
Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has put in place policies and procedures, including policies for
delegation of authority clearly defining the limits of authorities designated to
specified positions within the Group. Such policies and procedures set out the
framework for the risk management and internal control systems for adoption
throughout the Group. To ensure that the systems in place are adequate and
address the existing weaknesses in implementation, the Executive Directors,
with the assistance of the executive board of different business divisions,
review the existing policies and practices and issue directives from time to
time to highlight the specific issues and concerns in order to achieve ongoing
improvement on the governance practices within the Group. The Executive
Directors also approve operational and financial reports, business plans
and budgets provided by management of each business division at regular
meetings.

Executive Directors and senior management of the Group are appointed
to the boards of all operating subsidiaries and associated companies of
material importance in order to monitor the operation of these companies.
They attend board meetings and participate in significant decision making
process on reviewing and approving financial budgets, establishing business
plans and controlling performance targets with associated risks identified.
The management teams of different business divisions are accountable
for the performance of their respective divisions on a day-to-day basis. The
Executive Directors review the financial and operational reports from division
management regularly to monitor the performance and assess the significant
risk exposure of the subsidiaries.

The Group's Finance Department reports to the Board in respect of overseeing
the financial reporting and control systems for all subsidiaries and associated
companies of the Company. The business segments compile annual budgets
for review by the Group's finance function and the consolidated annual
budgets are presented to the Executive Directors for approval. The Executive
Directors also hold regular meetings with the management team of business
divisions to review the cashflow position of the Group, consider material ad-
hoc projects which require additional operating or capital expenditure, and
make decisions on significant investment and lending activities. Payment
approval is subject to control of the limits of authorities clearly setting out the
authority with reference to the specified positions of the relevant personnel.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The Contracts and Legal Department is responsible for preparing, reviewing
and endorsing all material contracts entered into by Group companies in order
to safeguard the interests of the Group against legal risks. It also oversees the
regulatory compliance matters of all Group companies in the environment of
their business operations.

Besides, the Company Secretarial Department is in charge of corporate
secretarial documentation of Group companies and overseeing compliance
matters in relation to the Listing Rules and the relevant corporate laws and
regulations of different jurisdictions.

External legal advisors are engaged to advise the Group on important legal
matters and compliance issues when necessary.

Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function

The Company has established an internal audit function. The internal audit
function conducts internal audit on different business divisions and functions
within the Group on an ongoing basis to assess the effectiveness and identify
weaknesses in the existing internal control, legal and regulatory compliance
and risk management systems of the Group. In the event that defects
are identified, the internal audit function engages in discussions with the
management and recommends suggestions for improvement.

Delegated by the Board, the Audit Committee reviews the internal audit report
prepared by the internal audit function twice every year. Reviews have been
conducted on the Group's internal control and risk management systems
during the Year and the Board and the Audit Committee are satisfied that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

Whilst these policies and procedures are designed to manage the risks that
could adversely impact the ability of Group to achieve its business objectives,
they do not eliminate such risks and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss or non-compliance.

Handling of Inside Information

The Group has adopted a policy in relation to handling of inside information
in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). Employees should preserve the confidentiality
of any inside information according to the manner specified in the policy
and the “Code of Employee Conduct and Business Ethics” contained in the
Staff Handbook. The Group has also adopted the pre-clearance procedures
on dealing in the Company’s securities and notified Directors and relevant
employees of restrictions on dealing in the Company’s securities during
blackout periods to prevent possible mishandling of inside information within
the Group.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of services provided by Ernst & Young (“EY”"), the
auditor of the Company, is analysed as follows:

N
TREBRS

BB 2 B &=

AR B Z XN 22K &SRB A ([ %ok )
REZRB A ITIT

HK$’000
TET

4,733
1,944

Annual audit services FREZRE
Non-audit services* AR
* Such non-audit services include agreed-upon procedures on preliminary

announcement of annual results, transaction advisory, tax advisory and
compliance services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors’ responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual
report.

The Directors also acknowledge its responsibility to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim reports
and other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules as well as reports
to regulators and information disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

As at 31 March 2018, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors
have prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going concern
basis. The management has provided to the Board the necessary explanation
and information to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the financial statements of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), undertook no less than fifteen hours of
relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company have rights to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition, which must be signed by the
requisitionist(s). The requisition must be deposited at the registered office of
the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
(the “Registered Office”) for the attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure
that the requisition is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a
copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at the head office of
the Company in Hong Kong at CT1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial
Building Phase 1, 601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong (the “Head Office”) for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”),
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting right at general meetings of the Company or
not less than one hundred Shareholders may provide a written requisition to
the Company stating the resolution intended to be proceeded at the general
meeting. The requisition must be deposited at the Registered Office for the
attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the requisition is received
by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition
should also be deposited at the Head Office for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company by
Shareholders, Shareholders may refer to the procedures available on the
Company’s website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and procedures as
set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies Act and the Bye-laws when
making any requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general meetings of
the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and activities.
The Company’s annual and interim reports and circulars are printed and
sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements, circulars, publications
and press releases of the Company are published on the Company’s website
(www.asiaalliedgroup.com). The Company’s website disseminates corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information
electronically on a timely basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good communication
channel with Shareholders and encourages the Directors and the members of
the Board committees to attend and answer questions raised by Shareholders
at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Shareholders
Communication Policy has been adopted for ensuring that the Shareholders are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company in order to enable Shareholders to exercise
their rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage
actively with the Company. The Shareholders Communication Policy is available
on the Company'’s website and will be reviewed by the Board from time to
time to reflect current best practice in communications with Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s share registrars. The addresses of the Company’s share registrars are
set out in the section “Corporate Information” on page 4 of this annual report.
Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information
to the extent that such information is publicly available. Shareholders may also
send written enquiries or requests to the Head Office or by fax to (852) 3798
5700 or by email to info@asiaalliedgroup.com for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

MAJOR CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has made an amendment to the Bye-laws
with respect to the increase in authorised share capital of the Company from
HK$250,000,000 divided into 2,500,000,000 shares to HK$500,000,000 divided
into 5,000,000,000 shares. The amendment was approved by Shareholders in
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2017. Details
of the amendment are set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 July
2017. An up-to-date version of the Bye-laws is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Board are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering,
foundation and building construction work, property development and
assets leasing, professional services (including provision of security and facility
management solutions) and other activities.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 107 and 108.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.09
cents per share for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) (2016/17: HK3.8 cents),
amounting to approximately HK$20.4 million (2016/17: HK$61.5 million), to
the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 3 September 2018. The proposed Final Dividend will be paid on
18 September 2018 subject to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the "AGM"). Together with the interim dividend of
HK1.23 cents per share paid in January 2018, the proposed Final Dividend will
result in a full-year dividend of HK2.32 cents for the Year per share (2016/17:
HK3.8 cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
21 August 2018 to Friday, 24 August 2018 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor Secretaries Limited at
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 August 2018.

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed Final
Dividend (subject to approval of the Shareholders at the AGM), the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 30 August 2018
to Monday, 3 September 2018 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible
for the entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend, all completed transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor Secretaries
Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 29 August 2018.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

A review of the business and the future development of the Group, its principal
risks and uncertainties as well as an analysis of its performance for the Year are
provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” set out on pages 11 to
13 and “Management Discussion and Analysis”set out on pages 14 to 32.

The Group's environmental policies and performance, compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations as well as its key relationships with employees,
customers and suppliers and other significant stakeholders are discussed in
the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” set out on
pages 33 to 60.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 242.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The Company did not conduct any fund raising activities on issue of equity
securities during the Year.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at 31 March 2018
are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a cost of
approximately HK$46.8 million for the purpose of expanding the Group’s business.

Details of these and other movements during the Year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year
are set out in Note 37(a) to the financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in convertible bonds issued by the Company are set
out in Note 33 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the Company
has adopted the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme provides the directors and
employees of, and technical, financial or corporate managerial advisers
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, which will encourage the
grantees of options to work towards enhancing the value of and for the benefit
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Eligible Participants

The eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme include (i) any full-
time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; (i) directors (including
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company or of any subsidiary; (iii) part time employees with weekly work hours
of 15 hours or above of the Company or of any subsidiary; and (iv) advisors
and consultants to the Company or to any subsidiary in the areas of technical,
financial or corporate managerial.

Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of shares of the Company (the “Share(s)") which may be issued
upon exercise of all the share options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of passing the ordinary
resolution of the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the Share Option
Scheme on 11 December 2017 (i.e. 187,553,384 Shares) (the “Refreshment”). No
share option has been granted by the Company since the Refreshment.

Furthermore, the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not exceed
30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at the date of this report, the
Company had 35,140,000 outstanding share options granted and remaining
unexercised under the Share Option Scheme, representing approximately 1.87%
of the issued Share.

Maximum Entitlement

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to any eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue without separate approval from the Shareholders.

Option Period

The option period of a particular option is the period during which the option
can be exercised. Such period is notified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer. In any event, the option period shall not expire later
than ten years from the date of grant.

Acceptance of Options

The grantee of options shall pay HKS$1 in favour of the Company by way of
consideration for the grant of options within 30 days from the date of offer.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Exercise Price

The exercise price of an option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and shall be no less than the highest of: (i) the closing price per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value per
Share.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination of the Share Option Scheme in accordance with
the terms thereof, the Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on 3 September 2012 (i.e. the adoption date of the
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Movements of Share Options BREZEE
Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share Option % EBARAEET I T ANFERNE & K ARITEE
Scheme during the Year were as follows: HIBIRESFIBENT -

Number of share options

BREE R

Name or Balance Granted Lapsed Balance

category of Exercise price Vesting Exercise asat during during asat

grantees Date of grant (HKS) date period  01/04/2017 the Year theYear 31/03/2018

R2017 5 R2018 5

e 4818 REER XEER 38310

RBARARER b=k (Bx) HERHY 76 e RATHE R ¥ ERATEE
Director:

EE:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic* 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 900,000 - 900,000

YERE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 900,000 - 900,000

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

Mr. Xu Jianhua 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 900,000 - 900,000

REELE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 900,000 - 900,000

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick* —* 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - —* - -

YR IRMm 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - =y - -

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - o - -

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 900,000 - 900,000

RELLE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 900,000 - 900,000

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

Madam LiWai Hang, Christina* ~ 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 360,000 - 360,000

FERLL 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 360,000 - 360,000

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 480,000 - 480,000

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 180,000 - 180,000

HhEREE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 180,000 - 180,000

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 240,000 - 240,000

Mr.Lam Yau Fung, Curt 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 180,000 - 180,000

WhERE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 180,000 - 180,000

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 240,000 - 240,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements of Share Options (continued)

Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme during the Year were as follows: (continued)

B RERT8lm)

BREZ28 (@)

ZBEAE B TR AFEAD K R ARITHE
MBRERST - ()

Number of share options

BREHE

Name or Balance Granted Lapsed Balance
category of Exercise price Vesting Exercise asat during during asat
grantees Date of grant (HKS) date period  01/04/2017 the Year theYear 31/03/2018
20175 R2018%F
fiiEE 4810 XEER  AFER  3A31H
ARAHETER b=k () BEAH 765 i RATRE i P35 e RATE
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 180,000 - 180,000
(BELED 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 180,000 - 180,000
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 240,000 - 240,000
- 12,000,000 - 12,000,000

Other employees:

AftES

In aggregate 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 - 7,302,000 (360,000) 6,942,000
CES 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 - 7,302,000 (360,000) 6,942,000
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 - 9,736,000 (480,000) 9,256,000

Total
At

Number of options exercisable at the end of the Year
RRNFEERRA T BRIESE
Weighted average exercise price (HKS per share)

MEFATEEREL(ER)

* Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are also substantial
and controlling shareholders of the Company, and Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic,
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick are associates of
each other (within the meanings as defined under the Listing Rules).

** During the Year, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick did not accept the 3,000,000 share
options offered to be granted to him on 5 December 2017 upon the same terms
as the other grantees and the offer of the grant was regarded as having lapsed
according to the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

For the options granted during the Year, the closing price of the Shares
immediately before the date of grant as quoted on the Stock Exchange was
HKS$1.02 per share.

No share options were exercised or cancelled during the Year.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 39 to the
financial statements.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”), pursuant to which the Company may grant to eligible participants
restricted Shares, on 1 August 2017. A summary of the Share Award Scheme is
set out as below:

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to encourage and retain
selected participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”), including any eligible
person selected by the administration committee of the Share Award Scheme
in accordance with the terms of and entitled to receive a grant under the
Share Award Scheme, to work with the Company and to provide incentive for
them to achieve performance goals with a view to achieving the objectives
of increasing the value of the Company and aligning the interests of Selected
Participants directly to the Shareholders through ownership of Shares.

Eligible Persons

The eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme include individuals
being a Director (including executive and non-executive Director), officer or
employee of the Company or its subsidiary.

Duration

Subject to any early termination of the Share Award Scheme and without
prejudicing the subsisting rights of any Selected Participant, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid for the period of 10 years commencing on 1 August 2017
(i.e. the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme).

Maximum Limit

The maximum number of Shares administered under the Share Award Scheme
shall not reach 10% or more of the Company’s issued share capital from time to
time. As at the date of this report, the number of issued shares of the Company
is 1,875,533,847 Shares and the maximum number of Shares which may be
administered under the Share Award Scheme is 187,553,384 Shares.

Movements of Restricted Shares

During the Year, an aggregate of 30,896,000 restricted Shares were granted to
Selected Participants, who were employees of the Group, pursuant to the grant
on 2 August 2017 under the Share Award Scheme. None of the grantees was
a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or an
associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of any of them. The grant of an
aggregate of 22,590,000 restricted Shares had been accepted by the grantees.

During the Year and as at 31 March 2018, an aggregate of 1,058,000 restricted
Shares were cancelled and no restricted Share was vested.

Further details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme disclosed
above, at no time during the Year and at the end of the Year was the Company
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details of the Group's borrowings are set out in Notes 32 and 35 to the financial
statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 7 to the
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS, JOINT VENTURES
AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
ventures and associates as at 31 March 2018 are set out in Notes 51, 52, 53 and
54 to the financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at
31 March 2018 were as follows:

BEROSEZZH

R £ EE < sx R AR A1 8 e s I {0 2R BT
5N ARBREAEMIERATF] - BRI
() 2% Y 88 /2 B B AR 2 (AR AR ] SR TR AN
FERAEMZE - BEARRZERZAE
AR R BISHALAEMEA BB Z Bk iE7M

MG E s -
ERRMEESR

AR R A MR BT R M 32 35
RAFER - A EE 28BN R
R -

MBAT  AEEK  AEARR
/N

R2018F3 A31H » ARA 2 EEMBRA] -
BEE A% NA  AERBE NG ZFFE
DRI E A ISR A MRS~ 52 0 53 K54 0
]

MR2018F3HA31H  ARFAIHEDRTFREZ
fREEWT -

HK$’000
TR

AR
(RE I

Contributed surplus
Retained earnings

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 55 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 111 and 112
respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, JP

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant (appointed on 13 July 2017)
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina (appointed on 2 November 2017)
Madam Han Li (@appointed on 24 April 2018)

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement (resigned on 1 June 2017)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert ChiHang

In accordance with Bye-laws 86(2) and 87 of the Bye-laws, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick and Mr. Wu William Wai Leung will retire from office by rotation and
Madam Han Li, who was appointed as an Executive Director by the Board
as an addition to the Board, will retire from office at the AGM. All the retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement resigned as Executive Director and managing
director of the Company on 1 June 2017 due to retirement. Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu,
Clement has confirmed to the Board that he has no disagreement with the
Board and there is no matter in relation to his resignation that needs to be
brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the INEDs are independent under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’emoluments and the five highest paid individuals in the
Group are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS
The Directors'emoluments are in line with market practice. The Group adopted
the following main principles in determining the Directors remuneration:

No individual should determine his own remuneration;

Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with whom
the Group competes for human resources; and

Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with a view
to motivating and retaining high performing individuals and enhancing
the value of the Company to the Shareholders.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme and a share award
scheme have been adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to protect the
Directors from possible legal actions against them.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

EEMESBER®)

REAZSI - AR RABBIET BIRB
D B B ER R B EF AN KBS EE
BRERAS -

EEFFIRER

BRARREEZREFHBER(EERL
BB RRGE) R B AT R ANFERBR -

ARBEHRES L GEHNERTRLIE
BEIRAR o

EERERITHRAERKRAD - 1HE
RORES 2 EERAR

R2018F3 A31H  ARRIREFESNMEG
BIE 32 R EMBEFE 2 Bzt B
RARBEBITEA B RN 7) sk H A AR
EE(EE R EFRIEEHEXVED) 2 BD
HEEARD REH 2 - SRR ETR RIM 8%
HZ ST R A B A D R M B A BT EE 2 RS a0
T

Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company’s
shares held shares held issued
Directors Capacity Notes (long position) (long position) share capital
=] B¥E EEANG]
EEREE HERGEE 2ERITRA
5= 514 Fff3 (=) (=) Bok
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Beneficial owner 1 5,680,000 3,000,000 0.46%
T—RERE EmlaA
Interests of 2 1,318,455,342 - 70.29%
controlled corporation
R EE R
Mr. Xu Jianhua Beneficial owner 1 - 3,000,000 0.16%
REBESE ExnEAEA
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Beneficial owner 7,326,000 - 0.39%
Z—HE T TR0 BB A
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant Beneficial owner 1 - 3,000,000 0.16%
RIELTE ExnEAEA
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company’s
shares held shares held issued
Directors Capacity Notes (long position) (long position) share capital
EEX o] B85 IEERDF]
BERHE HERGEE EBITRAE
= 54 Bt = (&) (#”) Bk
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina Beneficial owner 1 10,880,875 1,200,000 0.64%
FERLL BEnEAA
Interests of 2 1,318,455,342 - 70.29%
controlled corporation
R B s
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung Beneficial owner 1 - 600,000 0.03%
[ ETEp BEnEAA
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt Beneficial owner 1 - 600,000 0.03%
MhREEE EnEAA
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang Beneficial owner 1 - 600,000 0.03%
CIESEED BEnEAA
Notes: BieE -
1. Details of the underlying shares of the Company held by the Directors are set out 1. BEER/A 2ARAMEBEBR DT £

in the above section headed “Share Option Scheme”. [EERREAt S| —&f -

TR EEFEMN TR A GT Winners
45% RRHE - IRIBEE S MHEED - RES B
WAR BHEA GT Winners FTEB SR BEA
B2 ARNRIE BRI G 2 s - GT
Winners BREEZR 2 FHIEHN TX [ F2KE
TR RABRER ) 2 B FoX A | —8&F o

M F T EESN - FR2018F3A31H i
BEENANFTEBITHRAERARARHES
EEEE (xR EHF LB EXVER)
/ZJ%%% - FHEARR D S EH P A A m gOA

=

2. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and 45% by 2.
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina. By virtue of the SFO, each of them was deemed to
be interested in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company in which
GT Winners had interest or was deemed to have interest. The details of such
interests of GT Winners are set out in the following section headed “Interests and
Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders in Shares and Underlying Shares".

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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FERRRRAD KA 2
1589

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

R2018F3 A31 H » ARARBEZFSMPEIF
DI 336 G BEMEE 2 Bz st T
R (BERADNTEETHAERIN RARQ
AIE BT AR A SR A A 5% A b

As at 31 March 2018, the following Shareholders (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO as being interested or deemed to have interest in
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

2 -
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company’s
shares held shares held issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity Notes (long position) (long position) share capital
e e HARAF
EERHE HBROEE 2B ITIRA
BRREE EB 514 it =E (#R) (#R) Bok
GT Winners Beneficial owner 1 1,318,455,342 - 70.29%
BEmEAA
SFund International Investment ~ Beneficial owner 2 183,802,317 - 9.80%
Fund Management Limited BB A
(“SFund International”)
BME 2 BRRERE
EEEBRAR
(TEMESEIFR])
BEMEIR K B fe i & Interests of 2 183,802,317 - 9.80%
ESEEBRAT controlled corporation
(TEMERKE]) R rE ks
(transliterated as
Guangzhou Huiyin Tianyue
Equity Investment
Fund Management
Co,, Ltd.) ("GZHYTY")
BMNBH & mh el Interests of 2 183,802,317 - 9.80%
HEERBR AR controlled corporation
(IEM Rt ]) S NEL L
(transliterated as
Guangzhou Financial
Innovation Investment
Holding Co,, Ltd. ("GZFI")
BMNEFXKREES Interests of 2 183,802,317 - 9.80%
EEARARI(EMNES]) controlled corporation
(transliterated as YR EEE

Guangzhou Industrial
Investment Fund
Management Co, Ltd.
(“Guangzhou Fund”))
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

1. Among the 1,318,455,342 ordinary Shares held by GT Winners as at 31 March
2018, GT Winners had entered into an agreement for the sale of 183,802,317
ordinary Shares to SFund International on 23 March 2018. Completion of such sale
took place on 13 April 2018.

2. SFund International had entered into an agreement for the purchase of
183,802,317 ordinary Shares from GT Winners on 23 March 2018. Completion of
such purchase took place on 13 April 2018.

SFund International was wholly-owned by GZHYTY, which was in turn directly
owned as to 95% by GZFI and 5% by Guangzhou Fund. GZFI was wholly-owned
by Guangzhou Fund.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Company had not been
notified of any other person or corporation (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) as being interested or deemed to have interests or
short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under Part XV of the
SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

During the Year, Acheson Limited, the trustee appointed for the administration
of the Share Award Scheme, purchased on the market of the Stock Exchange
a total of 21,830,000 shares of the Company at a total consideration of
approximately HK$18,197,000 in accordance with the rules and trust deed of
such scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and there is
no restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

On 2 December 2016, GT Winners as the purchaser entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with China New Way Investment Limited and New Way
Strategic Investment Ltd. as the vendors (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which GT
Winners agreed to purchase and the Vendors agreed to sell 837,008,830 shares
of the Company (the “Sale Shares"). The Sale Shares represented approximately
56.30% of the then issued share capital of the Company. Upon completion
of the transaction on 8 December 2016, GT Winners became the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, GT Winners was required to make
mandatory unconditional cash offers (the "Offers”) pursuant to the Hong Kong
Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT (continued)

Upon the close of the Offers on 2 February 2017, shares of approximately
15.8% of the entire issued share capital of the Company were held by the
public. Accordingly, the Company did not satisfy the minimum public float
requirement as set out under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

The Stock Exchange granted to the Company a temporary waiver from strict
compliance with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules for the initial period from 2
February 2017 to 30 April 2017 and later approved the extension of the waiver
period to 16 May 2017.

Following the issue of Shares to a holder of certain 10% convertible bonds due
in 2017 upon exercise of the conversion rights and completion of disposal of
Shares by GT Winners to two third parties as detailed in the announcements
of the Company dated 31 March 2017 and 9 May 2017 respectively, the
public float has been restored to at least 25% of the issued share capital of the
Company in compliance with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, other than disclosed
above, the Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year
as required under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 25 April 2017, (i) HKPFH Limited ("HKPFH", an indirect non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company), Kit Ho Engineering Limited (“Kit Ho"),
HKPFH Operation Limited (“HKPFH Operation”, an indirect non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Regal Rich Limited (“Regal Rich’, a
then indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a
sale and purchase agreement in relation to the disposal of the entire share
capital of Regal Rich together with the outstanding shareholder’s loan from
HKPFH to Kit Ho at a total consideration of HK$30,809,265.99; and (ii) HKPFH
Operation and Kit Ho entered into a sales contract in relation to the disposal of
certain dump trucks by HKPFH Operation to Kit Ho at a total consideration of
HK$20,894,490.91. Both transactions were completed on 28 April 2017.

Kit Ho was an associate of a substantial shareholder of HKPFH and thus a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level. The transactions
constituted a series of connected transactions that were subject to the
disclosure requirements but exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the transactions are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 25 April 2017 and 28 April 2017 and Note 43(b) to the financial

statements.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the Year is contained in Note 47 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, no other related party transactions constitute any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined under
the Listing Rules during the Year.

The Company has complied with the applicable requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the connected
transactions entered into by the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS’INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 47 to the financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
its holding company, or any subsidiaries of its holding company was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted as at 31 March 2018 or at any time during the Year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER
RULE 13.22 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements under Rule 13.22 of Chapter 13 of
the Listing Rules, the details of the Group's financial assistance given to and
guarantees given for banking facilities granted to its affiliated companies as at
31 March 2018 pursuant to Rule 13.16 thereof are set out below:

(i) Asat 31 March 2018, the advance/loan due from Dingway Investment
Limited ("Dingway”, a company in which the Group held 45% interest)
to the Group amounted to approximately HK$314.0 million. Such
advance/loan is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed term
of repayment and is repayable on demand.

(i) Asat 31 March 2018, the amount guaranteed by the Group for banking
facilities granted to Great Prosper Development Limited (“Great Prosper’,
a company in which the Group held 40% interest) was approximately
HK$935.4 million. The banking facilities will be repayable upon the earlier
of (i) the date falling 48 months from the date of the facility agreement
(i.e. 31 May 2017); or (i) the date falling 6 months after the issuance
of the occupation permit by the Buildings Department for a property
development project owned by Great Prosper. The banking facilities
carry interest which is at normal commercial rate after arm’s length
negotiation with the respective lenders and are secured by (among
others) guarantees by the Group (with the other shareholder of Great
Prosper providing to the Group counter-guarantee in respect of the
amount of banking facilities in excess of the Group’s pro rata share based
on the Group's equity interest in Great Prosper). As at 31 March 2018, an
aggregate of HK$491.0 million of such guaranteed banking facilities had
been utilised by Great Prosper.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER
RULE 13.22 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

(continued)

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s financial assistance given to and guarantees
given for banking facilities granted to its affiliated companies in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$1,249.4 million, representing 14.5% of the
total assets of the Group, exceeding 8% of the assets ratio as defined under
Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules. The financial information of these affiliated
companies as at 31 March 2018 is set out below:
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HK$’000
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Current assets MENEE
Current liabilities nEEE
Net assets BEFE
Issued capital BEITIRAR
Reserves e

Total equity T fA%E

As at 31 March 2018, the consolidated attributable interest of the Group in the
affiliated companies amounted to approximately HK$641.4 million.

DIRECTORS’INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the Year, Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina,
Executive Directors, held through their controlled corporation 40% interests in
Clover Peak Limited (“Clover Peak”), which held 10% indirect interests in Golden
Concept Development Limited (being the registered owner of the site of
Shatin Town Lot No. 579 at Area 56A Kau To, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
(the “Site")) through Wealth Anchor Investments Limited (“Wealth Anchor”). The
Site had been used for property development purpose and therefore Mr. Pang
Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina were regarded as being
interested in such businesses which competed or were likely to compete with
the Group.
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DIRECTORS’'INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

(continued)

The interests in Wealth Anchor was acquired by Clover Peak from Chun Wo
(BVI) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Acquisition”),
pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 14 August 2015 as detailed
in the circular of the Company dated 10 September 2015. The Acquisition
constituted a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and had been approved by the independent Shareholders by resolutions
passed at the special general meeting of the Company held on 25 September
2015 in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Each of the Directors are aware of his fiduciary duties as a director of the
Company and will act in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole and avoid any conflict of interests between his duties as a director of
the Company and his personal interests.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in any business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for approximately 84.6% of the Group's
total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 64.3% of the Group's total turnover. The aggregate
amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

The Group's five largest customers include governmental authorities and
statutory organisations, infrastructure and property developers and property
owners. The credit terms granted to these customers are in line with those
granted to other customers as well as industry practices. The Group's
management has considered the credit quality of these major customers
and is of the view that none of the relevant trade receivables is considered
doubtful. In determining the credit terms, the Group takes into account various
factors, including the background, financial strength and track records of credit
settlement of the counterparties, in order to mitigate credit risks. In view of the
financial strength and high credit rating the major customers, the Directors
consider that the Group's exposure to concentration of credit risk is limited.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to the

knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations totalling
approximately HK$1.2 million.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by EY, the
auditor of the Company, which would retire at the conclusion of the AGM
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be
proposed to the Shareholders at the AGM to re-appoint EY as the auditor of the
Company and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

There has been no other change in the auditor of the Company in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e

Ernst & Young ZK G R = AT
22/F, CITIC Tower BRREREER

§j( 1 Tim Mei Avenue RS KE221E
Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Allied
Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 107 to 241, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Recoverability of amounts due from contract customers

Construction work performed which has not been certified is carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position as amounts due from contract
customers. In assessing the recoverability of the amounts due from contract
customers, the Group regularly reviews and, where appropriate, adjusts the
financial budget of each construction work based on work progress and latest
available information (including correspondence with employers’independent
surveyors and dispute resolution advisors), and estimates the amount of
foreseeable losses or attributable profits of each construction contract. When
it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue which
indicates an impairment has been incurred, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.

The amounts due from contract customers as at 31 March 2018 amounted to
approximately HK$1,967 million (2017: HK$ 1,888 million). The recoverability
assessment of these amounts due from contract customers involves significant
estimations and judgements made by management when management
prepares financial budgets of each construction work.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 22 to the financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we examined independent surveys of work for
amounts of contract revenue recognised and revenue cutoff. We then selected
material construction contracts, read their financial budgets and interviewed
the Group's quantity surveyors regarding preparation and approval processes
of financial budgets of construction contracts and the progress of work
certification by independent surveyors. In addition, we read correspondences
between the Group and independent surveyors in respect of construction
work performed, obtained professional advices of dispute resolution advisors
engaged by the contract customers and the Group, if necessary, in respect of
construction work performed. We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.

Estimation of the outcome of construction projects

During the early stages of a contract it is often the case that the outcome
of the contract cannot be estimated reliably. As disclosed in the Group's
accounting policies, when the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that
are expected to be recoverable, i.e., no profit is recognised.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of the outcome of construction projects (continued)

The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of solo construction
contracts based on the latest facts and circumstances occurred in the
construction contracts, and past experience in conducting similar construction
work. When there is a change in the expectation as to when the outcome
of construction contracts can be estimated reliably, the Group will adjust
the amounts of contract costs and contract profit accordingly. Such change
constitutes a change in an accounting estimate and involves significant
management estimation and judgement regarding the outcome of a contract.
The effect of any change in accounting estimate is recognised prospectively by
including it in profit or loss in the current year and future periods.

Given the sensitivity of the estimates and the level of judgement involved, we
considered this a key audit matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3 and 4 to the financial statements.
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained and understood the rationales,
the bases and the approval process for changes in financial budgets made by
the Group. We then selected material construction contracts, read their financial
budgets and interviewed the Group’s quantity surveyors regarding preparation
and approval processes of financial budgets of construction contracts and the
progress of work certified by independent surveyors. In addition, we read the
Group's working schedules and related accounting journals which recorded
the financial impact of the change of financial budgets of the construction
contracts. We also assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures in the notes
to the financial statements.

Impairment assessment of property development projects

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has several investments in land held for
property development, properties under development and properties held
for sale (the “property development projects”) with an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$1,225 million (2017: HK$929 million), representing 14% of
the total assets of the Group.

The property development projects are stated in the financial statements at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Significant management judgement
is involved in determining the estimated net realisable values of the property
development projects, including estimation of selling prices, costs to be
incurred until completion and variable selling expenses.

Given the sensitivity of the assumptions and the level of judgement involved,
the management engaged independent professional valuers to prepare
valuation report and/or feasibility report for the property development
projects.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4, 19, 20 and 21 to the financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of property development projects (continued)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained the valuation report and feasibility
report and assessed the objectivity, competence and independence of the
independent professional valuers. We then engaged our internal valuation
specialists to assist us to assess the bases and assumptions adopted in the
impairment assessment. In addition, our procedures included discussions with
management and the independent professional valuers about the assumptions
and parameters used in estimating the latest selling prices, costs to be incurred
until completion, variable selling expenses and feasibility of the Group's
property development plan. We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
in the notes to the financial statements.

Recoverability of an investment deposit and partial consideration paid
for a rescinded acquisition transaction

Included in the Group’s other receivables as at 31 March 2018 was an
investment deposit and partial consideration of HK$148 million in total
(collectively, the “Debt”) paid to an entity (the “Entity”) for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in accordance with a sale and purchase agreement entered into
between the two parties on 4 November 2015. As the acquisition transaction
was subsequently rescinded pursuant to a supplemental agreement dated
25 August 2016, the Entity shall refund the Debt to the Group, which remained
unsettled as at the date of approval of the financial statements.

For the purpose of recovering the Debt in connection with the rescinded
acquisition transaction, on 26 June 2017, the Group entered into a series of
agreements (the "Agreements”) with, amongst others, the Entity and its fellow
subsidiary, pursuant to which the parties agreed (i) to dispose of a joint venture
entity (the “Joint Venture Entity”) which holds certain parcels of land in the
United States of America; (ii) to jointly appoint an independent valuer and a
property agent to materialise the disposal transaction by 26 December 2017;
and (jii) the relevant sale proceeds shall firstly be applied to refund the Debt
to the Group and the refund shall be made by 26 March 2018. However, the
sale of the Joint Venture Entity was not materialised and in February 2018, the
Group has initiated lawsuits against the Entity and its affiliates for breaching the
Agreements.

In considering the recoverability of the Debt, the management took into
account of (i) its action plan to recover the Debt which includes certain legal
actions taken or to be taken by the Group against, amongst others, the Entity
and its fellow subsidiary which owns 55% equity interest in the Joint Venture
Entity for breach of the Agreements; (i) a legal opinion regarding the possible
outcome of the legal actions taken and to be taken; and (iii) a valuation of
the aforesaid land asset of the Joint Venture Entity, which is relevant to the
Agreements, performed by an independent professional valuer engaged by the
Group, and is of the view that the Debt is fully recoverable and no impairment
is considered necessary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recoverability of an investment deposit and partial consideration paid
for a rescinded acquisition transaction (continued)

Given the significance of the Debt and the judgemental nature of the
recoverability assessment, we considered this a key audit matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 24(a) to the financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained and read the relevant agreements
in connection with the rescinded acquisition transaction including the
Agreements. With regard to the recoverability assessment of the Debt
prepared by the management, we (i) enquired of the management the bases
and assumptions adopted in the assessment; (ii) assessed the objectivity,
competence and independence of the independent professional valuer; (iii)
involved our internal valuation specialists to assist to assess the valuation of
the land asset relevant to the Agreements; and (iv) obtained legal advices from
an external lawyer engaged by the Group for the probability of recovering the
Debt through litigations. We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in
the notes to the financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FORTHE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBEN R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is CHENG, Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEmRkEMERRER

Year ended 31 March 2018
HZE2018F3A31 BIEFE

2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FBTT
REVENUE = 3 6 8,231,055 8,810,797
Cost of sales SHEMK A (7,846,341) (8,350,054)
Gross profit EH 384,714 460,743
Fair value gain of investment properties, net &% A FEWZSFEE 15 261,900 88,855
Other income and gains, net E AU R 2 58 6 88,669 132,984
Selling expenses SHEMX (16,117) (7,344)
Administrative expenses TE R (403,817) (408,120)
Other expenses, net HAi S F5E (23,237) (449)
Finance costs RLE B 7 (66,838) (56,726)
Share of profit of a joint venture JEME—FE& &R A& 17(d) 797 -
Share of profits and losses of associates FEAE T & N B)a A1 K 518 18(d) 4,129 26,004
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AT E R 8 230,200 235,947
Income tax Fisi 11 (66,523) (30,126)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR RF A 163,677 205,821

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hftt2EUWz (Bx)

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss 1’ BRI S ERT DA B
in subsequent periods: ZIHEE -
Exchange differences: ME 5 =5
Translation of foreign operations BREBINETS 70,019 (45,123)
Reclassification adjustments for gains BUH R 8 2 Bl s
included in profit or loss upon 2B DR
deregistration of subsidiaries (Gt AEz=) (15,408) (1,265)
Share of movement in exchange FE{E—FE& & R AIINE
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture REN 17(d) (421) -
Share of movements in exchange FE(GEE & R AlINE
fluctuation reserves of associates RENE 18(d) 404 (99)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) ZFEEHME2MEWE (BIx%) »

FORTHE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX EHIBREB T ZFEH

OF NIL 54,594 (46,487)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REERHEKNEHEEE

FOR THE YEAR 218,271 159,334

20171858 TMBMAERERARAT (107
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REREREMEEKER

Year ended 31 March 2018
HZE2018F3 A31 HILFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FE{L A< EE35A :
Shareholders of the Company P N/NE]
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR BN EEEERESAEE
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Shareholders of the Company ZiN/NE] )
Non-controlling interests IR

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE KA T RRELZREF
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic HAK

Diluted e
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2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
150,176 205,506
13,501 315
163,677 205,821
204,770 159,019
13,501 315
218,271 159,334
HK cents HK cents
AL Bl
8.83 13.62
8.80 13.62




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Ra MR R R

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Goodwill

Investments in joint ventures
Investments in associates
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Land held for property development
Properties under development
Properties held for sale
Amounts due from contract customers
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Sales deposits received held in
an escrow account
Income tax recoverables
Equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss
Restricted cash and pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets and assets of
a disposal group classified as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amounts due to contract customers
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Sales deposits received for sale of
a property interest
Bank and other borrowings
Liability component of convertible bonds
Derivative components of convertible bonds
Guaranteed bonds
Hire purchase contract and finance lease
payables
Income tax payables

Liabilities directly associated with the assets of
a disposal group classified as held for sale

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

FRBEE

E N Y B
BEWE

[
REEREILE
REEE R BIE
EERAEE

FRBEERR

REBEE

FIEMEERZ i
BRPYE

FrEHEM R

fEM A K= P RIA

8 5 RUGIR

ENFR - e REAAEYFR
FRREERP < BWHER S

AR AR
BAHEFARRZRARE

ZRER S K EEREFR
Re MRS FERAR

DERFHEHE Z IR EE
REESEEE

MEBEEHE

REEE
ENaHEFPHIA

B 2R

Ho At & A~ FRIE N AT IR
HE&E—TRY E 2 DU
HELRS
HRIT R ELAB SR
ABRESFAERD
AR ESIT AR D
ERES
HESORREHERMNFR

it R
HOBRBEHREZHE
SEEEEREBNAR
mBEEHE
REBEEFE
BERAERABAE

14
15
16
17
18
36

19
20
21
22
23
24

25

26
27
28

29

22
30
31

25
32
33
33
34

35

29

31 March 2018

20183 A31H

2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET T
256,896 267,313
14,263 866,120
47,561 44,686
315,104 313,993
384,089 75,963
6,775 5,693
1,024,688 1,574,268
550,103 523,714
667,994 398437
6,651 6,707
1,966,743 1,888,491
1,668,172 1,516,727
572,387 599,725
144,093 =
10,859 10,011
80 105
37,330 51,419
1,979,852 1,713,371
7,604,264 6,708,707
- 180,189
7,604,264 6,888,896
796,012 734,827
1,519,774 1,589,114
480,480 482,411
297,360 =
2,705,454 2,938,779
- 217,778

- 38,260
39,000 =
10,838 13,666
80,048 53,700
5,928,966 6,068,535
- 748
5,928,966 6,069,283
1,675,298 819,613
2,699,986 2,393,881
201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AN S
e M BRR R
31 March 2018
201843 H31H
2018 2017
2018 201748
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables HAb R FIE 31 147,603 65,701
Bank and other borrowings RITREALE K 32 5,515 5,749
Guaranteed bonds ERES 34 - 39,000
Hire purchase contract and finance lease MEEH Rt AR EEMNFIE
payables 35 5,969 16,845
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIES & 36 16,817 21,326
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 175,904 148,621
Net assets BEFAE 2,524,082 2,245,260
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to shareholders of KA TR RERER
the Company
Issued capital BEITRA 37(a) 187,553 161,929
Reserves & 40(a) 2,318,250 2,058,553
2,505,803 2,220,482
Non-controlling interests IR = 18,279 24778
Total equity R ias 2,524,082 2,245,260
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
TR Z—F
Director Director
EF Z2F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERRERFER

Notes
s

At 1 April 2016 R016F4A1R
Profit for the year RERET
Othercomprehensiveloss ~ AFEEM2ARY
forthe year:
Exchange differences; ERZR -
Translation of foreign BERNER
operations
Reclassification - RE
adjustments for VNGl G RAET o]
againincludedin BEGIAER)
profitorloss upon
deregistration of
asubsidiary
Share of ovements n B RARINE
exchange fluctuation RERE S
reserves of associates
Total comprehensive REERENE/ (%)

income/(loss) for the year &g

Share placement BhEE 37(ali)
Isuie of shares upon exercise of 348 AR (3 AT

convertible bonds fkt 3
Share of reserve of an ElE-EBE NNk

associate 18(e)
Acquisiion of subsiciaries  WERMIB AR I
At31 March 2017 R017F38318

Issued
capital
BEfT
RA
HKS000
TR

Share
premium
account

HKS'000
TR

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
AR ERFRE
Convertible

Special  bond equity Capital
reserve reserve reserve reserve
BH TRRES &% HERD
BE  ERRG it Rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T Tin Tin

Exchange
fluctuation

(note 40 (note

Retained
profits

REEA
HK$'000
TR

Year ended 31 March 2018
HZE2018F3A31 BIEFE

Non-
controlling Total
Total interests equity
F2R s
A B& ]
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TR Tin

g A% 290 B B SB LE0 1086 B0 198706
- - - - - - 205,506 205,506 315 205821

- - - - - 45,123) - 45193) - 45123)

- - - - - (1269 - (1269 - (1.69)

- - - - - %) - 9 - %)

- - - - S usm) MEN6 159019 w1593
7,200 82800 - - - - - 90,000 - 90000
1367 63048 - (7980 - - -8 - 68355
- - - - 0 - - 27 - 27

§ i _ . i - . - (138 (1380
161,929 623,804 2900% 17978* B (1356 1381656* 2200482 24,778 2045060

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERRERBEHR

Year ended 31 March 2018
HZE2018F3 A31 HILFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

KOARREE
Shares held Convertible
Share  under share Share-based bond Exchange Non-
Issued premium  award scheme Special  compensation equity Capital ~ fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profit Tl interests equity
RERR
B #mateRET KN BOEM  TRBES & JERE FER B
HEE  HENRG L] B EEER i B REE g B i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n TR TER TER T T T Tn Tn T#n TR
(note 40(b)) (note 40(c))
(Kiaom) (i40lg)
At Apil 2017 RNI7E4RIE 161,929 623,804 - 2,900 - 17978 B35 (1,356) 1,381,656 220482 1178 2,245,260
Profitfortheyear RERRH - - - - - 150,176 150,176 13,501 163677
Othercomprehensie RERANR NG/
incomeflos)forthe ear: (Fx) -
Exchange difrences: Ejiz8
Transaton oforeign BERNEH
operations - - - - 70019 - 0019 - 70019
Redassficaton Vil
adistmentsfor Nk BRI
gnsindudedin HE(ARE)
proftor oss upon
deregstraion of
subsicries - - - - (15,408) - (15,408) - (15,408)
Shereofmovementin Eh-BREATNE
exchange fuctuaton oGRS
Teserve ofa joint venture - - - - (a21) - (a21) - (a21)
Shateofovements FEREQTNE
nexchange FERESY
fluctuaton esenes
ofassociates - - - - 404 - 404 - 404
Toel comprehensive ncome KER2ENGSE
forthe year - - - - 54,594 150,176 204770 13501 1821
s o shaesupon ercise RATERERHEANRG
of convertble bonds B 25,64 156,725 - (33,885) - - - 148,464 - 148,464
Deerelcontibuton fom Bl 2HELAERRE
anon-contoling equiy fBACER
holderofa subsidary - - - 12310 - - 12310 - 12310
Disposal o an associate HE-HRERR - - - (17584) - - (17,584) - (17,564)
Repurchase of st under RERNEETHERRD
the share award scheme 38 - - (18,197) - - - - (18,197) - (18,197)
Shateanad expense RiaREs: %) - - - 3483 - - - 3443 - 348
Fouiysetedsharecptionewpense. WA S 2 BRiER R %) - - - 180 - - - 2832 - 183
Tianseof she ption esere IRUERERERERE
upon the foretueof shareoptions~~ E4fE % - - - (5) - - 5 - - -
Recognitonuponmedficatonol BRI TARRERA
terms of convertble bonds 30 - - - 33,885 - - - 33885 - 33,885
Tanserupon modfistionoftemns IR T TARERIEHE
of comertble onds &3 ) - - - (17978 - - 17978 - - -
Diidendpaidtoaroncontoling B -FKBATZ
shateholderofa subsiday ~BHERRRZRE - - - - - - - (20,000) (20,000)
Fiel 2017 chidend decaed BEROTERRERS 12 - - - - - (61533 (61,533) - (61,533)
Inteim 201 vidend decred BEREETARS 1 - - - - - (23069 (23,069) - (23,069)
31 March 2018 H08E3A3IA 187,553 780,529* (18,197 2,900 6217 -+ 2897 53,238* 1,465,266* 2,505,803 18219 2,524,082
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,318,250,000 & R2018F3A3H ZERBERERELES

B 75 AR SR 2R A 2 4R A {7 18 2,318,250,000 7% T
(2017 % : 2,058,553,000 787 ) °

(2017: HK$2,058,553,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2018.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2018
HZE2018F3A31 BIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Share of profit of a joint venture
Share of profits and losses of associates
Interest income
Fair value gain of the derivative components of
convertible bonds
Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, net
Loss/(gain) on sale of property interests
through disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on sale of property interest through
disposal of an associate
Gains on disposal of other subsidiaries, net
Gains on disposal of non-current assets
classified as held for sale
Fair value gain of investment properties, net
Finance costs
Depreciation
Fair value loss of equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment, net
Write-off of items of property, plant
and equipment
Impairment of items of property, plant
and equipment
Loss on modifications of terms of
convertible bonds
Share award expense
Equity-settled share option expense

Increase in land held for property
development and properties under
development

Decrease in properties held for sale

Net decrease in balances with contract
customers

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables

Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Sales deposits received for sale of
a property interest

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating
activities

RELLEZHZRERE

BRI A4 7

HE

i —RaE R aE
N S
FEHA
ARBRESFITERD 2 D FEYRE

HEBE—HNBLR K
BUHGE M BN 72 a8
BRLENBATLENFER
2R/ ()

BB E—EBEDRHEYFE
1 Wnak

& B ALK A B 2 R
HENBRREHRE 2R
BE W

REMFE N HEREFE
BEKA

e
BHER AR BARE
ZAVHERE
HEME - R RRERR
IR (a) %8

W - HERREEE 2k

ME -~ BERRERR ZRE
CHIBEEEsRE S =

B0 BERR 2
A E 2 BB IR

?%15;%%&%211@&%@# ES
0

REHEYRRD
AOEPEHRRDFE

B HRKFIR(GE M), R

BAE - BE REMRKFE
mD,/(SEhn)

BHRAFIRORD), /1Em

H At 5 508 X e R EUE I

HE—RYE#LD CRHERS

BEEB(MA)/ BB
EANIET
BEEYH(FM)/EEZHRS

NY=Re
MEFH8

2018 2017
2018 F 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHET

230,200 235,947

(797) =
(4,129) (26,004)
6 (15,827) (20,587)
6 - (44,386)
6 - (19,282)
6 (5,693) (1,265)
8 264 (7,070)
6 (2,075) =
6 (19,996) =
6 (14,713) =
15 (261,900) (88,855)
7 66,838 56,726
8 14,890 7,289
8 25 42
3 670 (5,223)
8 286 =
8 10,000 =
8 10,132 =
8 3,443 -
8 2,832 =
14,450 87,332
(265,042) (87,524)

1,046 6,579

25,176 239,361

(151,446) 183,626
16,652 (28,950)

(68,333) 213,314

168,800 144,464

153,267 =

(105,430) 758,202
(49,653) (40,019)

(155,083) 718,183

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2018
HZE2018F3 A31 HILFE

2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TExT FBT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REREZEHvRHERE
Interest received BIFH 2 15,827 20,587
Dividend received from an associate B — A A B iR B 21,842 2,324
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEME MR REHEER
equipment (46,688) (48313)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEYE - KEEREHEIEE
plant and equipment FT{S#UE 2,456 13,239
Additions to investment property under NETEREYE
construction (26,281) (830,400)
Proceeds from disposal of investment LEREMEMSRIE
properties 9,359 -
Proceeds from disposal of non-current HEDHEAREHEE
assets classified as held for sale JEMBNE E TS RUIR - 72,960
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS EB A A 42 - (182,632)
Acquisition of an associate U — P & A ) (2,333) =
Proceeds from sale of property interests FERHEMRBAFR
through disposal of subsidiaries S YRR TS RIE 43(a) 476,352 289,829
Proceeds from sale of property interest iU PN
through disposal of an associate S YRR TS IR 98,701 -
Proceeds from disposal of other subsidiaries B H ALK B A RIFT5 508 43(b) 28,563 =
Increase in amount due from a joint venture —[EE & AR RGN (2,115) -
Increase in amounts due from associates b &N F 2 RFIE N (4,000) (177,309)
Increase in loan receivables FEMEFIE hN (128,400) (20,800)
Increase in time deposits with maturity of REARZH B BB =1(EA
more than three months when acquired 2 TE BTF SR N (3,001) (105,693)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities & EBNELE,/ (FTA) 2BE &
MERER 440,282 (966,208)
CASH FLOWS FROMFINANCINGACTIVITIES ~REREIB HERE
Proceeds from placement of new ordinary B & 37 S mAR TS 5108
shares 37@)(i) - 90,000
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BT AR EH TS EE - 214,072
Proceeds from issue of an unsecured A ERASIE IR A A BT 2 IR 1
bond to the ultimate holding company BES P15 5KIE - 158,000
Proceeds from issue of guaranteed bonds BT RRESEHRIEA 34 - 39,000
Repurchase of shares under the share RIBRR ) S BNt BIEE AR (D
award scheme 38(a) (18,197) -
New bank loans ERRITER 2,408,111 1,905,930
New trust receipt loans TEETEBURER 67,090 114,507
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (2,152,711) (1,485,284)
Repayment of trust receipt loans =5 EE%WTFE/TA (69,599) (109,487)
Repayment of other borrowings 1,%*;@,%14@1 K (2,820) (1,158)
Repayment of an unsecured bond payable B TR R A TZ
to the ultimate holding company Jgﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ%? - (158,000)
Repayment of straight bond EELTBES (93,442) -
Capital element of hire purchase contract HESHMREMEESMNR
and finance lease rental payments BERE 7D (13,846) (29,668)
Interest element of hire purchase contract fﬁﬁﬁ/\%’]&mﬂéﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁm
and finance lease rental payments ZHIE 7 (679) (1,285)
Other interest paid E’rﬁlEﬁﬂ% (101,386) 71 652)
Dividend paid EARE (84,602)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder 15— %3H RRAR R AR B (20,000) =
Decrease in restricted cash and pledged deposits 52 R #l138 & & B # R 17 50R 4 14,089 217,531
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities BAESEEN(FM),/EAZERE
ME (67,992) 882,506
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2018
BZE2018F3A31 HIEFE

2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BEREBSEEEE ®INFHE
EQUIVALENTS 217,207 634,481
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ~ FHIRIHE S R EESEEIER
year 1,713,371 1,005,420
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ~ 4NEX & SR A &) =2 28 5t =g 46,273 (32,223)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREREREFASEEIER
END OF YEAR 1,976,851 1,607,678

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND HREREHEBESZEHIEH

CASH EQUIVALENTS EERD AT
Cash and bank balances other than time e RIBITEBRCIEEE TR

deposits 28 1,196,089 1,513,412
Time deposits TE BIfE R 28 821,093 251,378
Less: Restricted cash and pledged deposits 7 : R HIFR & & B BT 28 (37,330) (51,419)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe AR A B FEARA R ZIRE KX

consolidated statement of financial position ~ £2IR & ZE(EIB B 1,979,852 1,713,371
Less: Time deposits with maturity of more than J& : 7 i AR ZIH B 2B =& A

three months when acquired < EHITERR (3,001) (105,693)

Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe ~ #RABREREXRMAZIRE K
consolidated statement of cash flows RIS EEIEH 1,976,851 1,607,678
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 AR Y

31 March 2018
20184F3 A31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda, and the principal place of business of the Company is
located at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1,
601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”), joint operations, joint ventures and associates were involved in
the following principal activities:

provision of services in areas of civil engineering, electrical and
mechanical engineering, foundation and building construction in
Hong Kong;

development and sale of properties and leasing of assets in Hong
Kong, mainland of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
United Arab Emirates (the “UAE") and the United States of America
(the "USA"); and

provision of security and facility management solutions in Hong
Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
ventures and associates are set out in notes 51, 52, 53 and 54 to the
financial statements, respectively.

At 31 March 2018, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
immediate holding company and the ultimate holding company of
the Company is GT Winners Limited (“GT Winners"), which is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") with limited liability.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA”"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention except for (i) investment properties,
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss and the derivative
components of convertible bonds which have been measured at fair
value; and (i) non-current assets and assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale which are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts
and fair values less costs to sell as further explained in note 3.3 to the
financial statements. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar ("HKS$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
("HKS'000") except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2018. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e,, existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the shareholders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value
of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 3.1
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for
the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:
included in Clarification of the Scope of HKFRS 12
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of HKAS 7 and
HKAS 12, the adoption of the above revised standards has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

(@  Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities is provided in
note 41 to the financial statements.

(b)  Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that an entity, when assessing
whether taxable profits will be available against which it can utilise
a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider whether tax
law restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it may
make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary
difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and
explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include
the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount.
The amendments have had no impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group as the Group has no deductible
temporary differences or assets that are in the scope of the
amendments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions’

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers’

Leases’
Insurance Contracts’®
Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement’
Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures?
Transfers of Investment Property’
Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration’
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

B R SR M
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20183 H31H
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Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be EHERHERANAEBR 2SR BT
applicable to the Group is as follows: WRELRZE—FERAT :
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a)

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016 that
address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction;
the classification of a share-based payment transaction with net
settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order
to meet an employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-
based payment; and accounting where a modification to the
terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled.
The amendments clarify that the approach used to account for
vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled share-based
payments also applies to cash-settled share-based payments.
The amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based
payment transaction with net share settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s
tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction when certain conditions are
met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms and
conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction are
modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-settled share-
based payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an
equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification. On
adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without
restating prior periods, but retrospective application is permitted if
they elect to adopt for all three amendments and other criteria are
met. The Group will adopt the amendments from 1 April 2018. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group will not
restate comparative information and will recognise any transition
adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2018.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has performed a
detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. The
expected impacts relate to the classification and measurement
and the impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9
will have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at fair
value.

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are
not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under
HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected credit loss
model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis.
The Group will apply the simplified approach and record
lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on the
present values of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of
all of its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply
the general approach and record twelve-month expected
credit losses that are estimated based on the possible
default events on its other receivables within the next
twelve months.

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of the expected loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets measured
at amortised cost and other items that are subject to
impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the
Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company,
if the expected credit loss model were to be applied by
the Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss
to be recognised by the Group as at 1 April 2018 would be
slightly increased as compared to the accumulated amount
recognised under HKAS 39 mainly attributable to expected
credit losses provision on trade receivables. Such further
impairment recognised under expected credit loss model
would reduce the opening retained profits and increase the
deferred tax assets as at 1 April 2018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor's
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed
by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step model
to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for
measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces
extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability
account balances between periods and key judgements and
estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective
application or a modified retrospective adoption is required on the
initial application of the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued
amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues
on identifying performance obligations, application guidance on
principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a
more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and
decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

3.2 CHEMERRERZERBME

£}

(@)

AR

= —I—/\IJ (?ﬁ)

BB ISR EERE
2EH RN 2857 (2011 F) Z 87T
HEBBHBREEDNFE 105K
BB LT ERF 285 2011F) 2
MAEREEEEERHENSE AR
ZEZEELESETEMERTELZ
T—HIBN - ZFBETRE %
BEEHEBENAS AR ZENE
EREsS TR —HEKR 0 A
EREH WS EE - BRI HR
TR —HER 2 EER - BER
SELEZRENEEBNZIREEZ
BRRANER - HEATHBRESE
REZEHEERRZERZ AR -
ZEEETAGIER - BFTEAIA
2N 2016F 1 AFIBRE BTSSR
SXREBFI0REEBSGETELE
2857 (2011 G ) & 5] 2 PATE 5 il 4
HER - TR SR HI AR B BRSRA
TEREEE S A NF 2 SEHRIE
EREZECRET - A %5
QIR AIRAFFEF -

0SR REB

R 2014F 7 AEG 2 BEBP RS
AR 1557 - FR—ERASEN
NERRERFPAKNESE 2 Wt
BIERBTIEHREELFE 155
WS R B B R E
EYSREmMAEESZRESHE
TR BBPEHREEAFE 155
ZRBAAE MR R AT
SRz Bk o s ERIRBI A B
ZEEREERERT  BESF
e zs4a78 - BRBITET - TR
MZEAENEERBREREAHRZ
BENA N EBHE R AT 2 ER -
RIS BV B B 5 3R s 22 BITE
TER AR WERFER ZRTE « BN
JEFRERF B 2 BB SE
2i1& 2 BAER - 7201656 A -
BEGAIASBEMEBMIEHRS
ERFE 155 2 1E5]  ARE KA
EiEE  SESBENEMT M
RERE 2 EE ABAIE A AR AN
ERERF 2 ERTEE  URBEZ
BRI o sZEER] MR B S BREIR
BB TSRS R E 1557 -
RIEFEFR T EE M—B - WhHEAE
BIfE R 2 A R A8 5 1 -

[



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

d

(continued)

The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS
15 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at 1 April
2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements
only to contracts that are not completed before 1 April 2018
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment on the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 15
and the expected impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 15
on the Group are summarised as follows:

(if)

(iii)

As regards to construction work, the directors specifically
consider HKFRS 15's guidance on contract combinations,
contract modifications arising from variation orders,
variable consideration, and the assessment of whether
there is significant financing component in the contracts,
particularly taking into account the reason for the
difference in timing between the transfer of control of
goods and services to customers and timing of relate
payments. The directors have assessed that as performance
obligation is satisfied over time therefore revenue from
these construction contracts should be recognised over
time during the course of construction by the Group.
Furthermore, the directors consider that the output method
currently used to measure the progress towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligations will continue
to be appropriate under HKFRS 15. However, the directors
are assessing whether the current accounting policy
adopted by the Group in recognising the construction
costs charged to profit or loss by reference to the stage
of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period is different from the recognition of
construction costs in profit or loss based on the actual
construction costs incurred under HKFRS 15’s guidance, and
also the potential financial impact.

As regards to development and sale of properties, the
current accounting policy for revenue recognition of sale of
properties based on the time of transfer of the significant
risks and rewards of ownership will still be an appropriate
method under HKFRS 15.

As regards to professional services, the current accounting
policy for revenue recognition of the service income from
the provision of security and facility management solutions
service over time when services are provided will still be an
appropriate method under HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

d

(continued)

In addition, the Group anticipates that the application of HKFRS 15
may result in more disclosures in the financial statements.

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-
Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The
standard includes two elective recognition exemptions for
lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At
the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e, the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets
the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a
class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the
lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required
to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain
events, such as change in the lease term and change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used
to determine those payments. Lessees will generally recognise
the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS
17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(e)

(continued)

HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply
the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16
from 1 April 2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose
to take advantage of the practical expedients available and which
transition approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in
note 45(b) to the financial statements, at 31 March 2018, the Group
had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in aggregate of approximately HK$37,103,000.
Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein
may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine
the amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be
recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to
leases of low-value assets and short term leases, other practical
expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before
the date of adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify when
an entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out of investment property.
The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the
property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere
change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does
not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should
be applied prospectively to the changes in use that occur on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the
classification of property held at the date that it first applies the
amendments and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the
conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only
permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April
2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(o))

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance on how
to determine the date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21
to the situation where an entity receives or pays advance
consideration in a foreign currency and recognises a non-
monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date
of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange
rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense
or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or
non-monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from
the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the
related item, the entity must determine the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration. Entities
may apply the interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on
a prospective basis, either from the beginning of the reporting
period in which the entity first applies the interpretation or the
beginning of the prior reporting period presented as comparative
information in the financial statements of the reporting period in
which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects
to adopt the interpretation prospectively from 1 April 2018. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

HK(FRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting for
income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred
to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not
apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it
specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax
treatments separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes about
the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation
is to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without
the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application, without the restatement of comparative
information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
from 1 April 2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which
it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of
net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in
the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.
In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or
joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises
any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment
and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups classified
as held for sale” below.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the

joint operation;

its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint
operation; and

its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group's
interest in a joint operation are accounted for in accordance with the
HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person (i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) has
significant influence over the Group; or (jii) is a member of the key
management personnel of the Group or of a holding company of
the Group; or

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a holding company, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a holding company of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to a holding company of the Group.

BES

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

3.3 FTESHBEEE®)

ER—FMEATER - IRAASE

ZER

@ BIABUTALTHBZALZER
BZATOWHEEAREE 2 ZHIER

KRE %IJTZE”

(VA EREEFEEX

TEN BN RAEEHAEE
ERARIZIEZERABHEYP—F

KE :
b) ZAB—

g,

=50 [l
B

- BATEEI—1215

JUER

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ERRAKERR—%KEZ
SRA]

}'Qp

’

—HEBAES— FEJE’&“(_E;h
—HERBZERA ﬁ%
QT‘XH%WEQj)ZH@‘

RNEIHEE R

ERRAKERRA—F=0

BERT

ZA

—HERBRE=T
AE Ffr

%’“7 m»s—

5B AT

ﬂmll} Jul

?E’E i
%4 1>

5°d

?E?%

A LE B BB 1R 48 R 5t
I RAREEKEAREE
ﬂ@ZE‘%&%Z@EE%‘JHﬁ

%‘5 @fm B it

EE\L it
é
ﬁ

(OFTERlZ AT HER
EE /ﬁnﬁ&ﬁ‘é‘%‘ﬁ(ﬁiﬁ
BIERAR]) cTEEHEAE
EEP—%EJZE 53

B

=3

ZERAEMBEEZEM
PR B[R AR B s AN 5 B 2 42
BRABRETZEEASR
75 o

201718 FEsf TmMNBEEEZRERERQ

129



130
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group and liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss and the derivative components of the
convertible bonds at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. When an item of
property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained
in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of leasehold land under finance leases and buildings are
calculated on the straight-line basis to write off their costs (i) over the
shorter of the lease term and 50 years in respect of leasehold land; and (ii)
over the shorter of the lease term and 25 years in respect of buildings.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated on
the reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item of other
property, plant and equipment to its estimated residual value over
its estimated useful life. The estimated depreciation rates per annum
of different categories of other property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Plant and machinery 15% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 15%
Motor vehicles 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FTESHBEREE®)

134

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including the direct costs of construction,
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction and transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Land held for development and/or properties under development
for future use as investment properties are classified as “Investment
properties under construction” and are reclassified to “Completed
investment properties”when completed and ready for use.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the period of the retirement
or disposal.

When a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property at the date of change in use is
accounted for as follows:

(@)  any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the property is
recognised in profit or loss in the period the change in use takes
place; or

(b) any resulting increase in the carrying amount is credited to
profit or loss, to the extent that the increase reverses a previous
impairment loss for that property, or restores the carrying amount
of the property to an amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the property in prior periods; and any remaining part of the
increase in the carrying amount is credited directly to equity
in the property revaluation reserve. On subsequent disposal of
the property, the relevant portion of the property revaluation
reserve realised is transferred to retained profits as a movement in
reserves.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to properties under
development or properties held for sale, the deemed cost of a property
for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties under development or
properties held for sale to investment property when there is a change
in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced
by the commencement of an operating lease to another party. For a
transfer from properties under development or properties held for sale
to investment properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of change in use and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as
held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal
group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as finance
leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases are included in non-current assets. The finance costs of such leases
are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
charge over the lease terms.
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature
are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases, net of any incentives received
from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in
property, plant and equipment.

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under development
are intended to be held for sale after completion of the property
development. They are classified as current assets unless the construction
period of the relevant property development project is expected to
complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to properties held for sale.

Land held for property development, properties under development and
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes prepaid land lease payments and cost of land/
land use rights together with any other direct costs attributable to the
development of the properties, and borrowing costs capitalised during
the development period. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to estimated selling price based on prevailing market conditions less
(i) anticipated cost to completion of the development in respect of
properties under development; and (i) estimated costs to be incurred in
marketing and selling the properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than investment properties,
land held for property development, properties under development,
properties held for sale, deferred tax assets, financial assets, amounts
due from contract customers and non-current assets/disposal groups
classified as held for sale), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of a non-financial asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss or loans and receivables, as appropriate.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets, except in the case of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

(a)

()

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the
host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit and loss. Reassessment only occurs if there
is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less
any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
interest income in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment
is recognised as other expenses in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,, removed
from the consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and
to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred assets to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Impairment (continued)

For loans and receivables, the Group first assesses whether impairment
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If
the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not,
it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e,,
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or loans and borrowings, as
appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

(a)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instrument. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

(b)  Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period and (i) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds that contain liability and equity components

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share capital at the
option of the holder, where the number of shares that would be issued
on conversion and the value of the consideration that would be received
at that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and an equity
component (conversion option).

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of
a liability is recognised as a liability in the consolidated statement of
financial position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount
is carried as a non-current liability or a current liability, as appropriate,
on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or
redemption. The remainder of the proceeds, net of transaction costs,
is allocated to the conversion option (the equity component) which
is recognised and included in the Company’s convertible bond equity
reserve. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured
in subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised.

Convertible bonds that contain liability and derivative components

If the conversion option of convertible bonds exhibits characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability component.
On initial recognition, the conversion option and other derivative
components of the convertible bonds are measured at fair value
and presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any excess
of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the derivative
components is recognised as the liability component. Transaction costs
are apportioned between the liability and derivative components of the
convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially recognised.
The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability component
is recognised initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to the
derivative components is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

3.3 FTESHBEEE®)

AR E S
2B B E K gh 0 m) R AR (& 55

AMBES AR A AR EE R S

R BBERITHRMDHE RERKK

BHREEENE - AHERES AR

E%ﬁé@ﬂlﬂ BERERS MiER
7 (RRHE)

BRAERSER A RRES S &K
Q%Iﬂ%ﬁﬁé%%éﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi‘%ﬁ&WZ%E
{8 - BITARBRESE - BEPDAF
E?‘“ﬁﬁﬁ%ékﬂ?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁm%ﬂfﬁ
PR RIS RIERE A E
Eiiﬁ%bﬁﬁ(ﬁﬂiﬁ%) HESBRNED
$i P 1S SRIR SRR A FOBR X 5 B AN 18
DB (S ) - YHEARK
qu)\ZlK A A AR B S R o AR
REAERAEARFENTENE - X
FRATIERBERERTARORER
18 Mg 5F 0 1 PSSR Al R AR (B 55
W BE R s Al D R P EC -

=B RIERITER D B AT R E 57

fi AT AR (B 5 M AR R R IR A R PT A
TEMSH AREEEHDHEA
AR o MBERHERR - ATARE S AR
EEREMITET AR Tﬁ"iﬁ FTE -
WH BITET T A o HFIEHIE
tﬂjél/\ﬁgwuﬁ{/—fil/\ﬂ _\E’]i%ﬁ
Al BmERRBESS - KHKA
*E'&Fﬁﬁ?%fklﬁﬁé\lﬂﬁmﬁﬁwﬂﬁftﬁ1$
BATAE T HESENDE - 257 AR
#Hﬂa%%zi E’J?&%Wﬁ&mil
BEPNR S - BREEGER DR
%EXZK*B F%mﬁ@%%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬁ%

ﬁﬁ@gmilﬂ*ﬁﬁﬂ‘lﬂﬂﬁjﬁﬁ R
A ‘Efm°

2017183 DMBSERZERBIRDF

143



144

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Shares held under a share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market and held
by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under the share award
scheme of the Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.

Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested awarded shares
repurchased from the market and shares acquired from reinvesting
dividends received on the awarded shares are credited to the shares held
under share award scheme account, with a corresponding decrease in
the share-based compensation reserve for awarded shares.

For vesting of forfeited or unallocated shares regranted, the related costs
of the forfeited or unallocated shares regranted are credited to the shares
held under share award scheme account, and the related fair value of
the shares regranted are debited to the share-based compensation
reserve. The difference between the cost and the fair value of the shares
regranted is credited to the share premium account if the fair value is
higher than the cost or debited against retained profits if the fair value is
less than the cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included as finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general guidance for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured reliably,
on the following bases:

(@)  from construction services, on the percentage-of-completion
basis, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction contracts” below;

(b)  from the rendering of other services, when services have been
rendered;

(c)  from the sale of properties, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that
the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the properties sold;
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) rental income, on the straight-line basis over the lease terms;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
rate method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f)  dividend income, when the shareholders'right to receive payment
has been established.

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct materials, the costs of
subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable
and fixed construction overheads.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
revenue and costs are recognised in profit or loss by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting
period, which is measured by reference to surveys of the value of work
carried out to date as certified by external valuer. Variations in contract
work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the
amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are
recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as
amounts due from contract customers. For contracts where progress
billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to contract
customers. Amounts received before the related work is performed are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability,
as advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under trade receivables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments
Share award scheme

The Group operates a share award scheme for the purpose of providing
incentive for employees to achieve performance goals and aligning
the interests of employees directly to the shareholders of the Company
through ownership of shares of the Company.

The amount to be expensed as share-based compensation expenses is
determined by reference to the fair value of the awarded shares granted,
taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated with the grants.
The total expense is recognised over the relevant vesting periods (or
on the grant date if the shares vest immediately), with a corresponding
credit to the share-based compensation reserve under equity.

For those awarded shares which are amortised over the vesting periods,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of awarded shares that are
expected to ultimately vest based on the vesting conditions at the end
of each reporting period. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative
fair value recognised in prior years is recognised in profit or loss in the
current year, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve.

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including directors
of the Company) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial option pricing
model, further details of which are given in note 39(c) to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)
Share option scheme (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

Upon exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded
by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal
value of the shares is recorded by the Company in the share premium
account. In addition, at the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in the share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to the share premium account.

Share options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or lapse
are deleted from the register of outstanding options. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share-
based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained profits as a
movement in reserves.

The diluted effect of outstanding share options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the PRC
and Singapore are required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local PRC and Singapore governments, the assets of
which are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions are
made by the subsidiaries based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the relevant central pension
schemes. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the activity of a construction
contract are included as part of the contract costs.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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31 March 2018
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Dividends (continued)

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates established in the PRC and overseas are currencies other
than the Hong Kong dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their profits or losses are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation is treated
as an assets of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC and overseas are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements
and have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are set out below:

Joint operations

The Group has numerous joint arrangements with third parties for
construction work in Hong Kong and under which decisions about
the relevant activities of such arrangements require the unanimous
consent of all parties to the arrangements. For accounting purposes, the
directors of the Company assessed whether such arrangements are joint
operations or joint ventures under HKFRS 11. After considering the rights
and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with reference to
the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the contractual terms
agreed by the parties in the arrangements, and the relevant facts and
circumstances, the directors of the Company concluded that all of the
Group’s joint arrangements for construction work should be classified as
joint operations under HKFRS 11 as the relevant contractual agreements
for these joint arrangements specify that the parties to the joint
arrangements have rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities
relating to the joint arrangements.

Construction contracts

With respect to construction contracts, the Group recognises contract
revenue, contract costs and contract profit on a construction contract
using the percentage-of-completion method, based on independent
surveys of work, latest available financial budgets of the construction
contract with reference to the overall performance of the construction
contract, and management’s best estimates and judgements. In
developing the financial budget of a construction contract, construction
revenue is estimated in accordance with the terms set out in the
relevant contract, whereas construction costs, which mainly comprise
subcontracting charges and cost of materials, are estimated by the
management on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by
the major contractors/suppliers/vendors involved and the experience
of the management. Because of the nature of the construction industry,
management will make adjustments, where appropriate, to the amounts
of construction revenue and/or costs based on regular review of contract
work progress and estimated construction revenue and costs.

4.
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

In addition, during the early stages of a contract it is often the case that
the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably. When the
outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue
is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to
be recoverable. The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of
construction contracts based on latest facts and circumstances occurred
in the construction contracts, and past experience in conducting similar
construction work. When there is a change in the expectation as to
when the outcome of construction contracts can be estimated reliably,
the Group will adjust the amounts of contract costs and contract profit
to be recognised in profit or loss prospectively.

The Group also monitors the collectibility of payments from contract
customers against variation works and claims, which highly depends on
whether the values of work carried out are certified by the employers’
engineers of the respective projects. If there is indication that the
construction cost incurred becomes irrecoverable, the Group will
reassess the outcome of the contracts and recognise impairment losses,
where appropriate.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 March 2018 at their fair value of approximately
HK$14,263,000 (2017: HK$866,120,000). The fair value was based on
valuation of these properties conducted by independent qualified
professional valuers using property valuation techniques which adopt
the direct comparison approach by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant markets. Favourable or
unfavourable changes would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group's investment properties and corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Determination of net realisable value of land
held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development, properties under development and
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The net realisable value is the estimated selling price (based on
the direct comparison method) less estimated selling expenses and
estimated cost of completion (if any), which are determined based on
best available information and valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling
price, revision in estimated selling expenses and/or estimated cost of
completion arising from any changes to the property market conditions
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the UAE, additional loss may be recognised
in profit or loss on the Group's land held for property development,
properties under development and properties held for sale, which had
a total carrying amount of HK$1,225 million (2017: HK$929 million) as at
31 March 2018.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill carried as an asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018 was HK$47,561,000
(2017: HK$44,686,000), details of which are set out in note 16 to the
financial statements.

Income tax

As at 31 March 2018, deferred tax assets in relation to unused tax
losses of HK$76,758,000 (2017: HKS$12,475,000) in aggregate have
been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of tax losses of
HK$543,948,000 (2017: HK$377,150,000) as at 31 March 2018 due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of relevant entities of the Group
(note 36(a)). The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. In cases where the actual future profits generated
are less or more than expected, a material reversal or further recognition
of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the Group is liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2018, the aggregate amount of temporary differences of
the unremitted earnings associated with investments in subsidiaries
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position was
approximately HK$1,850,000 (2017: HK$259,646,000), details of which are
set out in note 36(b) to the financial statements.

Any changes in the plan of dividend distribution by relevant entities
of the Group would result in changes in the amount of deferred
tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and corresponding adjustments to the amount of tax expense
recognised in profit or loss.

Recoverability of an investment deposit and partial
consideration paid for a rescinded acquisition
transaction

As disclosed in note 24(a) to the financial statements, as at 31 March
2018, an investment deposit and partial consideration of HK$148 million
in total (defined in note 24(a) as the “Debt”) was paid to the Entity (as
defined in note 24(a)) for the acquisition of a subsidiary in prior years.
The acquisition transaction was rescinded during the previous financial
year and the Entity shall refund the Debt to the Group. In considering
the recoverability of the Debt, the directors of the Company took into
account of (i) its action plan to recover the Debt which includes certain
legal actions taken or to be taken by the Group against, amongst others,
the Entity and its fellow subsidiary which owns 55% equity interest
in the Joint Venture Entity (as defined in note 24(a)) for breach of the
Agreements (as defined in note 24(a)); (i) a legal opinion regarding the
possible outcome of the legal actions taken and to be taken; and (iii) a
valuation of the land asset relevant to the Agreements performed by an
independent professional valuer engaged by the Group, and is of the
view that the Debt is fully recoverable and no impairment is considered
necessary.

A considerable amount of estimation is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of this receivable, including the current creditworthiness
and the ultimate materialisation of the plan to recover the Debt. If the
financial condition of the Entity is to deteriorate and the Group fails to
recover the Debt, resulting in an impairment of the Entity’s ability to
make payments, allowances may be required.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Provision for litigations

Provision for litigations is recognised based on legal advice and
management’s best estimate based on past experience, when there is
objective evidence that the Group has a present obligation on settling
the claims as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle those claims. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the expenditure required to settle the
claims at the end of the reporting period. Further details of which are set
out in note 44(b) to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group's operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the
Group's operating segments represents a strategic business unit that
offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of the other operating segments.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group has been identified as
the executive directors of the Company and certain senior management
(collectively referred to as the “CODM"). For the purpose of performance
assessment and resource allocation by the CODM, the Group’s business
activities are categorised under the following three reportable operating
segments:

Construction work — provision of services in areas of civil
engineering, electrical and
mechanical engineering, foundation
and building construction

Property development — development and sale of properties
and assets leasing and leasing of assets

— provision of security and facility
management solutions

Professional services

Segment revenue and results

Segment results represent the gross profit generated from each
segment, net of selling expenses and administrative expenses directly
attributable to each segment without allocation of corporate expenses,
interest income, fair value gain of the derivative components of
convertible bonds and finance costs. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR M

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable operating segment:

Year ended 31 March 2018

IR

5. REDTFER

Pl 6= E S 1E))

REBIZ A 2| =E D HEI D 2 ek Ko
KEAWWT

HZ2018F3 A31HILLEE

Property
development
Construction and Professional
work assets leasing services Total
YRR
BEITRE REEHE BEXER% FEEC
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FER FEx FEx
Segment revenue: o EBUER
Sales to external customers MNP E FHE 7,679,501 3,601 547,953 8,231,055
Segment results DEEE 116,336 197,707 26,662 340,705
Interest income F B WA 15,827
Corporate and other 13 R Epth
unallocated expenses RO (59,494)
Finance costs BE KR (66,838)
Profit before tax BR7% AT & 230,200
Income tax FriS i (66,523)
Profit for the year NS 5 A 163,677
Other segment information: Hth 5 2BEHR :
Share of profit of a joint venture J&{G —fA& & A Al
gl 797 - - 797
Share of profits and losses FE(GESE & A A&
of associates K EE - 4,129 - 4,129
Depreciation e (36,460) (6,236) (2,003) (44,699)
Fair value gain of WEWZE 2 A THE
investment properties, net &N - 261,900 - 261,900
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - sk
property, plant and RIBIER 2 BB
equipment, net FER (416) (49) (205) (670)
Impairment of items of LJE Ve
property, plant and HE ZRE
equipment - (10,000) - (10,000)
Write-off of items of property,  #13 - #2212
plant and equipment FAEIA B 2 AR (286) - - (286)
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5.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2017

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers

Segment results

Interest income

Fair value gain of the
derivative components of
convertible bonds

Corporate and other
unallocated expenses

Finance costs

Profit before tax
Income tax

Profit for the year

Other segment information:
Share of profits and losses
of associates
Depreciation
Fair value gain of
investment properties, net
Gain/(loss) on disposal of
items of property, plant and
equipment, net

Construction

5. BEHIERE)

Pl 6= E S 1E))

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

HE2017F3A831 BILFE

Property
development

and Professional

Segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets and liabilities information is not disclosed as they are not

regularly reviewed by the CODM.

work assets leasing services Total
g
EETRE MEEHEE BEERK ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&TT T F&TT FHET
D EURE
MM RFEE 8,308,549 17,389 484,859 8,810,797
D EFELE 149,203 123,389 15,772 288,364
FE WA 20,587
AR E S
PTEE D
Z A ERE 44,386
R EA
RPEEFAX (60,664)
BB RN (56,726)
BREE RT3 A 235,947
FriS#% (30,126)
REE A 205,821
HitpHER :
i /NG
s A & &1 - 26,004 = 26,004
e (47,625) (263) (1,152) (49,040)
"EME L NTE
Wz = = 88,855 = 88,855
HEME - SRk
RAEEE 2 WS
(E18) %5 5,193 68 (38) 5223
AREERAE
AR EZ2EERKAEWIETHER DL

BEMAE  BWERMERTERE -

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g s EU R
31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H
5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. REFHER )
Geographical information & & R
(@) Revenue from external customers (@) XKBEIIEBEFZ Kz
2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHT T
Hong Kong 55 8,092,338 8,693,874
Macau A 84,815 75,398
Mainland China PR B A 1,800 8,951
The UAE o] B 974 1,215
Other jurisdictions EAh R ARE R 51,128 31,359
8,231,055 8,810,797
The revenue information disclosed above is based on the locations Fai R 2 W B R IRIE R F AT
of the customers. e 548 -
(b)  Non-current assets (b) FREEE
2018 2017
2018 & 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHEIT
Hong Kong B 569,192 1,097,912
The USA EE 313,993 313,993
Mainland China R B AT, 4,116 5,741
Other jurisdictions HAfth el ERE = 83,051 106,243
970,352 1,523,889
The non-current asset information disclosed above is based on the iﬁ?ﬁi@ZiF?ﬁiﬁﬁEﬁﬂﬁﬂ?@
locations of the assets and excludes goodwill, financial assets and BE(TEERE  sMEERE
deferred tax assets. EFIBEE) et miEL D48 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

A summary of revenue earned from external customers which
individually contributed more than 10% of the Group's revenue for the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 is set out below:

Customer A: BEA
Contribution to construction work BREETRESEB
segment
Contribution to professional services B E R D 26
segment
Customer B: BB :
Contribution to construction work BREETREDEB
segment
Contribution to professional services BN E R D 26
segment

*

The corresponding revenue of this customer is not disclosed as it did not
contribute more than 10% of the Group's total revenue for the year ended
31 March 2018.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

Revenue represents: (1) an appropriate proportion of contract revenue
of construction contracts for the provision of services in areas of
civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering, foundation
and building construction; (2) services fees from the provision of
construction-related consultancy services; (3) the invoiced value of
properties sold, net of business tax and government surcharges; (4)
gross rental income from the leasing of investment properties and other
assets; and (5) service fees from the provision of security and facility
management solutions.

5.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

reEHEER @)
ERFEEFZ2ER
REE2018E K 2017E3 A31 HIERE

JE 2R B A AN 5 B B 08 B B a2 10% JA
EHSNER PR EH AT

2018
2018 &

2017
20174
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
TERT

5,289,650 4,880,336
2,709 24,556
5,292,359 4,904,892
N/ATREA * 843,550
N/ATREA * 289,696
N/A 38 A * 1,133,246

* HRZEBRFPREZE2018F3A31H
LIEFEWARARNEEE R ESEE 10% A
£ BERRBRES T ERE -

LR - HMWAR KRS FE

BEWAE (VREHERLATE  #E
TR wENMETRETREBREZ
BESNZBEE LS HKA  QRH
EEMERAIREE  QIEEVELZ
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OREHEREMELEMBEE M
WARRER : R (5) IRIHR R J i e E AR
RITERZIRIEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

6.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

(continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains, net, is as

follows:

Revenue

Construction work

Rendering of construction-related
consultancy services

Sale of properties

Gross rental income from assets
leasing

Rendering of security and facility
management solutions services

Other income

Interest income

Other rental income
Guarantee income
Management fee income
Sundry income

Gains, net

Gain on bargain purchase of
a subsidiary

Gain on sale of property interest
through disposal of a subsidiary

Gains on sale of property interest
through disposal of an associate

Gains on disposal of other
subsidiaries, net

Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries,

net

Gain on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment, net

Gains on disposal of non-current assets

classified as held for sale
Fair value gain of the derivative
components of convertible bonds
Foreign exchange differences, net

Other income and gains, net

= 3
TR
IR A RS

HEME
BEMEEZHSWALER

REFRLZ RRIEEE
FORTT R IRTE

HAt A
ESYON
H WA
RS
EEEWA
FERKA

Wy 757 58
#EBE —MRBLR s

FRHE—FHMBARLE
YEL T Gy

BRHE—HBERARHE
YR 2 Wik

HEE M B QR W F

BURREMMB AR
LEye &
HEYE - #as Rl
B 2 W F R
HEDERFHEHEZ
IERBEE 2 Wk
ARREFITERD Z
DFERES
[E N RS

Hb A & Wi F 8
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BERE - HttW A RIS FRE
(%)

AEB S8 Eal AR F5
ZATR

2018 2017

2018 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

7,629,573 8,277,190

49,928 31,359

1,800 8,951

1,801 8438

547,953 484,859

8,231,055 8,810,797

15,827 20,587

83 9%

31(a) 17,713 18,721

1,255 5,833

10,725 10,521

45,603 55,758

42 - 19,282

43 - 7,070

2,075 =

43(b) 19,996 =

5,693 1,265

- 5,223

14,713 =

- 44,386

589 =

43,066 77,226

88,669 132,984




7. FINANCE COSTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

Interest on:
Bank and other borrowings

Unsecured bond payable to the
ultimate holding company
Hire purchase contract and finance

lease payables
Convertible bonds
Guaranteed bonds

Imputed interest on:
Convertible bonds
Interest-free loans from

a non-controlling equity
holder of a subsidiary

Total interest expenses

Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred
in connection with the arrangement

of bank loans

Total finance costs

Less: Amount included in cost of

construction work

Amount capitalised in properties

under development

Amount capitalised in an investment
property under construction

(note 15)

31 March 2018
2018%F3 A31H
7. BERAKN
2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFHT FHETT
AREBEZFIE
IRIT R E b ERR 81,445 70,666
B SRR A ) 2 A
E% - 198
HESO R ERERNRIE
679 1,285
AT AR E S 11,725 788
ERES 2,417 -
96,266 72,937
HEFRE
AR ES 15,420 34,887
RE— G BN A FEE A A
BHEAZREER
6,781 815
22,201 35,702
FEvlN S 118,467 108,639
BRASRITE R L HEEE 2 &8
MR N 2 B £
6,607 4,050
HEE =Y 97N 125,074 112,689
B T ABETIRRA 2 E5E
(12,433) (21,547)
BREEAZHERYEZ
Eg (15,132) 6,571)
BRREARE—HEREKE
Y3t 2 8RR (FIRE15)
(30,671) (27,845)
66,838 56,726
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR R EE

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of construction work

Cost of construction-related
consultancy services provided

Cost of properties sold

Direct operating expenses (including
repairs and maintenance) arising on
rental-earning assets

Cost of security and facility management
solutions services provided

Depreciation
Less: Amount included in cost of
construction work

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases
Less: Amount included in cost of
construction work

Auditor's remuneration

BETRRMA
iR ERR AR A
EEMERA

WEHE 2 BEMEL 2 B
RER> (BREBRE)

ERERZRRIEEEZRR
T 52 IRIEAAR

e
A FTARETERAEE

EXRBOT 2 REREMR
B AABE TR HE

Gl s
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BRE AR A
AEBZBRBHEIDEF B, GIA)T
HI|&IR -
2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEL
7,312,822 7,889,759
37,223 20,631
1,800 7,056
14,489 1,527
480,007 431,081
14 44,699 49,040
(29,809) 41,751)
14,890 7,289
135,806 135,863
(113,077) (117,258)
22,729 18,605
4,733 4520




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

Employee benefit expense (including
directors' remuneration — note 9)
Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind

Share award expense

Equity-settled share option expense

Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

Total employee benefit expense
Less: Amount included in cost of
construction work
Amount included in cost of

services provided

Foreign exchange differences, net

Fair value loss of equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss

Loss/(gain) on sale of property
interests through disposal

31 March 2018
2018%F3 A31H
PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 8. BR®FiAIHEF (&)
2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFHT THET
EERIRAZ(BIEES
B & - FfsFo)
e EUEREDET
2,074,310 1,734,478
&1 22E R 2 38 3,443 -
ARG A S 2 SRR 2 39(b) 2,832 -
RIREFIET IR
64,644 60,641
EERAIFE B 2,145,229 1,795,119
W FTABREIREKAZ
EE (1,361,954) (1,116,182)
T ARRTES A AN 2 B0 EE
(514,314) (414,853)
268,961 264,084
VE R =R FE (589) 372
BAFEABR 2B E
ZNFEEER 25 42
BRLEWNBARLEY
R BB (W)
43(a) 264 (7,070)

of subsidiaries
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment, net
Loss on modifications of
terms of convertible bonds
Impairment of items of property,
plant and equipment
Write-off of items of property,
plant and equipment

HEYE  MRRREBEE 2
E518,(Uezk) F 58 670 (5,223)
1EE] IR E SR 2 518

33(b), (©) 10,132 =

W% - R NEREIRE 2RE
14(c) 10,000 _

Y% - I MR IR B 2 MR
286 =
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors' remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Fees we
Other emoluments: HEMe

e o R REYER

VAR A 4 B 2 P A A R 2
RIRTENIFH IR

Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind
Equity-settled share option expense
Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

Total directors’ remuneration SEMeRsE

Certain directors were granted share options in the current year,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note
39 to the financial statements. The fair value of these share options,
which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the financial statements for the current year is included in the above
directors' remuneration disclosures.
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EEMS

BEBMSHELS ETHAB( TR
B1) « BERTUEHIZE383(1)@) ~ (b) * (©
RO ERAT (FEEEEMNEER) B
F2E - AFEZESEHEELT ¢

2018 2017

2018 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

690 1,132

12,947 9,120

960 -

149 139

14,056 9,259

14,746 10,391
BIEARREREE  BETESER

REE LS DA B PR A R 75 1
BT BEE  HE—TFBHNHER
RATFE39 - ZERNF BT RS PR
MBRE s A FEERREBHEE
MRAFEF AR BRROESFDHA
LREEMSRENR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R e

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEM=Ew
An analysis of the directors remuneration, on a named basis, is as follows: RAZAFREL Z2EEME DT
Year ended 31 March 2018 BZE2018F3 A31HILFE
Salaries, Equity- Retirement
allowances settled benefit
and benefits  share option scheme
Fees in kind expense  contributions Total
e RER  UREKEHEZ RIEHN
ik BNER SRR AR S HE 8 L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THRT THEx THET THER
Executive directors: HWOIES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic [ - 2,965 240 18 3,223
Xu Jianhua i3-= - 3,094 240 18 3,352
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick g - 3,227 - 60 3,287
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant ! PN - 1,662 240 43 1,945
Li Wai Hang, Christina 2 ZER - 979 96 - 1,075
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement ® eSS - 1,020 - 10 1,030
- 12,947 816 149 13,912
Independent non-executive BUIFHITES -
directors:
Wu William Wai Leung thiER 230 - 48 - 278
Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhE 230 - 48 - 278
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang WEE 230 - 48 - 278
690 - 144 - 834
Total kL] 690 12,947 960 149 14,746
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018

201843 H31H
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEMEw)
Year ended 31 March 2017 HE2017F3 A31 BIEFE
Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowances and scheme
benefits in kind contributions Total
wrd o AR EIREF
EWEil FTEIHR HazE
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
AT FAT AT
Executive directors: HOIES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic [ 214 172 1 387
Xu Jianhua s - 2,944 18 2,962
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick g = 3,167 60 3,227
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement B - 2,837 60 2,897
214 9,120 139 9,473
Non-executive directors: FHTES :
Zhang Xiaoliang * EN= 214 - - 214
Chow Wing Kin, Anthony ° [EKfE ° 122 = = 122
336 - - 336
Independent non-executive BERTES
directors:
Wu William Wai Leung & 230 - = 230
Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhE 45 = = 45
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang WEE 45 - - 45
Kwan Ringo Cheukkai© G 131 = = 131
Chan Stephen Yin Wai ¢ BREE e 131 - - 131
582 - - 582
Total ) 1,132 9,120 139 10,391

R2017F7 A 13 BEZRTANTES

appointed as an executive director on 13 July 2017

1 1

2 appointed as an executive director on 2 November 2017 2 R2017F 11 B2 BEZEARTES

3 resigned as an executive director on 1 June 2017 3 201796 A1 BEERTES

4 resigned as a non-executive director on 7 March 2017 3 201793 A7 BEEIEMITES

5 resigned as a non-executive director on 12 October 2016 5 R 20164510 B 12 BBHEIEITES

6 resigned as independent non-executive directors on 25 October 2016 6 720165 10 A 25 AEH B IENITES
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to RAFE - WEREALHEES BN
waive any remuneration during the year (2017: Nil). ZYRENETAMNE (2017F : &) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2017:
one) directors of the Company, details of whose emoluments are set out
in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
two (2017: four) non-director highest paid employees are as follows:

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

10. AEBREFMES

KEE AR FHES BEAQR]
=ZQ07F: —R)EE HEMF
IBER LI - EFARAESRRE (2017
i M%) IEEE R IES 2 FtisF
BT :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & - 284 & E W@ F

Equity-settled share option expense  JARR A& 2 BEARHE R S

Retirement benefit scheme RN FIETEI 5k
contributions

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 2 3,500,000/ 70
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7T 24,000,000/ 7T

2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
7,220 12,894
314 =

120 198
7,654 13,092

MenF T INBERNZIFE RS FH M
BEZABLAT :

Number of employees

EEAH
2018 2017
2018 20174
- 3
2 1
2 4

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

11. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2017:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

BNHA - &8
AEERX

Current — Hong Kong
Charge for the year
(Over)/under-provision in prior years

BIHA - R BRI
AEFERX

Current — Mainland China
Charge for the year
Withholding tax on dividend

distributed (note)
Under-provision in prior years

BEFEBRETE

BIE - E i)y

Current — Elsewhere

Charge for the year RNEERZ
Over-provision in prior years BEFERERE
Deferred (note 36) EIE (P 5E36)
Total tax expense for the year REEFIER S B5E

Note: Amount represents withholding tax of the PRC levied at the rate of 10% on
dividend income of HK$238 million distributed by two subsidiaries of the
Company established in Mainland China during the year.
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BEFECBERE) BHETR

E0IRRLE 2 FRHBL (&)

11. FTBH

EBNEBRNIRAEEANETBEL
2 1hET R B m A LA 16.5% (2017 4F -
16.5%) =T IR B8 o L E M it [ FE R B %
R 2 FIA - TR B AR EB KL 2 7]
FRERZIRITHEANE -

2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
51,837 26,436
(2,192) 613
49,645 27,049
808 4,750
23,806 =
649 =
25,263 4750
2,262 2,196
(5,054) =
(2,792) 2,196
(5,593) (3,869)
66,523 30,126

BY

PR ERIEANFE E AR AR B A AR
37 W T B A B B B B 2 B B A
238,000,000/ 7T * 2 10% Ft R Uk 2
BITEI0RL ©



11.

12.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

31 March 2018
201843 A31H
INCOME TAX (continued) 1. FriEdi(®)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the REEB R E 2 BB AR A E A8
statutory tax rates to the tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate is X RS EERH R E 2 FHIEHA
as follows: S ZHERIT ¢

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TAT

Profit before tax R A a Al 230,200 235,947

Tax expense at the statutory AT R

tax rates Z BRI 37,778 16.4 40,752 17.3
Profits and losses attributable ~ —fE& 2N F K&

to a joint venture and B N Al fEMS

associates R N e (813) (0.4) (3,021) (13)
Income not subject to tax AT 2 WA (51,488) (22.4) (24,739) (10.5)
Expenses not deductible for tax NAJFIFL 2 25,429 11.1 23,013 9.8
Withholding tax on dividend ~ B 2TERREZ

distributed TaHIH 23,806 10.3 - -
(Over)/under-provision in prior @EFE GREEE)

years, net SBETNE - FE (6,597) (2.9) 613 03
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 FIAEE 45,740 19.9 16,412 6.9
Tax losses utilised from )R ST 2

previous periods TIAEE (9,386) (4.1) (20,757) (8.8)
Others HAh 2,054 0.9 (2,147) 0.9)

Tax expense at the Group's RN E B TR =R

effective tax rate STEZBIERX 66,523 28.8 30,126 12.8
DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2018 2017
2018 F 20174F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FAT
Interim — HK1.23 cents (2017: Nil) hHY - AR AR .23
per ordinary share (20174 : #) 23,069 -
Proposed final — HK1.09 cents EERE - RE B
(2017: HK3.8 cents) per ordinary share  1.09711li(20174F : 3.87811l) 20,443 61,533
43,512 61,533
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the NEE BB AR EAFAAGRE
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. REERRAFRE LHER - FAE
f*é"i °

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. XAFRREETRER

172

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company and the
weighted average shares in issue during the year less shares held under
the share award scheme of the Company.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount for the year
ended 31 March 2018 is based on the profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation is the total of (i) the weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the basic earnings per share
calculation; and (i) the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been awarded at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all rights of shares held under the Company’s share award
scheme. The share options of the Company outstanding during the year
has no diluting effect on the basic earnings per share amount presented.

In respect of the diluted earnings per share amount for the year ended
31 March 2017, no adjustment has been made to the basic earnings
per share amount presented as the impact of the convertible bonds
outstanding during the prior year had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
earnings per share amount presented.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts is
based on the following data:

Earnings

SREABFSHEDRIEADVREE
A i R A S B BT 2 T
SRBORREAR ARG EREISE
ZRAAEHE -

HZE2018F3 31 BILFEZEREE
B ATRE RN B REEERFEE
SEAETE - Mt B ET AR TR INAE T
BEBLT ZEM : (VitEESRELRR
BT R @A N 8 K (i) R AR
BRIETEARR R 20 B & T4 a
ZHBEROENZERER T ERERZ
INEEFHE - REE - WRITHEZHER
W EEEREAARBN B ETE -

MEZE 201753 A31 BILFEEREE
BFeEmNE  ARBEFEHRITE
AR ES 2 B2 SRELRA
FEeBEERBELE I EHE 27
BREABN G EEHFE -

GBEA R ERTISE RN T
B -

87

2018
2018 &

HK$’000
TET

Profit for the year attributable to RARRRIEGEARNFE = A -
shareholders of the Company, used

in the basic and diluted earnings

Rt ESRERREERT

per share calculation 150,176 205,506
Number of shares REE
2018 2017
2018 20174
Weighted average number of ordinary N4 & B 3677 3 3B A% INAE 25 21
shares in issue during the year less RARIRAR (0 28RN ET EIFE A 2 Ak (7
the shares held under the share REstE B IREARZF
award scheme, used in the basic
earnings per share calculation 1,701,591,975 1,508,449,313
Effect of dilution of shares held RARAR (0 £EENET B35 B 2 IR
under the share award scheme HER R
— weighted average number of - EBAR INE I £
ordinary shares 4,353,098 -
Weighted average number of ordinary & INEF 5 -
shares, used in the diluted earnings REsTESRESRF
per share calculation 1,705,945,073 1,508,449,313
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR B o

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y13 - BBRZE
Furniture,
Land and Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total
TR BER :
By & AE kel
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET TR TR FHT TR
(note (b)) (notes (a) (note (a))
and (b))
(B (b)) (H=E(a) GEIR)
R(b))
31 March 2018 2018%3A31H
At 1 April 2017; R2017464R18:
Cost KA 70,093 339,068 101,074 77,673 587,908
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (31,836) (184,505) (50,877) (52,877) (320,095)
Net carrying amount EEFE 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
Net carrying amount: AREE(E:
At 1 April 2017 201764818 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
Additions NE - 11,199 31,926 3,705 46,830
Depreciation provided AEENFHRZIE
during the year (1,623) (24,574) (11,597) (6,905) (44,699)
Impairment recognised REE®AZ
during the year (note (c)) A PHEQ) - - (10,000) - (10,000)
Deregistration of subsidiaries 9 Raliifil=YNG - - (311) (38) (349)
Disposals and write-off HE AR - (884) (1,330) (1,198) (3,412)
Exchange realignment B % 578 - 66 69 713
At31 March 2018 201853 A31H 37,212 140,304 58,951 20,429 256,896
At 31 March 2018: M2018F3A318:
Cost A 70,692 344,977 128,836 70,999 615,504
Accumulated depreciation ZEERRE
and impairment (33,480) (204,673) (69,885) (50,570) (358,608)
Net carrying amount HRERE 37,212 140,304 58,951 20,429 256,896

2017185 % THBAERERARAT (1/3



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14. Y% - BBERFRE )

174

31 March 2017

201743H31H

Land and
buildings
Tk
BT
HK$'000
THL
(gle1t=X(o))]

(MEE®)

Plant and
machinery
KER
B
HK$'000
THL
(notes (a)
and (b))
(fi=E@)
(b))

Furniture,

fixtures and
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Al

RELRMHE
HK$'000

THT
(note (a))

(P E@))

At 1 April 2016: 20164818
Cost R 62,005 377,719 69,990 99,721 609,435
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (30,040) (191,913) (45,009) (59,946) (326,908)
Net carrying amount BREFAE 31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527
Net carrying amount: BR A -
At 1 April 2016 201654818 31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527
Acquisition of subsidiaries G =N
(note 42) (Pf5E42) 7,890 990 770 1,148 10,798
Additions NE - 16,289 28,522 3,502 48313
Depreciation provided REFNETHE
during the year e (1,600) (31,261) (4,052) (12,127) (49,040)
Disposals HE - (6,695) = (1,321) (8,016)
Transfer to non-current SRS ENE
assets and assets of a ZIETBEE
disposal group held MHEEE
for sale (note 29) & (Mi5E29) - (10,566) - (6,181) (16,747)
Exchange realignment b 5 A 2 - (24) = (22)
At 31 March 2017 7201743 A31H 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
At 31 March 2017 R201783 318
Cost B AR 70,093 339,068 101,074 77,673 587,908
Accumulated depreciation 2t e (31,836) (184,505) (50,877) (52,877) (320,095)
Net carrying amount BREFE 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
Notes: o=t

(a) The net carrying amounts of the Group's property, plant and equipment
held under hire purchase contracts and finance leases included in the
total amounts of plant and machinery and motor vehicles as at 31 March
2018 were HK$26,024,000 (2017: HK$40,535,000) and HK$3,510,000 (2017:
HK$4,487,000), respectively.

(b) At 31 March 2018, certain of the Group's land and buildings and plant
and machinery with then net carrying amounts of HK$8,311,000 (2017:
HK$7,859,000) and HK$12,364,000 (2017: HK$14,546,000), respectively,
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group

(note 32(e)).
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AREBEE T A201843 A31H 2 # 22
MR E 2 ABAZIREREAYD
LREREREME  MERRE R
EFE © 2542602400078 7T (2017 4F :
40,535,000 7T ) % 3,510,000 7T (201 74F :
4487,000787T) °

R2018%F3 8318 - AEBEREFED
Bl £8311,0007% 7T (2017 £ : 7,859,000/
JT) & 12,364,000 77T (2017 4F © 14,546,000
B) 2B T i RIEF A RS KR
HEEER - (EARSBEER —MRIRTT
RUE 2 &R (FiaE32) ©



14.

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(0 The Group incurred operating losses in the current year for its assets
leasing business, which did not generate enough cash flows to cover the
operating costs. In view of this, an impairment assessment of the relevant
property, plant and equipment was performed by the Group based on a
value in use calculation using the discounted cash flow method and an
impairment loss of HK$10,000,000 was recognised against these assets
based on the results of the impairment assessment. The discount rate used
in the calculation was 10%.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

14. Y% - EBERRE@E)

BRE : (&)

(@)

AEERANFEREEERESEBESL
LEER  ZEBELENRSREL T
R RHCEMA - BRI - A%
ERAIRIR S AT ERNFERERY
TR - BB R REETREZT
it RIBEREEER SRS EE
TR B 18 510,000,000/ 7T © 5T &
TR 2 ITaE A 10% ©

15. REYHE

Under
Completed construction Total
®T EEIR e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT TFHT
(note a) (note b)
(Pff=£a) (FffEEb)
Carrying amount at 1 April 2016 R20165F4 H1HEY
fRmEfE 29,554 - 29,554
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 42) WHE—RN B AR
(Bt&E42) 313,000 - 313,000
Additions NE - 701,815 701,815
Interest capitalised (note 7) BEARb 2 B (P EE7) - 27,845 27,845
Net (loss)/gain from fair value ANFEFAE(EBER),
adjustments &yt (21,485) 110,340 88,855
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 43(a)) HE—fEKT B AR
(Pt5E43(a)) (295,000) - (295,000)
Exchange realignment b 5 51 - 51
Carrying amount at 31 March 2017 and 7201743 H31H
1 April 2017 K2017%4F1BH)
BREE 26,120 840,000 866,120
Additions NE 1,188 26,281 27,469
Interest capitalised (note 7) B2 LB (FEE7) - 30,671 30,671
Net (loss)/gain from fair value NFERAZ(ER),
adjustments gt (4,063) 265,963 261,900
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 43(a)) HE—RNEBAR
(BIzE43@)) - (1,162,915) (1,162,915)
Exchange realignment HE 5, R 377 - 377
Disposals H & (9,359) - (9,359)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2018 20183 A31HAY
fRmE1E 14,263 - 14,263

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group's completed investment properties consisting of residential
properties in the UAE are leased to third parties under operating leases,
further summary details of which are included in note 45(a) to the financial
statements.

In October 2016, the Group acquired a residential development project (the
“Waterloo Project”) at No.128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong from an
independent third party. The Group plans to redevelop the property into
a residential building for leasing to third parties under operating leases.
Accordingly, the Waterloo Project was classified as an investment property
under construction as at 31 March 2017.

On 7 March 2018, the Group sold 60% interest in the Waterloo Project to
Top Spring Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited (“Top Spring Chun
Wo', a 40% owned associate of the Group formed by the Group and an
independent third party for the sole purpose of holding the Waterloo
Project) for a total cash consideration of HK$476,721,000. As a result of the
transaction, the Waterloo Project was derecognised and, with reference
to the transaction price, a fair value gain of approximately HK$266 million
for the remeasurement of the Waterloo Project immediately before the
completion of the transaction was recognised in profit or loss during the
year. All sale proceeds were received during the year.

At 31 March 2017, the Group's investment property under construction
with a then carrying amount of HK$840,000,000 was pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 32(e)).

At 31 March 2018, the Group's investment properties were remeasured
based on valuations performed by Cluttons, LLC (2017: Cluttons, LLC
and Jones Lang Lasalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited),
independent professional qualified valuers. Each year, the Group's senior
management decides which external valuers to be appointed for the
external valuations of the Group's investment properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s senior management has on-going
discussions with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results during the course of the valuation.

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 March 2018, fair value measurements of all of the Group’s investment
properties are using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as defined
in HKFRS 13. During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 (quoted prices in active markets) and
Level 2 (significant observable inputs) and no transfers into or out of Level 3.
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15. BEWE (&)

B =E -

(@)

RNEER TIREMFBREM B EREE
FEOBMATE=A2EETYE  FH
PR BEN M IR M FE450) °

R2016F 108 AEEE —ZBIULSE
ZHEBARBNESITEE 1285 EE
#RBPE(BiTEEEE ) - A5 H
STEIRRZMEAEEEBTARBEE
MAmE=7 HFEDE - Fitt - 72017
F3A318  BITZBHEEESIEAE
BIREWE -

R2018F3 A7H ' KEBRKZSEM
MERRIERERAT ([RREM]
AEBE—ZBIE =KL ZAE
E¥ER 40% 2BE QT ERFEET
ZEIEE ) HEBITEEEE Z60% 1
% IR SR8 A 476,721,000 7T ° B
RULRR 5 - BT£EEE EBUERER
R2ERZXSER  BETKRSHATE
FrrEBTEEEE ZAFAEKEL
266,000,000 7T B A A F [E H B 25 A FE
R AFEEUWEATASHERIE ©

7201743 A 31 8 -+ BRE{E 840,000,000
BITHAREB TR EYEDERIESR
AEEER —MIRITRE 2 ER (M
32(e)) °

R20185F3A31H RIEB VB E
& & 1% {18 B Cluttons, LLC (2017 £F =
Cluttons, LLC R (R E BT 7T H R E
ABRAR)ETZEE  AEEEE
FErEHREYE - AEESREEE
FEAFEZEINEGERIAE - LLAR
SEIREYEEITIINDEE o BUEEH
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AR - RMEERIEFR - ARBSRER
E—EEAEMRGEERRKMEEST
ZERETH R ©

AFERRBE

MR2018F3A31H  AEBFBERE
MEZ AFENEFRERTAERE
AZR(E=R) (ERRBEBMBHRE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs
to the valuation of the Group's investment properties:

Key inputs
FEWMAE
Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTABREBARE

Valuation techniques

fRERAM

Completed investment properties - Residential units in the UAE

BRIREME - BE 2 EBEN

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

15. REWE @)

BRE : (&)

(#)

DNPEERBE @)

AT AASE BT E Y (A ERT R A {ER
MhkEEHMAZRZHE

Direct comparison approach Selling property unit rate Emirati Dirham (“AED") 1,050 AED1,281
(per square foot) (equivalent to HK$2,244) (equivalent to HK$2,709)
BELEUA HEYEEMEE 1,050 347 38 ([ 388 ) 1,281 38R 15
(FFEAR) (HER 2,244 7T) (ABE 72,7097 7T)
Investment property under construction - Residential development project in Hong Kong
EEREVXE-BERZEEREEE
Residual approach Gross development value N/A HK$19,661
(per square foot)
FERE HBHRZEE(BTAIR) TER 19,6617 7T
Construction cost N/A HKS4,476
(per square foot)
BERAR(FERR) TER 447678 TT

The valuations were arrived at by making reference to its development
potential according to its highest and best use or, by making reference
to comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant markets. In
the valuation under the direct comparison approach, the comparable
properties are made by reference to those of similar properties in the
neighbourhood.

Residential units in the UAE were valued under the direct comparison
approach, market price is one of the key inputs, taking into account
the time, location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size,
between the comparables and the property. Investment property under
construction in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2017 was valued under the
residual approach.

A slight increase in the market price used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value measurement of the investment properties, and
vice versa.

HEDE2EREERS RREREN
BRENSELEBMMIBETH A
HRHERSMER - RIBFERLBOE
BYH(E - AIE LB R THE S E AR
PUZEE

PR BU B B9 7 (F B A R E R L BUA
B mSERAEREAEL —  Et
R AL ez )5 2 e~
EBAERMEERRIE - 0201793 7
31 HZ BB EEREWETVIRRRIER
AfGME

PR TS EREMIE NS G EREY)
ENFEFERELT - R2ZTR -

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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16. GOODWILL

178

Cost and net carrying amount: PR N AR SHE -
At beginning of year T ATF
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — KT B AR
Exchange realignment PE 5 FE R
At end of year FIRAF

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of the goodwill acquired through acquisition of
a subsidiary has been allocated to the relevant business unit of the
construction work segment of the Group for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the relevant business unit in the construction
work segment has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on a financial forecast approved
by senior management covering a two-year period. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 10% (2017: 10%). The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the two-year period is 2.5%
(2017: 2.5%).

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no impairment provision is
considered necessary for the Group’s goodwill as at 31 March 2018.

The following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted gross margin

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross
margin is the average gross margin achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political, legal and
economic conditions in Singapore.
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16. BHE

2018 2017

2018 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

44,686 =

42 - 44,686
2,875 =

47,561 44,686

%ﬁ/mﬁb\u Fli

BERWE-RMNBARMSHEERE
BESEEAKEEETED AABE
BEMIAERERI

RETIED 02 RSB A AT U E]
CHERBEFEAEBEMETE - ZT8
AP HRE R B E 2 WEHEIEE
STEMRSREREAEL - BERETAE
SBIFE R 2 HrE = 5 10%(2017 £ 10%) °
AREERFRR 2 Re R EERA
2.5% (2017 4F : 2.5%) °

BEASREIRER  NAREER
B R2018F3H31H » WEMNEFAK
SEEETREE -

VAT 6 2l B 38 [ HE 1T P B BRI A RV ER
SnETERIR AT RIEAN S EARK

BEEFE

A%m?ﬁi%%ﬂfﬁfﬁmgﬁﬁgﬁ
BEFEEN —FRERNFHENE
RIEFT R LT R I TSR Mg o0 o

IR

%ﬁbﬂtﬂiﬁ*ﬁﬂl/ﬁ SRR MBI



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2017: 2.5%) applied to the cash flow projections
is based on the average annual inflation rate in Singapore.

Discount rate

The discount rate of 10% (2017: 10%) applied to the cash flow
projections is before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the building
construction and architectural consultancy business.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

16. BE (%)

R ENR ()
ERE

B R ETEB FTIE R 2 25% (20174 :
2.5%) 3 & R THE A N FH FEERAR

Prag =

WeRETEBFTER Z10% (2017 F :
10%) ITEE R AR AT & Rk A BiEF
R MR LWEBE TR

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REE R RIER
2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET THET
Investments in joint ventures, REEREIRE
included in non-current assets: FTASERBEE ¢
Share of net assets EIEEEFE 1,111 =
Loan to a joint venture —HEERRIZER (b) 313,993 313,993
315,104 313,993
Due from a joint venture, included e —FE& & A RIFRIA
in current assets FTAREIEE (0, 24 1,801 -
Total interests in joint ventures S NNCI WA et ] 316,905 313,993
Notes: MIeE -
(@  Particulars of the joint ventures as at 31 March 2018 are set out in note 53 @ AEARK2018F3IANBZFHBH

to the financial statements.

(b) The loan to a joint venture is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed
terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the loan is considered as part of the Group's net investment in the joint
venture.

(0 The balance with a joint venture is unsecured, interest-free and has no
fixed terms of repayment.

(d) Summarised financial information of joint ventures

Dingway Investment Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Dingway Group”) are
considered as a material joint venture group and are accounted for using
the equity method. The major assets of the Dingway Group are parcels of
land located in Miami, the USA, which are held for property development.

REF TS HRRMI7E 53 ©

b) AEABZEFREER S AEE
EERPROER - KARERERR
ERRAKEREERRIREFEN—
B o

© AERAZERBEER  RELEE
TEEFHAR -

A

o) AEAFZHBENRE

REREERARKENBAR (S
EEEDFEEALAEENEASGES
B WERAERSEAR - REEEEE
BEANNER BN ZR B IEWE
BRZ i -

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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17. REE R AER®)

Notes: (continued) MIsE : (48)

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

(d)  Summarised financial information of joint ventures (continued) d BAERRZUBERRE (&

TREGGERER S BROEME
FRE M R B T A BT 2 DA I S B
BERRAREER SR DT

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in
respect of the Dingway Group, adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial statements:

180

2018
20184
HK$'000
FExT
Statement of financial position ~ BIFEiRR &
Land held for property development 35 {E¥IEERE 2 Lih 718,469 742,025
Cash and cash equivalents e kMR GEAEEE 4,443 1,540
Other current assets HibhmEh & E 33 33
Current assets MEEE 722,945 743,598
Current liabilities mENEE (752,685) (743,887)
Net liabilities BERE (29,740) (289)
Group’s share of net liabilities (45%)  ANSEEIRE(L 2 B (EF5E (45%) - % =%
Financial performance MERE
Revenue = - -
(Loss)/profit before tax BBLRT(E1R) i A (29,451) 506
(Loss)/profit for the year and RNEE (BR),IamF Rk
total comprehensive (loss)/ NEEE2E(FX), WS
income for the year (29,451) 506
Group's share of profit for the year NG B (R AN [ g A
and total comprehensive income R AN S 2 E U e 42 7B (45%)
* *

for the year (45%)

The Group has discontinued sharing the loss of the Dingway Group

because the share of its loss has exceeded the Group's investment
in it and the Group has no obligation to take up further of its losses.
The amount of the Group’s accumulated unrecognised share of the
loss of the Dingway Group for the current year was HK$13,383,000

(2017: HK$130,000).
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AEBEREDERESEZE
B AEGEBEEBRAS
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EHEMEE - RAFEAEERR
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4 %8 /513,383,000 7% 7T (2017 £F :
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17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

The following table illustrates the financial information of a joint venture of

the Group that is not material:

Share of the joint venture’s profit
for the year
Share of the joint venture's other
comprehensive loss for the year
Share of the joint venture’s total
comprehensive income for the year
Aggregate carrying amount of
the Group's investments
in the joint venture

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Investments in associates, included
in non-current assets:
Share of net assets, excluding
goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition
Due from associates

Investment in an associate, included in
non-current assets held for sale
in current assets:
Share of net assets
Deemed capital contributions
Loans to an associate

Due from associates, included
in current assets

Due to associates, included
in current liabilities

Total interests in associates

Summarised financial information of joint ventures (continued)

[EIHE SRR 2 AFEHT

i
ESEE

BIEARERRZAFERE

Wz a8
REERAERRZRELZ
HBERE(E

REFERBZIRE
FFAIEREEE:
FEIEBEFE
(BREBZHN)
WRELZHE

BN RZ R

R—EBE QR E
S ARENE E T FHE
HEZIFRBDEE:

B EF#E
BIEERNEE

BERRZER

B REZ R
SEAREEE

REEENR) 2 IR
FRARBRE

NN Sk

BERAZ ANFEEM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

17. REE R AIER®)
iEE ()
@) ASAAZHBEEEHEE (&)

TRESIAEE? —MABAR LT
EX) 2B EREES

2018
2018 £

HK$’000
TERT

797 =
(421) -

376 =

1,111 =

18. REEZE N AIfER

2018
2018

2017
20174
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
TET

58,098 75,810

(b) 3,848 =
(@] 322,143 153
384,089 75,963

- 17,886

(e) - 17,584
(e) - 127,972
29 - 163,442
(), 24 5,275 =
(), 31 (12,436) (12,436)
376,928 226,969

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Particulars of the principal associates as at 31 March 2018 are set out in
note 54 to the financial statements.

(b)  The addition of goodwill during the year arose from the acquisition of a
construction company in Macau at a cash consideration of MOP4 million.

(©) The balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the balances are considered as part of the Group's net investments in the
associates.

(d) Summiarised financial information of associates

Top Spring Chun Wo and its subsidiary (the “TSCWPD Group”) are
considered as a material associate group and are accounted for using the
equity method. The major asset of the TSCWPD Group is the Waterloo
Project, which is held for property development.

The follow tables illustrate the summarised financial information in respect
of the TSCWPD Group, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies
and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial statements:

18. REtE NRIER (@)

BRE

(@)

FEEBENAIN2018F3A3HZ
FEBHR M SRR T 54

AEEEHEEMRENBEESRE
40000008 T iE — RRPIEE A )

SRS N FIMERE < AR R EEN 28
R 3 8 B FESE R HIR © AAREERR
B ARSI EEREE AR
REFEL—ED °

B2 NRIM S E R E

HREEMREMBAR ((RREMYZE
BREE ) REREASEE - IR
AN - REEFYEEREE
ZERBERFENERRZBITEE
EH -

TRISIREENNERREEF @3t
BRI 2 B0 IF I BB OB A R
B2 AR RE B RREHEENLHED
i

Statement of financial position B R &

Property under development BRI

Cash and cash equivalents Re kMR EEAEEBE

Other current assets HibRBEE

Current assets MENE E

Current liabilities REAG

Net assets BEFAE

Reconciliation to the Group's NEB R E R AR 2 ¥R ¢

interest in the associate:
Proportion of the Group's ownership {h AR E BT AR B Dt

Group's share of net assets of 7GR B R (R B R B & S FE(40%)
the associate (40%)
Amount due from the associate FEURHS: & A Rl 5RIE

Carrying amount of the investment ~ #%& Z BREIE

Financial performance B RE

Revenue =

Group's share of profit IR B (R AN [ g A
for the year

1,163,588 =
10,147 =
128,561 =

1,302,296 =

(1,301,900) =

396 =

40% =

158 =
321,990 =

322,148 =

158 =
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18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

Summarised financial information of associates (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the
Group's associates that are not individually material:

Share of the associates’ EEBEATDEZHBESRAX
comprehensive income or loss:
Profit for the year AN A
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  E 2 E s/ (F)
Total comprehensive income 2H W AT
Share of the associates’ assets EHBEARNEEREE
and liabilities:
Included in non-current assets: FTASERBIEEE -
Non-current assets ERBEE
Current assets MENE E
Current liabilities mEAE
Included in non-current assets

FEARBEETR{FHEZ

held for sale in current assets: ERBEE ¢

Current assets MENE B
Non-current liabilities IERBAE
Current liabilities mEBAE
Aggregate share of net assets of FE(EHRGE AR B EFE 2 858

the associates

The balances as at 31 March 2017 represented interest-free shareholders’
loans with an aggregate principal amount of HK$142,831,000 provided
by the Group to Loyal Pioneer Limited (“Loyal Pioneer’, a then associate)
which are repayable on or before end of year 2021. The initial fair value of
the loans at inception is determined by the discounted cash flow method
using discount rates based on borrowing rates ranging from 2.479% to
2.692% per annum. The difference of HK$272,000 between the fair value of
the loans and the amounts received on initial recognition was treated as
deemed capital contributions and recognised directly in the “Investments
in associates”. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the amounts
advanced to Loyal Pioneer included in the investments in associates above
are considered as the Group’s investment in Loyal Pioneer.

On 31 March 2017, the Group entered into a sales and purchase agreement
with an independent third party for the disposal of the Group’s entire
10% equity interest in Loyal Pioneer and the transaction was completed
on 19 May 2017. The Group's investment in Loyal Pioneer is classified as a
non-current asset held for sale as at 31 March 2017. Further details of the
transaction are set out in note 29(b) to the financial statements.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

18. REEE N TIRER (&)

BRE : (&)

(d

BN RIS ERBE ()

TREGIAEEZ (BRI SEE A A A
ZRBITER

2018 2017
2018 &

20174
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
TR

3,971 26,004
404 (99)
4,375 25,905
38,925 56,839
19,223 19,562
(208) (591)
57,940 75,810
- 255,070
- (236,825)
- (359)

- 17,886
57,940 93,696

R2017F3 A31 BE#H AR EE R
mWARA R ([$M] - RERA— B
AR IRENEERIER - KR
B R & 858 5 142,831,0008 78+ 7B
R2021 EERRZATEE - ERNE
W IA A FERITIRIB & mE AR
FRLIREREE - [ERENENTF 2.479%
Z2692% ° %ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁ AR,
Wy <58 7 [ /Y 2= %8 272,000 78 TTH AR 1E
%§$E§ EEQEFF%%QT&
B ER - ARRESRAE  BIEN
;wﬁﬁALﬂ#%%@TEEW)
ERABREERE R ZIKE

R2017F3 8318 REBHEH—FF
MNE=FHHEEREEAEEE10% %
I —MEE W - ZRHER2017
5 19857k o NEBREHNIRE
R2017F3 A3 B DB ABHELES
IERBEE - BEZR DiE—HFHEH
A BA FS 3R 2R 5 29(b)

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

19. LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The Group's land held for property development is leasehold land or
land use rights acquired by the Group for future property development
for sale. An analysis of the Group's land held for property development
by geographical area as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Hong Kong BB
Mainland China HR B A
The UAE B

On 23 October 2017, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement
with an independent third party for the disposal of the entire equity
interest in AR ERFEMAERZEFRAF] (“Shijiazhuang Junling,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), which holds
the Group's land held for property development in Mainland China
disclosed above and certain of the Group’s properties held for sale in
Mainland China. Further details of the disposal transaction, which has
not been completed as at 31 March 2018 and as at the date of approval
of these financial statements, are set out in note 46(c)(ii) to the financial
statements.

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The Group's properties under development as at 31 March 2018
represented a residential development project in Hong Kong, which is
expected to be completed within normal operating cycle and hence is
classified as a current asset.

On 19 June 2017, the Group entered into a provisional agreement for
sale and purchase with an independent third party, pursuant to which
the Group shall dispose of its entire interest in the properties under
development through disposal of an indirect 60% owned subsidiary
together with the outstanding shareholders’ loan owed to the Group.
Further details of the transaction, which has not been completed as at 31
March 2018 and as at the date of approval of these financial statements,
are included in the note 46(c)(i) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group's properties under development

were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 32(e)).
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19. FHEYIRBE 2 Tith

AEEREMEER 2 LM BIAKE
RARYMEZREHEACENCHAE
Tt A - BHERSHRAE
B EMEERE 2 T iR R @ 54T a0
T

2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
34,173 33,885
277,460 253,814
238,470 236,015
550,103 523,714

R2017F 108238 » AEEEH—FE
VEZHEIRpEEGEANERE
R EEEHWEREER AR ([ARE
Bl AR ZzEEE2EHBAR)Z
I AREESESOEXE
BEAEBNTPEANMFEDEZERZ T
AR EFAEERH B A EEHEE
2 BEANERS (7R20184 3 A 31
B R ARE Fs 3R R A B HA M AR TRk ) 2
— SR IB SR SRR M 5 46(Q) (i) ©

BRPY=

R2018E3 A3 B2 AREBERERYE
E—EAEBEEHEHEE - EEFER
THEEEABATE  BMEoEER

20.

R2017F6 198 » AEBEBTE =
HEI VR EE DS Bt AEEH
BB EEMERA 0% ERE 2B A
RIERERAEE 2 AEERRER L
EHRERERYE2IES - AER
5 (72201843 A31 H R AR 15 X #t
EBEEARTER) ZE— S BEN TS
RRBIFE46(0)() °

R2018FE K 201763 A31H » A"NEEZE

EAMECEMTRT  (ERAKEE
BRZETRITRE &R (HIRE320) ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

271. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group's properties held for sale are residential properties in Mainland
China.

As disclosed in notes 19 and 46(c)(ii) to the financial statements, the
Group will sell the entire equity interest in Shijiazhuang JunJing, which
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and holds,
amongst other things, certain of the Group's properties held for sale in
Mainland China, to an independent third party.

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CONTRACT
CUSTOMERS
Gross amounts due from contract JEW A H% F R IEERE
customers
Gross amounts due to contract EREHRFEHRIEERE
customers
Contract costs incurred plus recognised 2 EEAE A HIXAINE,
profits less recognised losses R A - BB R EE
Less: Progress billings W R
At 31 March 2018, retentions held by customers for contract works
included in trade receivables of the Group amounted to HK$539,234,000
(2017: HKS484,288,000) (note 23(b)).
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables other than retention 2 5 B W ZIE
receivables (FEBURE 2RI
Retention receivables FEBIRE S

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

21. FFHEWME

AEBEREHENEORTEAMET
E X

0 BA 765 3R 2R B 5 19 K2 46() (i) TR EE » 2N
EEERA—BBYIE=AHEAREE
S(RARIZEEEZENBRAR LREAR
(A B ETAEENRFRRM 2 7
TESHE 2 %) 2 = E5PARHE -

22. B EAEHNEFRE

2018 2017
2018 & 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
1,966,743 1,888,491
(796,012) (734,827)
1,170,731 1,153,664
44,968,303 42179418
(43,797,572) (41,025,754)
1,170,731 1,153,664
MR2018F3A31H MBEIREHE

FHEEZREESEFARNEEBZE S
& Uk 3% TE /539,234,000 T (2017 £F ¢
484,288,000 7% 7T ) (P 5 23(b)) °

23. EZRIWFIEA

2018 2017
2018 20175

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT THET

@) 1,128,938 1,032,439
(b) 539,234 484,288
1,668,172 1,516,727

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Except for the rental income from leasing of assets which are settled
in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements, the Group
generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers.
Interim applications for progress payments on construction contracts are
normally submitted on a monthly basis and are normally settled within
one month.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed periodically. The majority of
the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate
to customers that have good credit quality with reference to the respective
settlement history.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

23. ESEWFIE®)

BRE

(@)

BREARGEGETEECHEEEN
SN - AEE—RAEFTFRED
B0 ZEEH - FREEANZ
PR HBHE (SRR R — ARIR ARSI MR —
EAREE

REREFNELA - AEERFGHE
EEFPHNEELARZREEFERFEER
B o B P REG AR FR BT A E B
B o RIFAARAAEE RS - AREAH D
I s H SR E A B 5 U IRIG S A
BREEEEZNEFER -

RERARENER A2 B 5 RUGK
T8 (FEWIRE € BRAN) BR e 2 4T 51 40
T

Within 1 month —fEAR

1to 2 months —E=mEA
2o 3 months ME={AA
Over 3 months =EAMNUE

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the due date,
is as follows:

2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
998,857 902,579
64,730 64,734
15,892 17,271
49,459 47,855
1,128,938 1,032,439

MREHIR - RIEZIHEFEZESE
U R IB (e R Bl & B 40 ) BR iR 5 1T 51
B ¢

Neither past due nor impaired I 48 FA sl R (B
Past due but not impaired: BEEE AR REE :
1 -30days 1-30H
31 -90 days 31-90H
91 - 180 days 91-180H
Over 180 days Bim180H
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2018 2017
2018 F 20174F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAxT
990,321 906,842
71,577 65,772
20,624 9,513
7,026 9,947
39,390 40,365
138,617 125,597
1,128,938 1,032,439




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(a) (continued) (a)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

(b)  Retention receivables held by contract customers arose from the Group's (b)
construction work business and are settled within a period ranging from
one year to three years after the completion of the construction work, as
stipulated in the construction contracts.

The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention receivables as at the
end of the reporting period is analysed as follows:

Due within one year —FAZH
Due after one year —FIEEER
(©) Included in the trade receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2018 and (€)

2017 are amounts of HK$56,571,000 (2017: HK$65,693,000) due from other
partners of joint operations.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

23. ESEWFIE®)

BRE : (&)

(#)

I A H KRR 2 FE WA SR B A
BRMOIRBERLHIRERFE
B o

B ERREZ EYGIRERE TEAR
KBTS A RIF LS BIEP
B - REBUEREE  ARAESRR
R AEEERUESRHEE - AR
AREZRSEAT AN - WEBA
Shax FREERE L E MR ERHE

BREPREZRKREZ IEL B A
SEZEETRER - WRFRETIZ
SHRPTHE - NIBETIRRIENF—
FE=ZFNEN -

PRERE HIARA S E R [E & B B4
ZHROIIAT

2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FABT
180,737 82,942
358,497 401,346
539,234 484,288

A E B 720184 & 201743 A 31
AR E SR GIEH EIE & E KA
B FRIE 556,571,000 7 7T (2017 4F ¢
65,693,000 7T ) ©

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018

2018%F3 H31H
24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24, ANRIE - RERHEMERK
RECEIVABLES B |
2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET

Prepayments TETEIR 31,795 32,983

Deposits and other debtors e RE M EIRERIE 224,475 226,175

Investment deposit and partial —HEREERER S 2

consideration paid for a rescinded B ERS
acquisition transaction KEBRR(E (@) 148,000 148,000

Loan receivables e E (b) 138,083 20,800

Stamp duty recoverable AT [E] ENFERT © - 128,590

Due from a joint venture —fEERRZRK 17(c) 1,801 -

Due from an associate —MEE R R 2 R 18(c) 5,275 =

Due from other partners of BEEBEMBIE 2

joint operations KRR (d) 25,070 35,070

Due from a non-controlling equity —RMB R R IR AR

holder of a subsidiary B AZRHK @ 2,961 13,180
577,460 604,798

Impairment BB (e) (5,073) (5,073)
572,387 599,725

Notes: B EE -

(@  On 4 November 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase @  HR2015F11 48 - 25 B B A B
agreement with China Chengjian Investment Limited (the “Entity”), BEEERAR(ER DI LEER
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to acquire and the R AEEAGKREREKE - m
Entity conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of CCCC BERARERAELETENMERER
Development Limited (“CCCC Development”) at a cash consideration of AEl([FREBTER]) 228 B 8T
HK$660,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). CCCC Development and its subsidiaries A% - 2R 4R (B A 660,000,000 78 7T ([ UL
are principally engaged in municipal construction, building construction, BERIE]) - RBI TR R EB AR
and construction of build transfer, build-operate-transfer, public-private FERPREEEMHIEE BT -
partnership projects, property development and investment in the PRC. RABE —BR - g — 25—

X AREEEAER  MEERRKR
& o
The Acquisition was rescinded on 31 March 2017 pursuant to a W HE =R IE R 201763 A 31 H & H/EH -
supplemental agreement dated 25 August 2016 as the Acquisition did not ThiRE B B A2016F8 A 25 HEET 8
complete on or before the long stop date, and any investment deposit s - ARKEE SRR ARRE LB
and consideration paid (the “Debt”) by the Group for the Acquisition sk 2 AISERK + AEBIF SIS
are refundable from the Entity. At 31 March 2018, the Debt amounted miREZEERRE(EB]) IRES
to HK$148 million. Further details of the Acquisition are set out in the RE - R2018F3H3NH EHEHE
Company’s announcement and circular dated 25 August 2016 and #%5148,000,000 7T © A BB BIEAE
30 September 2016, respectively. —FFFEARERARAE A ER2016
F8HBHB A E K20165F9H30H
BB L
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

For the purpose of recovering the Debt in connection with the rescinded
acquisition transaction, on 26 June 2017, the Group entered into a series
of agreements (the “Agreements"*) with, amongst others, the Entity and
its fellow subsidiary, pursuant to which the parties agreed (i) to dispose
of a joint venture entity (the “Joint Venture Entity”) which holds certain
parcels of land in the USA; (ii) to jointly appoint an independent valuer and
a property agent to materialise the disposal transaction by 26 December
2017; and (iii) the relevant sale proceeds shall firstly be applied to refund
the Debt to the Group and the refund shall be made by 26 March 2018.
However, the sale of the Joint Venture Entity was not materialised and in
February 2018, the Group has initiated lawsuits against the Entity and its
affiliates for breaching the Agreements.

In considering the recoverability of the Debt, the management took into
account of (i) its action plan to recover the Debt which includes certain
legal actions taken or to be taken by the Group against, amongst others,
the Entity and its fellow subsidiary which owns 55% equity interest in
the Joint Venture Entity for breach of the Agreements; (i) a legal opinion
regarding the possible outcome of the legal actions taken and to be
taken; and (iii) a valuation of the aforesaid land asset of the Joint Venture
Entity, which is relevant to the Agreements, performed by an independent
professional valuer engaged by the Group, and is of the view that the Debt
is fully recoverable and no impairment is considered necessary.

*  Further details of the Agreements are not disclosed as they were
entered into on a confidential basis.

Loan receivables, which are loans provided to some independent third
parties and a number of business partners of the Group, bear interest at
rates ranging from 7% to 13% per annum (2017: 8% to 13% per annum)
and are repayable within 1 year. The loan receivables are secured by (i)

certain trade payables owed by the Group to the business partners; or (ii)
shipping vessels held by a borrower.

Stamp duty recoverable as at 31 March 2017 was stamp duty paid to
Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong (the “IRD") upon the acquisition
of the Waterloo Project during the year ended 31 March 2017. The amount
is expected to be refunded by the IRD within 1 year upon fulfillment of
certain conditions relating to the redevelopment of the acquired property.
The Group’s property interests in the Waterloo Project was disposed of on
7 March 2018, further details of which are included in note 43(a)(i) to the
financial statements. As a result, the Group derecognised the stamp duty
recoverable.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

24, A -

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

BE R EA B

15 ()

BieE : (8

(@)

(%)

RWEEBHERERSEB2ESM
= R20175F6 A26H « AEBRE(H
FEE)BEEBRERRHBARGI M —
Ryl ((ZEmE1) @ Bk &5
HRE () B E—FHREBRFFE THiR
ZEEBR(EE4ER]))  WHERE
F—BBHERME —BYENRE -
R2017F 12 206BRMEEHERS
K iy AR E TS R EE E St ARRA
AEBREBERKRAR2018F3 A 26
HATRIE - A - HEAEEBIRE
T RR2018F2 8 AEEERER
ZEMEmMAEREREBB ARG

H o

RERERZ JROIEER - EREEE
B () KW OB 2 1TEp51 8] - BIEA%
EpERZ S m A (RR ) '
BEERRMEBAR (EEEEER
550 B ) T 2 fe e sk TR 2B T
SRR () BRABRERK T IRE
ZERBHRDBZ AR ERERER R
(i AEERE 2 — R BT BXEERD
s b B2 E AR A S EEE 2 i
BEMEZGE  URABEBABER
B3 B E R IRE

* HRBRIZARERANETL - AR
M E— B AL REE -

BRERDAAEEETBYIE =K
SZEXBBHRENER - §FENT
7% % 13% (20175 : |FE8WE 13%) A
FIRFTE - AR —FREE - ZEKE
AT LA () ANER B 4B R SRR 2 S e
ERFR ¢ (D& A H5B 2 MM EHER -

R 201743 A31 8 2 a] Y Bl ENFERL Th
REZE2017F3A3BLEFEAREH
iEEiTEBIEA R ENBEBRBER
([FIEB]) MENER - SRR
SEREFFE B E 2 HEE TIEE
B —FANBBRBRERD - NEBREIT
ZEIHE 2 EERD R 201837
AHE - #E— S BERR M BSREM T
43()() ° AL - AEBBUERER A UKE
ENFERS ©

FERERSEER - 28 RRRERE

2017183 DMBSERZERBIRDF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)  Allowance for impairment of other receivables was made against certain
individual advance payments with an aggregate amount of HK$5,073,000
(2017: HKS5,073,000) in relation to development costs of property
development projects. The directors of the Company believe that the
recoverability of these receivables is in doubt as these amounts have been
outstanding for a number of years and accordingly allowance had been
made for the full amounts of these advance payments in prior years.

SALES DEPOSITS RECEIVED HELD IN AN ESCROW
ACCOUNT/SALES DEPOSITS RECEIVED FOR SALE
OF A PROPERTY INTEREST

The balances related to the deposits received from an independent
third party in connection with the sale of the Group's 60% interest in a
residential development project (the “T PLUS Project”) located at No. 2
Tsing Min Path, Tuen Mun, Hong Kong to the independent third party in
accordance with a provisional agreement for sale and purchase entered
on 19 June 2017.

25.

As at 31 March 2018, deposit payments with a total amount of HK$297
million have been received by the Group. Pursuant to the agreement, all
deposit payments received shall be held in an escrow account and can
only be applied for payments of construction costs and professional fees
in connection with the T PLUS Project.

Further details of the sale transaction, which remains uncompleted as
at the date of approval of these financial statements, are set out in note
46(c)(i) to the financial statements.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIRVALUE THROUGH
PROFIT ORLOSS

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of the Group as at
31 March 2018 and 2017 were equity investments listed outside Hong

Kong, which are classified as held for trading and stated at quoted
market value (Level 1 fair value measurement).

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

26.

27.

24, EANFIE - RERHMBEWRF

I8 (&)

Bt © (48)

@  HERFIBREEFE RS
B RFEA A 2 & T EB 2 R IBAE
5,073,000 7T (2017 £ : 5,073,000 7T)
MIEH ° R ZSREUFIECH AR K
F - AR AEEHZFFORA RO M
%@% A ERBEFEBEEEEN
FRIE ©

FHRTEERF2EWEER
& HE—BYXERZZER
HERS

LSRR A TLRIE R 2017 F 6 A19H L
ZBREEEREAN—RBYE =S
AEBBMNEBEPIFTBE2RMEE
ERYME(SETPLUS)IERE |)60%HE
HMEZBEYE = W ZIEE ©

25.

R2018F3A31H » AEEE WK B%E
/297,000,000 7T 2 2 £ 5B © RIE %
W% BWEZ 23RS HKEE FRRN
AERF WRARAEXNEEEBR
BRI REEEA -

HER S 2 — B (R ILEZ TN
W& A BRI ) SRR T
46(0)() °

26. BRAVEFABRZRARKRE

R2018F K 20173 A31 8 » RERIR
NFEABRE 2 BRAIEE BE BRI
ETRAKRE  EoEABEEE KA
HEmEIR(BE—RAFET=E) °

27. SRFIBPEREEHFR

2018
2018 &

HK$’000
TET

Restricted cash for issuance of MEHERZR
guarantees ke

Pledged deposits for general M—RRERITRIE 2
banking facilities [REZ BTN

Restricted cash and pledged deposits ~ 5ZBR 35 & & EIIFF R

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18
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(b) 30,405 45,125
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

(continued)

28.

Notes:

(@)

In respect of the sale of the properties held for sale in the PRC, the
Group entered into agreements with certain banks in the PRC to arrange
mortgage loans to eligible purchasers of the Group’s properties held for
sale and pursuant to which, the Group is required to place at designated
bank accounts certain amounts as guarantee deposits for potential
default in repayment of mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers.
Such guarantee deposits will be released after the property ownership
certificates of the relevant properties have been passed to the banks.
At 31 March 2018, such guarantee deposits amounted to RMB5,540,000
(equivalent to HK$6,925,000) (2017: RMB5,583,000, equivalent to
HK$6,294,000).

The pledged deposits have been placed in designated banks as part of the
securities given to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 32(e)).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances other than

e MIRTTHER

time deposits (T BIEEBfFR)
Time deposits TE BAfE 3R
Total cash and bank balances e RIRITHEBBTE
Less: Restricted cash and pledged B ZRFIIR S R EEAER
deposits (note 27) (Mg=E27)

Cash and cash equivalents

Notes:

(@)

Re MRS EERRB

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“‘RMB”) amounted to approximately
HK$343,541,000 (2017: HK$349,461,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between 8 days and
1 year depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

fias -

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

27. TRHEBERESEBEFERE

AP EHEMEZHEENS + &
EEEFEE TR TR Bk - AASE
B EHEMEZ S BRERTHHRIE
B o Bt - AEEAZSEETRITE
ATFEABTRE  (EAWEBERE IR
R (BB FESN 2 IRBE R 2 R
G ZERRTREBREBMEZ
MEFMBEZERCEIBITEER -
R2018F3 A31 8 ARAEREFERE
A B # 5,540,000 7T (48 & 74 6,925,000 7
J0) (2017 : AR #¥5583,0007C (FHE
76,294,000787T)) °

BRI ERERNETERIT - (EAER
AEBE—RRITEERE 255 K
(P 32(e)) ©

28. BERARETEHEEAR

2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T
1,196,089 1,513,412
821,093 251,378
2,017,182 1,764,790
(37,330) (51,419)
1,979,852 713,371

Wik

RMEHR  FEEUAARE(TAR
BDirEzBREeRERITERO A
343,541,000 7 7T (2017 £F © 349,461,000
BIT) o ARBETREE R R EME
B o A+ ARIR AR BICHNEE IR IR BID K
(HEIE - EERMNESEETE)  A5E
ﬂiﬁi@%ﬁﬁé%«%&I\E%%Zfﬁﬁﬂ%/\
R HEME

RITRSLGARTERNEAEZF
B)FRERERA S o RFAEEER S

FX o EHMERZERBNFRET
FAAE - WA R HIE BT 5K R B

HAE o SRITHEMRTFERNII
HriERZ BEEIRTT

HNI 4B i

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

29. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND A DISPOSAL
GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets classified as held for sale:
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in an associate

Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale: 2B AREHE v HEEBEE ¢
YZ - a3 s

Property, plant and equipment

Non-current assets and assets of a disposal group
classified as held for sale

Liabilities directly associated with the assets of
a disposal group classified as held for sale:
Other payables and accruals
Deferred tax liability

Notes:

(a) On 25 April 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with a fellow
subsidiary of the non-controlling equity holder of a subsidiary of the
Company (the “Buyer”), pursuant to which the Group shall sell to the Buyer
(i) the entire equity interest in Regal Rich Limited (“Regal Rich’, an indirect
50% owned subsidiary of the Group), together with the outstanding
shareholder’s loan of HK$18,992,000 owed by Regal Rich to the Group; and
(ii) certain dump trucks (property, plant and equipment) of the Group. Total
consideration for the disposal transaction is HK$51,704,000, and as at 31
March 2017, deposit monies of HK$23,140,000 had been paid by the Buyer.
All of the conditions have been fulfilled and the completion took place on
28 April 2017 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the disposal
agreement.

Further details of the disposal transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 25 April 2017 and 28 April 2017.

Despite the disposal agreement was entered into subsequent to 31 March
2017, the dump trucks and Regal Rich were classified as non-current
assets and a disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2017
because, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, these assets are
available for immediate sale in their then condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and the sale is highly
probable as at 31 March 2017, in light of the fact that a substantial amount
of deposit monies have been received as at that date.
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HEOBRREHRE NS
SEEEEZBERMNALE
Ho Aty JEAS 5RIR e FERTRRIR
EEFRARE

29. DERFEHEZFRBEE

RHESE

DIERFHEHE ZIFRBEE -
ER =I5 E i
R—REBERRRE

DERFHEHE Z IR EE
REESEEE

B=E

2017
20174

HK$'000
TAT

(a) 6,181
(b) 163,442
169,623

@ 10566
180,189
(@) 33
(a) 715
748

R2017F4 258 - REBEAKRD A
2 —H B AR EERERIFEAZR
EWBRAR(TER DI — s
Bt - AREBHETER () AEERH
B 0% RENH B AR EEERA
AEED 22HkE  EREERXR
RS E AR EE 2 B EE 318,992,000
BT RG)ANEBETIRES (W -
HERZHE)  HEXRGZBRER
51,704,000 7T PAKR201743 318 -
23,140000 B L 2 RE EREH T -
B &I E BT - W 2017454 A28
AR & 15 s MO ISR S I 2R o

ERLER G 2E—THBHRARA
H 8 5201794 8258 Kk2017%4H
28 HEYRE »

BEHEREN2017E3 431 B 2%
IS BB REBER2017F3 A31
B2 EARBENE ZIERBEERD
EEE  HRARREERE  ERE
AEAEEERZAKE - ZEEER
HEE R 2 AR T A IR HE (2R
RZEEEZ A REBHEEER) -
BR2017E3A31 B EBEE/RE A
BEMETT ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND A DISPOSAL
GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

30.

Notes:

(b)

(continued)

On 31 March 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the Group shall sell to the
purchaser (i) the Group's entire 10% equity interest in Loyal Pioneer, an
associate of the Group; and (i) the Group's interest in loans to Loyal Pioneer
of HK$127,972,000.

Deposits of HK$49,820,000 in total had been paid by the purchaser as at
31 March 2017 in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The
Group's investment in Loyal Pioneer was classified as a non-current asset
classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2017.

The transaction was completed on 19 May 2017 and all the remaining sale
proceeds were received during the year.

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables other than B S IR
retention payables (EREZRIN)
Retention payables FERHRER

Notes:

The Group's trade payables (other than retention payables) are non-interest
bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables (other than retention
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date,
is as follows:

Within 1 month —fEAR

1to 2 months —ZEMm{EA
2 to 3 months ME={EA
Over 3 months =@AMNUE

Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group's construction
work business and are settled to subcontractors within a period ranging
from one year to three years after the completion of the contract work by
the subcontractors, as stipulated in the subcontracting contracts.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

29. DEAREHEZERBEE
RHEEE @)

BfeE : (&

(b) M2017F3831H AEBFBE—ZF
N E=AFIN— O B ANEE
MEAHE () ANEBMALAER AR
AR M 2 10% %M RNAEBET
$2ik 2 B FRHEZE 127,972,00078 7T ©

B MN2017E3 831 BIRBHEGERX
R & A 49,820,000 T © KEE
REE 2 EN2017F3 831 BH D
MARBEHE ZIERBEE -

ZRBPER2017F5 198K - B
ERAFEWERGG T A HERIE ©

30. EZENFIE

2018 2017
2018 & 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T
@) 915,321 1,032,196
(b) 604,453 556,918
1,519,774 1,589,114

MI5E -

@ AKEZEIZENFTRENRESR
51 B BIAE TR 30 REBEE -

RBERR - AEE 2 B S ENFHIE
(R REI SRS AR B BREE
SHEZBREDITHIE T -

2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHBT
558,920 615,846
111,492 213,921
88,366 63,443
156,543 138,986
915,321 1,032,196

b AKEFFAERNRESDELBASE
Bl2RETRER  YREBENEBTES
WFTARE - MO BRETRIBREETIZ
BNF—FEZE=FARHEEHEN -

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR R EE

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

31. EAREA IR B RRIE

2018 2017
2018 20174F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET AT
Accruals et A 301,279 261,425
Deposits received for sale of properties  $5& ¥ UL 2 24 1,654 1492
Deposits received for sale of HHEERBEER
non-current assets and DERFEHEZ
a disposal group HESEBEWIES
classified as held for sale 29(a), (b) - 72,960
Other deposits received HEfeBiZe 8,533 8,388
Other liabilities Hta g 54,085 55,994
Consideration payable for the U iE — B A A
acquisition of a subsidiary ZERRE 42 11,827 11,827
Consideration payable for the WeiE — S AR 2 R RE
acquisition of an associate 1,516 -
Client money received incidental to IR AL RRE B R AR 75 LR
the provision of facility management ~ Z&F B
services 20,257 22,823
Deferred income RIEWA (@) 22,208 38,636
Due to associates REgEE N2 5RIE 18(c) 12,436 12,436
Due to other partners of joint operations K& & ¥ # H B4+ 2 FUB (b) 44,187 10,579
Due to non-controlling equity holders /R {8 /2 &) 8 FE42 A A%
of subsidiaries B AN 25 (b) 7,239 6,774
Interest-free loans from a ke —EHEB AR
non-controlling equity holder of IR A A
a subsidiary ZREBER @) 142,862 44778
628,083 548,112
Portion classified as current liabilities ~ D ¥EAREBAEZIH (480,480) (482,411)
Non-current portion IERENES D 147,603 65,701
Notes: BT
@  Deferred income represented payments from two parties as consideration @ IBEEWRAEERMREAALTZHRIE  EA
for the Group to provide them with guarantees to indemnify them any AEBEFMEZNEAT T RAOAEE
losses and liabilities that they may incur in connection with certain ETEETRAEENEMEBLARE
construction work of the Group in which the two parties have involvement. EREREERORE - SUGIERE
The payments received were accounted for as guarantee income and R A BRI ER A B AVE BB T
recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the respective BHRTEETREAMNMERAER -
remaining construction periods of the relevant construction work.
(b)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. b) ZPIAAEEE . 2B NERENE
i o
(©  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on or before end (© #ZEEAEIRE - 28 KAER2021F

of year 2021.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

31 March 2018
201843 A31H
32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. RITRHEMMER
2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx T

Bank borrowings comprise: RITENELE @), (b)

Trust receipt loans, secured EEBIRER - BEMA - 2,509
Bank loans, secured RITER - FEM 703,064 1,438,550
Bank loans, unsecured RITE KR - I 2,027,810 1,507,934
2,730,874 2,948,993

Less: Unamortised ancillary costs B BRIRITE SRR EEAE

incurred in connection with the Z ARBESHEH B MR AR
arrangement of bank loans (19,905) (7,088)
2,710,969 2,941,905

Other loans, unsecured HEMER - EEE @), (b) - 2,623

Total bank and other borrowings RITREMERERE 2,710,969 2,944,528

Analysed into: DT -

Bank borrowings repayable: FEERRITREN :
On demand TRIRER ), (d) 2,704,632 2,934,638
Within one year —FR 822 1,707
In the second to fifth years, E_ERF(BEEEMF)
inclusive 1,515 1,596
Beyond five years AFEUE 4,000 3,964
Total bank borrowings RITIERARRE 2,710,969 2,941,905
Other loans repayable: Hib BN EK
On demand R ER (d) - 1,415
Within one year —FR - 1,019
In the second to fifth years, FERF(BIEEEMSF)
inclusive - 189
Total other loans HAvESRAERE - 2,623
Total bank and other borrowings RIT R E b & T AR 2,710,969 2,044,528
Portion classified as current liabilities D 3BAREBEZ 5 (2,705,454) (2,938,779)
Non-current portion FEMENFL S 5,515 5,749

Notes: BdaE :

@  Except for bank loans of approximately HK$6,338,000 (2017: HK$7,267,000) @  BR#%Y6,338,000/% 7T (2017 4 : 7,267,000
which are denominated in Singapore dollars (“SG$"), the Group's other PRI ) 2 SRATE AR AN oT ([ # i
bank borrowings are all denominated in HKS. L) EHESN - NEE 2 EMIRITIERE

LABTTEHE ©
The Group's other loans as at 31 March 2017 were all denominated in SGS. AEER2017F3A3HBZEHMER
HAFT IR TTEHE ©

2017185 8 TMBAERERARAT (195
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The trust receipt loans of the Group as at 31 March 2017 carried interest at
floating rates ranging from one-month Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus 1.85% to 2.75% per annum.

The bank loans and other loans of the Group denominated in HKS and SG$
carry interest at floating rates ranging from one-month HIBOR plus 1.5%
to 2.8% (2017: one-month HIBOR plus 1.85% to 3%) per annum and at
fixed rates ranging from 2.43% to 6.5% (2017: 3.5% to 10.88%) per annum,
respectively.

At 31 March 2018, the Group did not comply with a financial covenant
of a bank borrowing with a principal amount of HK$840 million and
hence certain bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities as
at 31 March 2018 and grouped into the “Bank borrowings repayable on
demand” category in the bank and other borrowings repayment analysis
disclosed above. The bank loan with which a financial covenant had failed
to be complied has been refinanced on 25 June 2018 and, to the best
knowledge of the directors of the Company, the Group has since then
been able to comply with all financial undertakings in connection with the
Group's bank borrowings.

The expected repayment dates of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
that contain a repayment on demand clause, with reference to schedules
of repayments set out in the term loan agreements, are as follows:

32. RITREMERE)

BiRE - (48)

(b)

AEBR2017F3 A31 B Z 558K
BRIRZEFEETE - FAENT—@E
BEBRITRAERS(BBRITRZE
#B 1) AN 1.85% % 2.75% ©

ARE BRI TE R MEAD B (AT R
DRTTEHE) 2 B Z BT R K B F R
B ERRSBINT—E B BEHBEIT
[RIZESFBHN15% = 28% (20174 : — 1@ A
BBRITRIZEIRENN1.85% 2 3%) K 243%
Z65% (20174F : 35% 2 1088%) ©

201843 A31 H » ANE B KB ST
N4 4 8 4% 840,000,000 7 7T 2 —IBERTT
BRI EHEL - B FRITERR
2018F3 A3 BN ERARBAEN
P _EaltiRTT R EAE R EE D T HFEHR
REA[BREREEZRITER]
W ROKREETZZIBITERER
20184 6 A 25 HEER T HRE - kIR
KAREBARM  AEBAULAE—
BB TASERITEREB U
G o

2EEHERGAMHERGHR - A
SEB SRR BRER G ZRITRE
e 2 THERE R R HAE T

In the second year

Within one year —4
In the third to fifth years, inclusive g

hFE(BEERMRF)

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged to
secure the banking facilities granted to the Group:

(e)

2018
2018 £
HK$’000
T8 T
1,632,699 2,461,174
247,482 442125
824,451 32,754
2,704,632 2,936,053

R|EHR - EHATEE - (ERE%
EERITRIE 2 HER

Property, plant and equipment Y% - HeEs KR

Investment property under TR E M
construction

Properties under development BRI

Bank deposits RITIFR
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14(b)

15(b)
20
27(b)

2018
2018 5
HK$’000
FET
20,675 22,405
- 840,000
667,994 398,437
30,405 45,125
719,074 1,305,967
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31 March 2018
201843 A31H

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 32. RITREMER @)
Notes: (continued) MisE :« (48)
(e)  (continued) e (&

In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group has
pledged the equity interest in a non-wholly-owned subsidiary to secure a
banking facility granted to the Group.

As at 31 March 2018, certain of the Group’s bank borrowings in the total
amount of HK$6,338,000 (2017: HK$7,267,000) were guaranteed by the
non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary. In addition, the Group’s
other loans as at 31 March 2017 in the total amount of HK$2,623,000 were
guaranteed by non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary.

B _ESCRTai A S+ 72018 4F & 2017 FF
3A31 8 AKEBEEEFER —FEIEE
BBHNEB AR ZIRE  (EAETAS
B RITRE A 2 IR o

MR2018F3831H AEBREA
6,338,00078 7T (2017 £F © 7,267,000 7T )
2 ETIRITERBA —HEHEBA R 2 I
ARSI APELR o BEoN - PR20174F3
A318 @ AEB % A2623,000% 7T
2 B E A — M B A B2 A% E
A AER -

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33. ATERES
Summary information of the Group’s convertible bonds is set out as follows: REE SRR ESBIZEERFSAT ¢
Convertible Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B Bonds C
AR EHA AR ESB AR ESC
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(FfzE()) GEAR)) (P sE)
Issuance date BITHH 31 December 2014 30 March 2015 9 December 2016
20145124318 2015%F3H308 2016512 H9H
Maturity date (L= 31 December 2017 30 March 2018 9 December 2017

20175128318

Original principal amount (HK$'000)  REARNE &5

20183 H30H 2017412 A9H

(F8xT) 84,266 94,924 214,072
Outstanding principal amount as 201853 H31H
at 31 March 2018 (HK$'000) NEEZ RS EHE
(F%7T) - - -
Coupon rate ESX zero & zero & 10%
Conversion price per ordinary share  ERZANA A EAL ~
of the Company (HKS) (note) HRR(E (B 7T) (PfsE) 046 1.56 0.72
Note: The conversion prices of Convertible Bonds A and Convertible Bonds B W mREZE2017F3A31 B IEFERE

were adjusted to HK$0.46 and HK$1.56, respectively, with effective from 11
May 2016 as a result of a share placement during the year ended 31 March
2017, as further detailed in note 37(a)(ii) to the financial statements.

TIRDBLE - ATHAARE S A R AT AR (E
A BB E 201655 A 11 HAED B
TR 504678 TT R 1567870 BB
BN IS IRER M EE 370)) °

For accounting purposes, each batch of these convertible bonds is RETEMME @ TRRESFT —H A
bifurcated into (i) a liability component; and (ii) derivative components or ZEROBERD - ROITEBD R
an equity component, as further described in the accounting policy for B - BRI EMEIIFE (7]
"Convertible bonds” set out in note 3.3 to the financial statements. The BMIRES | FETECREM - TRFAAR
following tables summarise the movements in the principal amounts, FEANRKEBREESFZASSE
the liability, derivative and equity components of the Group's convertible afE - TERERSD 2B :

bonds during the year:

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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33. ITERESF @)

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

198

Principal amount outstanding

At 1 April 2016

Issuance of convertible bonds
during the year

Exercise of convertible bonds
during the year

At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017

Extinguishment upon modification of
terms of convertible bonds
Exercise of convertible bonds
during the year

At 31 March 2018

Liability component

At 1 April 2016

Issuance of convertible bonds
during the year

Imputed interest expense

Exercise of convertible bonds
during the year

At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017

Derecognition of the original liability
component upon modification of
terms of convertible bonds

Recognition of a new liability component
upon modification of terms of

convertible bonds

Extinguishment upon modification of
terms of convertible bonds

Exercise of convertible bonds
during the year

Interest paid

Interest expense

Imputed interest expense

At 31 March 2018

HAREEAESHE
M20165F4 A1 H
REZREST
R ES
REFARTTE
AR ES

201743 A31H
F2017%F4H1H

iNCHEEA T
ES TS
REFARTTE
AR ES

720183 A31H

=il
R2016F481H
REZREST
R ES
HEFSHX
REERITHE
AR ES

201743 A31H
N2017%F4H18
INCHIEIEA ST
SR BB HERR
ReEsn
INCHEIEES S
(R SRR
BEDS
PMEETAI R E S
ESEERS
REEZRITHE
R ES
BRFIE
FERL
HEFH S

7201853 A31H

Convertible Convertible Convertible

Bonds A Bonds B Bonds C Total

MERESFA  TBRKRESB AHRRESC FCk ]

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHIT FAT FHIT FHIT
(note (a)) (QE(E)] (note (c))
(FF3E(@) (PiF3ED) (PFiFE)

42,133 94,924 - 137,057

- - 214,072 214,072

(42,133) - (29,579) (71,712)

- 94,924 184,493 279417

- (94,924) - (94,924)

- - (184,493) (184,493)

37,275 82,525 - 119,800

- - 121,554 121,554

1,847 5,983 27,057 34,887

(39,122) - (19,341) (58,463)

= 88,508 129,270 217,778

- - (136,704) (136,704)

- - 173414 173414

- (92,839) - (92,839)

- - (171,270) (171,270)

- - (17,524) (17,524)

- - 11,725 11,725

- 4,331 11,089 15,420
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

33. ITEERESF @)

Convertible Convertible

Bonds A Bonds B Bonds C Total
RKRESA  TERREFB  UBREKRESC #m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHL TAT FHIT
(note (a)) (QOE) (note ()
(PF3E(@) GER) (PFiF3E)
Derivative components TR
At 1 April 2016 R2016F4818 = = - -
Issuance of convertible bonds REFNEST
during the year AR ES - = 92,518 92,518
Exercise of convertible bonds REFZNTHE
during the year AR ES - - (9,872) (9,872)
Fair value gain on remeasurement BIEHEZ
N ERES - - (44,386) (44,386)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 M2017%3 /318
K2017F4H1R - - 38,260 38,260
Derecognition of original derivative ~ FMER] AT R ES
components upon modification of ER R EUBTER
terms of convertible bonds RETEZ D - = (38,260) (38,260)
Recognition of a new derivative RMERT AR ES
component upon modification of BN BE SR
terms of convertible bonds PTEERD - = (22,806) (22,806)
Exercise of convertible bonds REFZNTHE
during the year R ES - = 22,806 22,806
At 31 March 2018 F20185F3 H31H - - - -
Equity component (includedinthe #EZH5 (EE
convertible bond equity reserve) ERRRES
Bm@HER)
At 1 April 2016 R2016F4 418 7,980 17,978 = 25,958
Exercise of convertible bonds REFZNTHE
during the year R ES (7,980) - - (7.980)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 2017634318
K201764H1H - 17,978 - 17,978
Recognition of a new equity component  IMEFT Al 2R E S
upon modification of terms of (R TR AT AR
convertible bonds D - - 33,885 33,885
Transfer to retained profits upon IR
modification of terms of B {izT
convertible bonds BERB AT - (17,978) - (17,978)
Exercise of convertible bonds REFZNTHE
during the year AR ES - - (33,885) (33,885)
At 31 March 2018 201853 A31H = = = =

Notes:

(a) Convertible Bonds A were issued on 31 December 2014 pursuant to a
subscription agreement dated 16 September 2014. Further details of
the Convertible Bonds A and the conversion price adjustment during
the previous financial year are set out in the Company’s circular and
announcement dated 26 November 2014 and 18 November 2016,
respectively.

@ IREFIBHHEAE2014FIA16HZR
B TIRIREFHAR2014F 124
31 BE1T o IIIRARES A R E—BBRE
ERRERAE 2EZFRBORIERER
AIHHEIA20144 11 A 26 H % 2016 4 11
Ri1sBZ@EH kAL -

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

On 7 December 2016, the convertible bondholder exercised the
conversion rights of all its interest in the Convertible Bonds A with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$42,133,000 and 91,593,478 new
ordinary shares of the Company were allotted and issued accordingly. The
difference of approximately HK$37,943,000 between the nominal value of
the ordinary shares issued and the then aggregate carrying amounts of
the liability and equity components of the relevant convertible bonds at
the date of conversion was transferred to the Company’s share premium
account.

Convertible Bonds B were issued on 30 March 2015 pursuant to a
subscription agreement dated 13 March 2015 for the purpose of providing
general working capital to the Group.

Further details of the Convertible Bonds B and the conversion price
adjustment during the previous financial year are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 March 2015 and 18 November 2016, respectively.

Pursuant to mandatory unconditional cash offers (the “Cash Offers") by
an independent financial advisor for and on behalf of GT Winners, GT
Winners acquired all the interests in the Convertible Bonds B on 17 January
2017 from the then bondholder. To the best knowledge of the directors
of the Company, all Convertible Bonds B were held by GT Winners as at
31 March 2017. Further details of the Cash Offers are set out in the
Company’s composite document and announcement dated 12 January
2017 and 2 February 2017, respectively.

On 5 December 2017, the Company received a deed of renunciation of
conversion rights (the “Deed”) from GT Winners. Pursuant to the Deed, GT
Winners irrevocably and unconditionally revoked the conversion rights
attached to the Convertible Bonds B. For accounting purposes, such
renunciation represented a substantial modification of the terms of the
Convertible Bonds B which is accounted for as an extinguishment of the
original liability and equity components of the Convertible Bonds B and
the recognition of a new financial liability (a straight bond) at its then
fair value of HK$93,442,000. An extinguishment loss of approximately
HK$603,000 was resulted and recognised in profit or loss during the year.
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33. A[RRESE)

BiRE - (48)

(@)

(b)

(#8)

R2016F 12878 AR ESEAR
ATTEE R A€ 4858 442,133,000 75 7T
ZAIARRES A 2 FT A e as A B i -
AR &) A Ad 3% R 817 91,593,478 R FT
TR o R A B BT L BAREE
B AR ES A E R EE T AR
B 4258 /Y 2= A 37,943,000 78 TLEE B =
AR AR R ERR o

BEFTZBEA2015F3 4138 2R
e - ATHARESRBR 201543 A 30
gé’é‘ﬁ CARAEERHE-REEE

AR B2 B & b — BB F E IR BUE R
H

BeBREZHBARERAARIBEA
20£¢3H 138 %2016 11 A18A 2
INES ©

REBEFIY — 2B LY EEBRRGT
Winners 1B 2 38 5l 1 EAK IR S B4
([BEE£EHX ) * GT Winners 742017 4 1
R17B BEHFHE AWBR R E
HFEBHEHER - BARBIESME -

R20175E3 A31H » 2 EFAIHAARESB
B GT Winners358 - BRI S B4R
BENRAARBEIASRI2017F1 A 12
HHAZA X R2017F2 A2 B RE -

7201712858  ANAFEGT Winners
Bl —prrEEa i R ([R5 ]) -
RIEZ B » GT Winners /1~ A] 84 & £
(A B AT HR PR (5 55 B AT 2 B % o
HESTREMS © ZREIEABIEET A
HRRES B 2 &K+ b Th R Al AR (F
FBZRABRESID RARIEEE
BF A F{E 934420008 THER TSR B
BE(EBES) o KRMETE L A 603,000
BT WERAFEBEAER -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

On 8 December 2017, the Company early redeemed all the outstanding
straight bond at approximately HK$93,442,000 in accordance with the
bondholder’s request.

Convertible Bonds C were issued to an independent third party (the “CB
C Subscriber”) and its fellow subsidiary on 9 December 2016 pursuant
to a subscription agreement and an amendment agreement dated
20 November 2016 and 8 December 2016, respectively, entered into
between the Company and the CB C Subscriber. Further details of the
Convertible Bonds C are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
20 November 2016.

After the issue of the Convertible Bonds C, the CB C Subscriber converted
part of the Convertible Bonds C in the total principal amount of
HK$29,580,000 into 41,083,333 new ordinary shares of the Company. The
total difference of approximately HK$25,105,000 between the nominal
value of the ordinary shares issued and the then aggregate carrying
amounts of the liability and derivative components of the relevant
convertible bonds at the respective dates of conversion was transferred to
the Company’s share premium account.

Pursuant to the Cash Offers, GT Winners acquired certain Convertible
Bonds C in the total principal amount of HK$107,036,422 on 17 January
2017 from the fellow subsidiary of the CB C Subscriber.

On 1 April 2017 and 8 June 2017, the Company entered into deeds
of waiver with Convertible Bonds C's holders for changes to certain
conversion price adjustment terms. Such waiver represented a substantial
modification of the terms of the Convertible Bonds C which is accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original liability and derivative components
of the Convertible Bonds C and the recognition of a new financial
instrument, which has a liability component, a derivative component
(derivative asset - the early redemption option by the Company) and
an equity component (the conversion option) of HK$173,414,000,
HK$22,806,000 and HK$33,885,000, respectively, upon initial recognition.
An extinguishment loss of approximately HK$9,529,000 was resulted and
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

During the year, the Convertible Bonds C's holders converted the remaining
Convertible Bonds C in the total principal amount of HK$184,492,844 into
256,240,060 new ordinary shares of the Company. The total difference of
approximately HK$156,725,000 between the nominal value of the ordinary
shares issued and the then aggregate carrying amounts of the liability,
derivative and equity components of the relevant convertible bonds at
the date of conversion was transferred to the Company’s share premium
account.

The punctual performance by the Company of all its obligations under the
subscription agreement and the instrument of the Convertible Bonds C are
guaranteed by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, a director of the Company.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

33. A[RARES (&)

BRE : (&)

(b)

201718 3k mMNEE S EHE

R2017F 12888 "ARBEES
A A Z BIKEAX) 93,442,000 78 TTHE A

fEEl 2 EAREREBES -

R2016F 12898 © RIFEAHH B A
20166 11 A 20 B AR BB 173 3% & 2016 FF
12 A8 MM Z ik (A A A Bl B A 4R
BREACREAGIY)  B—RBYE

=H ([T RREFCRBAD RERR
P/ A EIZE TRl HAARE S C - BRAATIAR
[REHCHE—TFEHRA AR BH
2016911 A 20 HRAL -

REITARARE S CIE - ATIRIRESC
B A8 7R $ 48 %8 29,580,000 78 JT A #4
AR & % CB5 # &3 ZN R B] 41,083,333 AR #T
LR - REEH AR RTERRE
EREATRRESFBERITEDHH
AR T (B 4R 58 1) Z= BE 4B BE 49 25,105,000 78
TTEBEBEARNERMDRER -

RIEIE & E 4 GT Winners 122017 4
TRA17EEATEREFCRBAZRR
HEBARWES T rRRESC ~e
£ EE/5107,036,422 7T °

R2017F4A 18K 2017F6A8H @ &
NE AR EECZEAEARENR
BT ABERFABRIGHET LR RZIE -
EERRIEXNEETIRBRESCZ
&38R AT R ESCZ REE
EOTE B KRB RERT SR IT AR
ﬁ ’ DZ@@@\IE\‘F%}]iﬁEWU é%ﬁﬁg
BED TERBD (TTEEE-ARQ

{’Eﬁhiﬂ“@U§>&tféA* (?E}fi
HE) 3 RII# 173,414,000/ 7T ~ 22,806,000
77T & 33,885,000/ 7T ° KAEEL A
9,529,000/ 7T * WE RAF[E B N

e

EAZISEF AIMRESRCHEBARES
HAEE 5 184,492,844 75 TLHRR T A M %
% C BN N &) 89 256,240,060 AR HT &
AR - RS A EIE BT SRR EE R
BRATBRRESEE  TERREDS
HI AR A {E 4B BB A = FB 4B RE 47 156,725,000
BB E RN A RMDRER

RAEEEZ —EEEERA R RIRE
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34.

35.

GUARANTEED BONDS

On 20 March 2017, the Group issued guaranteed bonds with a total
principal amount of HK$39,000,000 to an independent third party. The
guaranteed bonds bear interest at the rate of 6% per annum and, unless
redeemed prior to the maturity pursuant to the terms of the subscription
agreement, are repayable on 20 March 2019.

HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACT AND FINANCE
LEASE PAYABLES

The Group purchases and leases certain of its plant and machinery and
motor vehicles for its construction work business under hire purchase
or finance lease arrangements. These hire purchase contracts and leases
are classified as finance leases and have remaining instalment periods or
lease terms ranging from one to three years (2017: one to four years).

At 31 March 2018, the total future minimum lease payments under hire
purchase contracts and finance leases and their present values were as
follows:

34.

35.

EREZ

R2017F3F208 » NEER— LB
5= BTG 4858 539,000,000 B TTHY
ERES o BRIERIZE DGR EIE AT
fEl - EREFREFE 6% T ELAFR
201943 A 20 HIEE -

HEBESARRERERNSFR

AEERBEHBEAASBEHELHE
BERNTHEHEET YR A THER
BB TE - ZEHESHRAENE
BRERE 8o MR AEHN
F—==F (20175 : —EW4F) -

R2018F3A31H © RIBAEAHKLE
BHREZ B SEAENKETENMEIR
(ERUNNE

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
REHEMR RERENRAE
2018 2017 2018 2017
2018 F 20174 20185 20174
HK$’000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET THET THET TET
Amounts payable; BT E AR |
Within one year —FR 11,184 14,333 10,838 13,666
In the second year FoE 5,550 11,230 5,467 10,903
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FERF
(BREERMF) 505 6,026 502 5,942
Total minimumn lease payments HEHENREE 17,239 31,589 16,807 30511
Future finance charges RiZpEER (432) (1,078)
Total net hire purchase contractand ~ FAEBA#FER
finance lease payables BB ERMFIEEE 16,807 30,511
Portion classified as current liabilities 948 &7 @
REZHD (10,838) (13,666)
Non-current portion FERBL 5,969 16,845
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36. DEFERRED TAX 36. ELEFIE

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated RERE BB R ER C BERRIEE E
statement of financial position are as follows: REBEFEAT

2018 2017
2018 FF 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTHER FAT
Deferred tax assets RIETRIR A B 6,775 5,693
Deferred tax liabilities FIETRIEE R (16,817) (21,326)
(10,042) (15,633)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and their movements
during the year are as follows:

AEEN  BEHELAE/(8F) 28
REBHRHBGMT :

Attributable to
3
Other
Accelerated deductible  Net deferred
tax temporary tax assets/
depreciation differences (liabilities)
& Hthas BEHEEE
BIEHRE ERMEE (BE)FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL TR
At 1 April 2016 20164818 (29,152) 2,543 6,392 (20217)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to - IMAFERNBEET A/ (k)
profit or loss during the year ZIETETIR 11 3486 (23) 406 3,869
Transfer to liabilities directly BERERNBAREHE
assaciated with the assets of ZHESEEE
adisposal group classified as BRI AR
held for sale 29 1,176 (461) - 715
Acquisition of a subsidiary Yets—RB A A 4 (17,695) 7,189 = (10,506)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRRBAT 43(3) 17,695 (7,189) - 10,506
At31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 52017463 831 B B2017464 81 B (24490) 2,059 6,798 (15633)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to - IMAFENBZETA/ (G1K)
profit or loss during the year ZIERRIE 11 636 10,607 (5,650) 5,593
Exchange realignment I 5% - = 2 Q)
At31 March 2018 R2018F3H31H (23,854) 12,666 1146 (10042)

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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36. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(a) At 31 March 2018, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of unused tax losses of HK$543,948,000 (2017: HK$377,150,000) as they
have been arisen in the Company, certain subsidiaries and joint operations
that have been loss-making for some time and it is not assured that taxable
profits will be available against which such tax losses can be utilised.

(b) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2018, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in the PRC for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$1,850,000 (2017: HK$259,646,000) as
at 31 March 2018.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

37. SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Shares

JERE
5,000,000,000 f%

Authorised:
5,000,000,000 (2017: 2,500,000,000)
ordinary shares of HKS0.1 each
(note (i))

BEITRER
1,875,533,8470%

Issued and fully paid:
1,875,533,847 (2017: 1,619,293,787)
ordinary shares of HKS0.1 each
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36. IEIEFIIE (&)
MIEE -

@  R2018F3 8318 - BERASHIEE
18 543,948,00078 7T (20174F : 377,150,000
BIL) ERECHEBEEE  RAHES
AARE - ETHBRARIRALETS -
HE R —ERERISERE - A%
TEASEEE A B) A B AR BB 18 2 FERR R
Pl

(b) ARBEFECEMESHE - RPREKLZ
HNE D ERINEIEE B TR S AR
100 TEFN T - 3Z R E R 20081 A1 H
HEAERR - WA 2007F12A31B&
ZRBF| - (P EEAREINRIEEE Z
EREEF]ATBIEL - BIAHREI(KTE0
HEHH - mAKENS - BARER
5%k 10% ° Bt © SR B 2 5%
KB AR 2008F 1 A1 BRELEZ
BNSRBEEMS @ AEBEEMRIEN
it o

R201853 A31 8 HERAEER
FREIAK Y 2 BB A B 2 AR EE & T (A
BUNTEIRL) 2 BB IR R TR
1B o ARREERAE  ZZHMBART
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37. BRA&
(a) &

2018
2018

2017
20174
HK$'000
FHET

HK$’000
TR

(20174 : 2,500,000,0004%)
SEEE.1E T2 E A% (HiFEi)

500,000 250,000

(2017 £ : 1,619,293,787/%)
FIREE 0.1 BTz BBk

187,553 161,929




37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a) Shares (continued)

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued share
capital and share premium account during the years ended

31 March 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

31 March 2018
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37. BRA&R (&)

(@) BB
REZE 2018F & 2017 3A 3181
FE - ARREETRA R &
BREHHEMT:

Number of
ordinary Share
shares Issued premium
inissue capital account Total
2R B#fT @)
EERYE BRA Rk B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 THET THT TR
At 1 April 2016 R201654H18 1414616976 141,462 477,956 619418
Share placement (note (i) - F/7 B & (B =E(i)) 72,000,000 7,200 82,800 90,000
Issue of shares upon RAARESETE
exercise of convertible /TR (D
bonds 33(a), (0 132676811 13,267 63,048 76,315
At31March2017and 2017434318
1 April 2017 K2017%4A1H 1,619,293,787 161,929 623,804 785,733
Issue of shares upon RAARESETE
exercise of convertible /TR (D
bonds 33(c) 256,240,060 25,624 156,725 182,349
At 31 March 2018 201853 A31H 1,875,533,847 187,553 780,529 968,082
Notes: FfieE

(0]

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution of shareholders passed on
21 August 2017, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased to HK$500,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 ordinary
shares of HKS0.1 each by the creation of additional 2,500,000,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each which shall rank pari passu
with the existing ordinary shares in all respects upon issue, in order
to provide the Company with a flexibility for future investment
opportunities, expansion and growth.

(0]

2017/18 F 3R

1R B R 201798 A21H &
M EBREAR BRBR
2,500,000,000 % & f% M {E0.17%8
TTZHERR(EMAE HEHE
RETERZEBEEBREAR
EHf)  RRARZEERAE
2 1% Z 500,000,000 7T * D A
5,000,000,000 A% & X EI{E 0.1 7 7T
ZERR - AARARZ RRE
BHE - R RERRERER -

SNBSS EREZERERA A
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(@) Shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(if) On 3 May 2016, the Company entered into a placing and
subscription agreement with a then shareholder of the Company
and a placing agent, pursuant to which (i) the shareholder agreed to
place, through the placing agent, an aggregate of up to 72,000,000
top-up placing shares of the Company at the top-up placing price
of HK$1.25 per share (the “Top-up Placing”); and (i) the shareholder
agreed to subscribe for up to 72,000,000 top-up subscription shares
of the Company at the top-up subscription price of HK$1.25 per
share (the “Top-up Subscription”) which is equivalent to the top-up
placing price.

The Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription were completed on
6 May 2016 and 11 May 2016, respectively, and the proceeds from
the Top-up Subscription amounted to HK$90,000,000. Further
details of the Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription and their
completions are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 3
May 2016 and 11 May 2016, respectively.

(b) Shares held under a share award scheme

Details of the Company’s restricted share award scheme and the
shares held under the share award scheme are included in note 38
to the financial statements.

(c) Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 39 to the
financial statements.
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(a)

(b)

(c)
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REFTIRERRERZ &
bt ()RR R B BRENRER
ST 258 T2 R ERFE
S8 & R E &% 72,000,000
AR B ST EEFFEEERD (55
ERIME ]  RG)RRREE A
BRR1.25B T2 R EBRITREE
(HEREERNIERE) RER
% 72,000,000 KA A Rl e E & %
B ([ ERFTRED -

EERNMEREERTABD
2RI 201645 A6 H & 20164
5A 11 BRERK - RAEEERTRE
2 FIT 18 338 /5 90,000,000 7 7T °
EERNMEREERTRABE R
HEEpkz BlE— BRI
RARE BEA20169F5 A3 8
20165 11 B2 R
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B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) approved the
adoption of a restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
with effect from 1 August 2017 (the "Adoption Date”). The purposes
of the Share Award Scheme are to encourage and retain selected
participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”), including directors of the
Company, to work with the Company and to provide incentive for them
to achieve performance goals with a view to achieving the objectives
of increasing the value of the Company and aligning the interests of
Selected Participants directly to the shareholders of the Company
through ownership of shares of the Company. Unless otherwise early
terminated by the resolution of the Board, the Share Award Scheme is
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Share Award Scheme is operated through a trustee which is
independent of the Group. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme will be acquired by the trustee from the open market
after the notification and instruction by the Company. The trustee shall
not hold more than 10% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company.

Details of Share Award Scheme awarded during the year are as follows:

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

38. IR EEEFHE

AREREZR(EEZR]) EHERMZ
PR il B% (0 22 Eh 51 2 ([ AR 1D 22 @hEr &l ) -
B2017F8 A1 B([HMBHE)ER
ZRDEEENRE SHE MR E
E2EE ([BE2EE ) (BEARARE
B)EBNRAQT » WHKRSREERR
HEEZERSE 0 UBIRIEINAQREE
LSBRFE2EEFNRZBBERRMNDEE
BEANBRRERFZ A EZ o BRIEAR
DEIEESRFRERNRILE - TRIRRG
SEENET 2 B A B R 10 F IR AW
T AR -

iR E B R — R B R AEER
SZHEANEE o RIBERMD B EIR LN
f&19 #5 Ha 52 R A R UK B AN A 5] 8 A K 5
REB RS EBA - SFTEAFTER
DETEBIFEEARF B EITRMDEH
Z10% °

AR S8 2 R 1 S I 21
T

Average fair value

Number of
Date of award shares awarded
#25% A 5 BRFECRHEE
2 August 2017 22,590,000
201798 H2H

The movement of the Company’s shares held under the Share Award
Scheme account during the year ended 31 March 2018 are as follows:

At 1 April 2017 R2017F4H1H
Shares repurchased for the Share LA L2 EpET 2

BEmED (HEEe)

Award Scheme (note (a))

At 31 March 2018 201853 H31H

per share (HKS$) Vesting date
SRS
AFECGER) SEAS
0.83 2 August 2018
201848 H2H

HE2018F3A31HIEFEE @ AAFIR
BRGERETERE THEZRMDZE
EY N

Number of
ordinary shares

EEREE

HK$'000
TAT

21,830,000 18,197

21,830,000 18,197

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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38. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(@)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, 21,830,000 ordinary shares of the
Company were purchased by the trustee from the open market at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$18,197,000. The amount
has been deducted from shareholders’ equity and recorded in “shares held
under share award scheme account”of the Group.

Subject to the acceptance of the grantees and that the grantee remain
as eligible person on the vesting date of the Share Award Scheme, the
awarded shares shall vest in them on 2 August 2018, at which time, the
awarded shares will be transferred to the grantees at a consideration of
HKS$0.57 per awarded share.

During the year, an aggregate of 30,896,000 awarded shares were granted
to Selected Participants, who were employees of the Group, pursuant to
the grant on 2 August 2017 under the Share Award Scheme. None of the
grantees was a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company, or an associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of any of
them. The grant of an aggregate of 22,590,000 awarded shares had been
accepted by the grantees.

During the year and as at 31 March 2018, an aggregate of 1,058,000
awarded shares were cancelled and no awarded share has been vested.

21,532,000 awarded shares of the Company granted to certain employees
will be vested after the satisfaction of the vesting criteria. During the year
ended 31 March 2018, the Group amortised the difference between the
fair value of the awarded shares and the consideration that employees
have to pay to the Company over the vesting period and recognised share
award expense of HK$3,443,000 (2017: Nil) in profit or loss.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

38. R EEEE & (®)
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HZE2018F3831BILEE - AR A
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BT ° Az R B R ER R - Wt
AREE [ BB ZEETSIBRE T
BRI ©

BAAR N B AR AR B 22 B = 2
EEABRDASERAL - BIZERG
BR2018FE8 A2BRBRE - B
RENR D iR E SR IREIRR % 0.57 75
TCEE T ARA ©

RAE ZHIRE & ££30,896,000 A% 2 &)
AR 0 1B 3R 5Z AR 19 B2 =T &8I TSR 2017 5
SA2EHZRHERTAAEEEERZ
EFLRME o FEARAARRRNE
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E2HBA(EER LRI - &£
22,590,000 AR S2ED AR 17 2 3% ) B AR
NEEHN ©
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BERMHATFERESBRNAA RSN
HREZERNEEREERRE I
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the
Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing eligible personnel with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, which
will encourage the grantees of such options to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole. The Board will set out in the offer the
terms on which the option is to be granted. Such terms may include
(i) minimum performance targets that must be reached before the
option can be exercised in whole or in part; and/or (i) such other terms
(including the vesting period) as may be imposed at the discretion of the
Board either on a case-by-case basis or generally.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the ordinary shares in issue from time to time (the “Share
Option Scheme Limit"). No options will be granted under the Share
Option Scheme at any time if such grant will result in the Share Option
Scheme Limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
ordinary shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option
Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit"), subject to the
refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit. Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to any eligible personnel (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue without prior approval from the shareholders. An offer of
the options shall be deemed to have accepted by way of consideration
of HKS1 payable by the eligible personnel within 30 days from the date
of offer.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the relevant date of grant, in excess of HKS5
million, such further grant of options must be approved by the
shareholders.
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 39. BRE ()

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board in its RBERLRESRE2ERMNBERELEE

absolute discretion and will be notified to the eligible personnel in the BHONBHNEARSRAL  METR

offer and shall be no less than the highest of: BRI =FF 2&m

(i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotation sheet () AR BEBBRFEh s FHRE
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; R EFAZIROETHE;

(i) the average of the closing prices of a share as stated in the daily (i) REEEHBHZASEZXEA
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business BREm s BARERLFERZ
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and MR W T B 2 98, )

(i) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant. (i) AL BERD < EE -

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years PR RE ST 2R R AN B HA (BN 2012F9 A 3

commencing on the adoption date, i.e, 3 September 2012. H)BET10FERERRERK

Details of the movements in share options granted under the Share HZE2018F3A31 AILFE - REBR

Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2018 are as follows: TR B ERES B FENT ¢

Number of share options
BREE

Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding

Eligible DEY price per at during during at

participants grant Exercisable period option 1/4/2017 the year the year 31/3/2018

=3} 20175 R2018%F

R 4418 EEER RAE 3A31H

REAH fT1EE e RATHE 2R EXXN e RATHE

HKS
BT
Exeg{tive directors 5/12/2017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 - 3,060,000 - 3,060,000
HITES

5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02 - 3,060,000 - 3,060,000

5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 - 4,080,000 - 4,080,000

Independent non-executive directors 5/12/2017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 102 = 540,000 = 540,000
BUFHITES

5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02 - 540,000 - 540,000

5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 - 720,000 - 720,000

1EEmgloyees SN2007  5/12/2018-4/12/2021 102 - 7302000 (360000 6942000

g
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02 - 7,302,000 (360,000) 6,942,000
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 - 9,736,000 (480,000) 9,256,000

36,340,000 (1,200,000) 35,140,000

Number of options exercisable at the REREER (TR 2 BARES R

end of the reporting period -

Weighted average exercise price g7 E
(HKS per share) (Br(Ek) - 102 102 102
No share options were outstanding during the year ended 31 March HZE2017F3A31BILEFE - BEEE
2017. 1718 2 AR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to the first
exercisable date, of the share options granted is determined by directors of
the Company at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme may only exercise their
options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Exercisable period Maximum percentage

of share options exercisable

5/12/2018-4/12/2019 up to 30%
5/12/2019-4/12/2020 up to 60%
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 up to 100%

The Group recognised share option expense of HK$2,832,000 (2017: Nil) in
total for the year ended 31 March 2018 in relation to share options granted
by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year was
estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial option pricing model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield AR EE

Volatility B IE

Risk-free interest rate B ) =
Effective life of options B AR 1 A4 AR
Weighted average share price AFETFRR(E

40. RESERVES

(a)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The special reserve includes (i) a debit balance of HK$7,340,000
recognised in prior years, which represented the aggregate
amount of the non-voting deferred share capital of Chun Wo
Construction and Engineering Company Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, and the difference between the nominal
amount of the share capital issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation undertaken in 1993;
and (i) a deemed contribution of HK$10,240,000 recognised upon
the acquisition of the remaining 62% interest in Mandarin Group
Limited from a then director and a then controlling shareholder of
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2010.

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

39. BBRESTEI(®)

=
Ry

ERBERECFBEHRHRHEEE
AIA7{E B BRERR) Th R AR R R E F MR
HSBRIEREE - RIBBIGET S
H 2 FERHE 2 758 NMERT R AT 1T 58
AT ELREAE

1TfEH AT LR R AE
ZEEEDL
2018 12 A5H iR 8 30%
£2019F 1248
2019412 A5 H T3 60%
E2020F 12848
202012 A5 H T3 100%

F221F12H4A

HZE2018F3831BILEE  AEE
ERARRBIEERETEIE L 2 B
% 1 7 2R 48 B AR 4 B <2 2,832,0008 7T
(20174 : /&) »

MANFER N Z ABRAEE B 2 X
FHETIMEE B HRA A B EE
EfhE - WAt RATER B R 2 155K
Reffet - TRESIPHERER ZBAR
% :

2018
20185

3.762%

67.313%

1.389%

4.0 years &
HK$1.01 per share
BR1.0187T

40. #E

(a)

AR BN A BB i
SERHBBR A RIS ED
®27) -

HFRREEFE ()R UATEFEERERZ
e TE &£ 7,340,000 7 7T+ BB
RTIRERAR(AEEE2EHE
MIB AR < EIEERIRERA -
VAR AR BB 1T 2 B AN (B B K #
193 FEBEEAMBAZKBER
AN B EEME R 2858 &
(VAR E E2010F3 318 IEF
BRARR —RERESRE R
1% A% B2 Uk B8 Mandarin Group Limited
BT 2% R MIER Z WRIETE
10,240,000 87T °

201718 F 3k mMBESEEZRKRERA A
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PR R EE

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

40. RESERVES (continued)

40. fRE@®)

(0 The capital reserve mainly represents (i) the amount of profit (©
capitalisation upon allotment of share capital of Chun Wo
Foundations Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary) during the
year ended 31 March 1997; and (ii) share of differences between
the principal amounts and fair values of the loans at inception of
interest-free loans provided to a subsidiary and an associate by
a non-controlling equity holder of a subsidiary and the Group,

respectively.

41. NOTETO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities during the year
ended 31 March 2018 are as follows:

At T April 2017
Changes from financing cash flows
Purchases of items of property,

plant and equipment

under hire purchase contracts
Interest expense (note 7)
Imputed interest on

convertible bonds (note 7)
Amortisation of ancillary cost

incurred in connection

with the arrangement

of bank loans (note 7)
Extinguishment/recognition

upon modifications of

terms of convertible bonds
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 43(a)
Exercise of convertible

bonds (note 33)
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2018

212

EAFBHEEIZEBRFORE Z=1997
3 31 Hﬁif‘@ﬁ%ﬁufmgl
Eﬁﬁﬁ’&ﬁ?(-%ﬁ%’é%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ
7)) 2R E AN 2 m F; &

& i BT B A A1 FESE Hxl&ﬁéhﬁ/\
RAREE 5 Rt FH B A

BRAIZRE Emzﬁ/f’f%’ﬁéﬁig
%E&ETZ’AQZ{EZ%%E

41. FEBERERZMEE

HZE2018F3A3NBILEFE  BEED
FESXz BEEENT
Hire
Liability purchase
component of contract
Bank and convertible Straight Guaranteed and finance
other borrowings bonds bond bonds  lease payables
MBEHR
AR ES MEHE
RITREMEE BEHH LTmES ERES JERIFRIR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FAL FBL AL FAL
R2017F4 7818 2,944,528 217,778 = 39,000 30511
HELENECED 168,626 (17,524) (93,442) (2417) (14,525)
BERBENRENE
e KR AR
- = = = 142
MBI (F&7) 81,445 11,725 - 2417 679
AR ERZ
HEM S (MzE7) - 15420 - - -
BBRITER
THEEZ BB
A &8 (FEE7)
6,607 - - - -
REFTATHAR RS
%?Kﬁ-r%xﬁ/ﬁﬁw
- (56,129) 93,442 - -
) HE— B LR (FE43@) (490,980) - - - -
e ATk A (Fiat33)
- (171,270) = = =
B AR 743 - - = =
R2018F3 4318 2,710,969 = = 39,000 16,807
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

There was no business combination during the year ended 31 March

2018.

The Group acquired the following three subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2017:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

In May 2016, the Group acquired additional 10% equity interest in
Hong Kong OVM Engineering Company Limited (‘HKOVM’, a then
associate in which the Group had 45% equity interest) through a
capital injection of HK$2,500,000. HKOVM is principally engaged in
the provision of construction services in Hong Kong.

In June 2016, the Group acquired 60% equity interest in Grand
View Properties Limited (“Grand View’, a then associate in which
the Group had 40% equity interest) and a shareholder’s loan
of HK$129,170,000 from the then controlling shareholder of
Grand View, which is independent of the Group, at a total cash
consideration of HK$160,800,000. Grand View is principally
engaged in property investment in Hong Kong.

In November 2016, the Group acquired 70% equity interest in R.J.
Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd. (“RJ. Crocker”) from an independent
third party at a total cash consideration of SG$7,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$39,423,000). R.J. Crocker is principally engaged in the
provision of engineering and architecture consultancy services in
Singapore.

In accordance with the acquisition agreement, SG$2,100,000
(equivalent to HK$11,827,000) out of the total cash consideration
shall be paid upon fulfillment of the profit guarantee provided
by the seller from 2017 to 2019, and a call option was granted to
the seller for a right to repurchase of 70% equity interest in R.J.
Crocker within 1 year from the completion date. The contingent
consideration and the call option granted are embedded
derivative instruments which are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
fair values of these two embedded derivatives are not significant
as at the date of completion of the transaction, 31 March 2017 and
2018.

42,

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

¥kt
HE2018F3FNBILFEE  BHEEK

Bt -

AREFREZ 201753 A31 BIEFEW
BUAT=[HMEBAA :

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

R2016F5H AEBEFERBTE
2,500,000 78 TC I B S B 41 T 42
BRAR(EBEER] —HE
BF 7K £2 B 5 459% AR AE 2 B 2 A
B)) ZEEIN10% R HE - BIBEEAES
FTERBANEREREETIER
ﬁgg o

R2016F6 A ' AEBUARRESK
B /41608000008 LA AEBE XA
BAR(IES] —HEBAER
HEA O REZBERR]) B2
PERRRE R (E B AL E) WER
= 60% & A& & A% B & 5X129,170,000
BIL e REETERNEBNEMER
EES K

R2016F 118 » NEBBE —EBL
5= HUKEER.J. Crocker Consultants
Pte. Ltd. ([RJ. Crocker]) 70%&9 A%
HE o #8358 £ (B & 7,000,000%7 10
3% 7T (FHE 7 39,423,00078 7T ) © RJ.
Crocker== BRI SR T2
MRS ARTS o

REWERS RREREFR
2,100,000 #7004 7T (FEE H2 11,827,000
BIL) R E B E R IR M 22017
FE019F /@ M IERE S - I
MBS RHEE LT BEH
#E— 4 A B 2] RJ. Crocker 70% Z A%
1 o A ANRE R REESRA
AATAE TEWIZ A FERERIRSF
FTE o AARESZTRABBERAR
PTETERR S 5K B K20184F
K2017%3A31B 2 AFEILF
EKo

2017183 DMBSERZERBIRDF
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B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 42, £S5 6tm
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the entities REZE2017F3831BEFEWEZE
acquired during the year ended 31 March 2017 as at their respective BRSUERB s RN EEREERN
dates of acquisition were as follows: N EEFHINAT -

HKOVM Grand View R.J. Crocker Total
ENEEN 2 e RJ. Crocker k]
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk T THL T T
Property, plant and equipment MmE - WRRRE 14 1377 - 9421 10,798
Investment properties KEME 15 - 313,000 - 313,000
Amounts due from contract EREHEFFIA
customers 4,509 - - 4,509
Trade receivables B SMGA 4101 104 3,385 7,590
Prepayments, deposits and BAFE - Re R
other receivables e IR 4,68 822 1,490 6480
Cash and bank balances RBe RBITHEH 7,975 140 149 8264
Trade payables B S ENHIE (2456) = (1,206) (3662)
Other payables and accruals H At JE TR R BT 08 (17,698) (89,536) (8307) (115,541)
Income tax payables JERFREH - - (928) (928)
Bank and other borrowings T REMER - - (11,522) (11522)
Hire purchase contract HEAAORBERE
and finance lease payable ] (40) = = (40)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 36 - (10,506) - (10,506)
1,936 214,024 (7,518) 208442
Non-controlling interests FEE iR (868) - 2,255 1387
1,068 214,024 (5,263) 209,829
Goodwill on acquisition Wb FTE £ 2 P58 16 - - 44,686 44,686
Gain on bargain purchase NERERABRE
of a subsidiary recognised VNG 6
in profit or loss 6 - (19,282) - (19,282)
1,068 194,742 39423 235,233
Satisfied by: ERA
Cash consideration BeRE 2,500 160800 39423 202,723
Reclassification of interests in R Ed R & N AR
associates held prior to BN BEENBARER
the acquisition to interests
in subsidiaries (1432) 33,942 - 32,510
1,068 194,742 39423 235,233
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March
2017 is as follows:

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

42, ¥E/tum)

HE2017F3831BILEE - SLUEH
BARMNBRSMERSEEBEEZRE
A Gt FBommT

HKOVM Grand View R.J. Crocker Total
BEE %N %% RJ.Crocker ek
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
THEr BT BT T
Cash consideration ReERE (2,500) (160,800) (39,423) (202,723)
Cash and bank balances BUREEIR & MIRTTAEBR
acquired 7975 140 149 8,264
Add: Outstanding cash m: RAFEREARENZ
consideration as HeRE
at the end of
the year = = 11,827 11,827
Net inflow/(outflow) of TR B AF 2RE &
cash and cash equivalents WIS EEIER 2
in respect of the WA i) F88
acquisition of subsidiaries 5475 (160,660) (27,447) (182,632)

Had the combinations taken place at the beginning of the year ended
31 March 2017, the Group's revenue and the profit for the year ended 31
March 2017 would have been HK$8,831,617,000 and HK$189,373,000,
respectively.

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Sale of property interests

The Group completed the sale of the following property
development and investment projects through disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017:

(i) On 7 March 2018, the Group sold 60% interest in the
Waterloo Project to Top Spring Chun Wo, a 40% owned
associate of the Group, for a total cash consideration of
HK$476,721,000. Further details of the transactions are set
out in note 15(b) to the financial statements.

WMERZE2017F3 31 HIEFEEYK
A6t REEHE2017F3 8318 IEE
ERARFIE D54 8831,617,000/8 70
1% 189,373,000 78 JT, ©

43. HEMHBAR

(a) HEWRER

REFNEZE 2018 F % 20173 A
JTHIEFEREZEBHENBA
AN E TlFENYEER K
HEIEE :

() H2018F3/878  KEEME
RSB (REBHER 40% HE
mZBE N HEBITEE
THEB 260%iEzR - BIRER
18 /476,721,000 7T © B
RSWHE— P FBHRY B
RFRMIFE 15(0) ©

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Sale of property interests (continued)

(ii)

On 13 December 2016, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into between the Group and an
independent third party, the Group disposed of its
entire equity interest in Grand View Properties Limited
("Grand View") together with the shareholder’s loan of
HK$147,500,000 owed by Grand View to the Group for
a total consideration of HK$293 million. Grand View is
principally engaged in the property development and
investment in Hong Kong.

As a result of the transaction, a gain on disposal of
HK$7,070,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2017. Further details of the disposal
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 4 November 2016 and 13 December 2016

An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a result of
the above disposals is as follows:

Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE

Investment properties ?ﬁﬁ%%

Trade receivables 2 ZEWRIE

Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - R REM
other receivables FEHSZ/TA

Cash and bank balances Ro RPITEEE

Trade payables B 5 B 5/IA

Other payables and accruals {W’EHMIE&FE FTERIE

Bank borrowings fﬁfﬂ K

Deferred tax liabilities BRI AE

Expenses incurred for the disposals & Sz

(Loss)/gain on sale of property
interests through disposal of

subsidiaries
Satisfied by: ERA
Cash consideration HeRE
Reclassification of retained ENHBEAR —HEE AT
interests as interest in £

FRLENBARILENE
e (BB, s

an associate

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

43, HENWB AT (@)

36

(a)

(ii)

HEYERER (&)
R2016F12 8138 © 1B &
AEFEHE-—FZBILE=H

AVYHMEERZ A5 H
HEEREZSEXERA
A ZEZs]) 2B EZER

E\T1—T$%@E’]HX$EW\
147,500,00078 7T * @K B &
293,000,000/ 0 ° A= E &
REBREPEZRELRE
E

HRZR S REZE2017
FIANHIEFERIERR
TR & W2k & 7,070,000 7
T BRLERINE—F
BN AR F HEA2016
F£11 848 & 2016512 A13
E'Z ‘\/_-l:o

B Lt EMBUHER 2 BER

BESWFTWOT :

2018 2017
2018 FF 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,162,915 295,000
- 199

128,662 751
369 =
(1,007) =
(4,984) (2,685)
(490,980) =
- (10,506)

794,975 282,759
- 3,450

(264) 7,070
794,711 293,279
476,721 293,279
317,990 =
794,711 293,279




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

31 March 2018
201843 H31H
43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEMB AT @)
(a) Sale of property interests (continued) (a) HEVERER(E)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a FR A it S T EE AR R IR R BEER
result of the above disposals is as follows: SEBEEBEE Z2RNFELTAT :
2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FA&T
Cash consideration BHeRE 476,721 293,279
Cash and bank balances BEHE 2R RIRTTER
disposed of (369) -
Expenses incurred for HERX
the disposals - (3,450)
Net inflow of cash and cash FRLERBARLE

(b)

equivalents in respect of sale YMEER 2 RE N
of property interests through ReEEERRAFE

disposal of subsidiaries 476,352 289,829
Other disposals (b) HMHE
On 28 April 2017, pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement R2017F 48288 BEAE
entered into between the Group and the Buyer, the Group HE RN BEBEHZE - ANEEN
disposed of the entire equity interest in Regal Rich, together with #730,809,000 B T ETEENE
the outstanding shareholder's loan owed by Regal Rich to the HiEER=EE RN AEERRE
Group for a total consideration of approximately HK$30,809,000. BZREER R201793 A31
Regal Rich was classified as a disposal group held for sale as at H 2828 RRFELENHES
31 March 2017, as further detailed in note 29(a) to the financial E— BRI ER SRR MR
statements. As a result of the transaction, a gain of disposal of 29(a) ° R HHRE HEW R A
approximately HK$20,958,000 was recognised in profit or loss 20958000870 ERAFEEE T
during the year. FREERR o
The disposal transaction constituted a connected transaction BIEEMAR - HEXSEKEEE
under the Listing Rules that was subject to disclosure R AEBTRBEHTE - EEHE
requirements but exempted from independent shareholders’ BPBYRERBLERTE c BAHE
approval requirement. Further details of the disposal transaction R G —H RN AR AT 2017
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 25 April 2017 F4H25HK%2017F4 A28 BHA
and 28 April 2017. & o
In addition to the above disposal, the Group also completed the br Bl EEIEIN - AEERER
disposals of two subsidiaries during the year. ME K EERERB AR -

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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PR AR M

31 March 2018
2018%F3 H31H
43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEMBEA @)
(b) Other disposals (continued) (b) HttHE®E)
An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a result of A it HEMEUEER . EEKE
the above disposals is as follows: BT :

Regal Rich Others Total
EFE Hth i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FTHEx FTHERx
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE
Property, plant and equipment  #7% - #32 & %45 10,566 - 10,566
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - EE Rk
other receivables H {th e GRIA - 965 965
Other payables and accruals HAb R FIE &
FEETSRIE - (3) (3)
Deferred tax liability FIERIER R (715) - (715)
9,851 962 10,813
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HENBARZ
subsidiaries Wz (E518) 20,958 (962) 19,996
30,809 - 30,809
Satisfied by cash ER AR AR 30,809 - 30,809
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a A EdLEmEE 2 Re RERE
result of the above disposals is as follows: ZLEIBE ZRNFEITAR -
2018
2018 F
HK$’000
FHEx
Cash consideration RERE 30,809
Deposits received as at 31 March 2017 R2017F3 A31H Z BRI S (2,246)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in FRHENBARZRE RERS
respect of disposal of subsidiaries EEBE ZMAFHE 28,563
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44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

44, HREE

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

RMEMR - AEEAUT W RN

contingent liabilities, which have not been provided for in the financial WRFHERECSIABE -

statements:

(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds (a) BEHZARERREN
given RE

Indemnities issued to financial institutions
for performance bonds in respect of
construction and professional services
contracts undertaken by:

- subsidiaries
— joint operations
—ajoint venture

Guarantees issued to financial institutions
to secure credit facilities granted to
associates (note (i)

Guarantees for property development
projects given to banks which granted
facilities to purchasers of the Group’s

2018
2018 &

HK$’000
TERT

NP R BIEGERETIE R
BXREE K 2 BRIRE

properties held for sale

In addition to the above, corporate guarantees were provided by
the Group to two parties as disclosed in note 31(a) to the financial
statements to indemnify them any losses and liabilities that they
may incur in connection with certain construction work of the
Group in which the two parties have involvement, however, the
financial impact of the contingent liabilities that may arise from

R BEEBIEL 2 BIR
NG 1,032,206 990,913
-AREL 165,766 275,152
- —fAEERF 40,446 -
1,238,418 1,266,065
ML N A EESEERE
i [A) <& BRAIE VB ) 2 2R
(B =Ei) 935,390 290,900
YEERIER MBEEANEE
FHEHEYSE 2 AT
IRERE 2 IR TR 2 ER
103,144 126,631
2,276,952 1,683,596
Br BT E SN - RIS RE IR

3@ FTIRBEAEE R WA A TR
HARER  AEEREESTE
HLTIE(ZEMEBATHLEHEAR)
AlRE R SRR R A S -
R NABEERE + ARKREE

these arrangements is not disclosed as, in the opinion of the YEGBEZE LA EEIA
directors of the Company, the estimate of which is not practicable BEMNTHEZE B WEELE
to do so. = o

Notes: Fff3E

(0]

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of
the financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the directors of the Company consider
that the possibility of the default of the parties involved is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position in respect of these financial
guarantee contracts.

At 31 March 2018, the banking facilities granted to associates
and guaranteed by the Group were utilised to the extent of
HK$490,980,000 (2017: HK$110,530,000). The other shareholder of
an associate provides to the Group a counter-guarantee in respect
of the amount of banking facilities in excess of the Group's pro rata
share based on the Group's equity interest in an associate.

() ARAESBRR AKEMBE
RE R BRFERE 2 DFEDT
BEX  BARREEAREH
BITRKZ IR IEEAR - Bk
Wi % EHHRERE ONGEE
BTSIRRRAEREE

201843 A31 H @ NEBER
RABEARREZBETHRED
5 % F 490,980,00078 7T (2017 4F :
110,530,000 7T ) - — R B & A
RIME AR LR ERAEE
A ZEE QAR T E R
SEELNDEZRITHESREN
AEBRERIER -

201718 F 3k mMBESEEZRKRERA A
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Litigations

In or about December 2013 and March 2014, a plaintiff
commenced two separate legal proceedings against a subsidiary
of the Company and the Company, respectively, alleging that
the termination of a proposed transaction in relation to the sale
of a commercial development and 49% interest in the car park
development at No. 8 Clear Water Bay Road (collectively the
“Properties”) was wrongful and claimed for the loss of capital
appreciation of the Properties for the breach of a memorandum
entered into between the plaintiff and a subsidiary of the
Company in September 2013.

The cases will be tried before a Judge at the High Court Building,
No. 38 Queensway, Hong Kong on 15 January 2019 and hearing
dates of 15 to 30 January 2019 are reserved. The pre-trial review is
scheduled to be heard on 26 September 2018.

Besides, in or about April 2014, another plaintiff commenced legal
proceedings against the same subsidiary of the Company alleging
that the termination of a proposed transaction in relation to the
sale of the commercial development at No. 8 Clear Water Bay Road
was wrongful and sought damages from the subsidiary of the
Company.

The cases will be tried before a Judge at the High Court Building,
No. 38 Queensway, Hong Kong on 10 December 2019 and hearing
dates of 10 to 23 December 2019 are reserved. The pre-trial review
is scheduled to be heard on 3 September 2019.

Based on the existing legal documents after having performed
management’s internal critical assessment of the aforesaid cases
and seeking advice from an independent legal advisor, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has a
reasonable ground of defence on the merits and the cases would
be successfully defended, therefore, no material adverse financial
impact on the Group is expected.
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(b)

AR EA

20134 12 A sk A& &R 2014 5
3ASAIR  —RBEREEARARFR
Z— BB AR NARE D BIE
AR TARFA > BRERIEEEE
EEKEESRZEELRRERIEE
BHEREZ A% R (GRBZEY
¥ |)2EZBRHBTEEIERE
REEALBKRR 2 —EH B AR
R2013F 9 AN 2 B8k 2 525
YIEBEARFAEMSI R ZBRIERNR

g °

EHEN 20191 B 15 BETES
BB RS AR AEREAEE
o W EFEE2019F1 A15H 2
30 BETRA - FRAINEEE R
BERA 2018 F 9 A 26 BH#TT ©

BEON - 201454 AEkRIE - B—
ZREARR—EARATZHBA
AIEFAEFRA  BRRIEBREEE
EEKEES R Y EERREEZR
SBTEZE  YRARRZHEA
RJREE o

ZHBR2019F12 A10BEFH
S EENBREE LR ANIEREE
®£IE - 218%B2019F 128108 F
23 H#ETTIRE - BRAIMEBERE L
BER 20199 A3 Hi#ETT °

ERNEEERE DR 2HAE
EXFEITR A EBRRS AT (E - I
FEDERBERSKERR AR
AEEARASEEAE Z AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its completed investment properties (note 15(a)
to the financial statements) under operating lease arrangements,
with leases negotiated for terms within one year (2017: ranging
from one to two years). The terms of the leases generally also
require the tenants to pay security deposits.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables of HK$286,000 under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due within one year. These was no
operating lease arrangement as lessor by the Group as at 31 March
2018.

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from
one month to three years.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

—FR
F_=hF(BREERMF)

Within one year
In the second to fifth years,
inclusive

(a)

(b)

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

45, ZEBENZTH

LLHBEA &4

AEEBELSERYZTHHBL R
TREWE (MHRERWNE150)
CHEFMBABENT—FQ017F - N
F—Z=MF)  c BHERBENE
SKAFE S HRBES ©

MN2017F3H831H - KREBRE
ERFAP RS 2 N Rl fisH L 4%
FHERERBEERKZKBBLATES
286,000/87C * XHHIR A—FA °
M2018FE3H31H ' "EEE A
HHEAMEEDEFERNOLHE -

PUEA & 5
AEEBEEEROTHRALE

THAEYE  KEREARNF—
BAE=%F -

R2018F3H31H KEBEBE
TR S £ A% A B R RIKHE
ERNF ZAAEE

2018 2017
2018 & 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
Tt T
25,567 26,091
11,536 19,643
37,103 45,734

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

46. EIE

B £ ST EE 45(0) FTAF A 2 & S AR KO AHE
CRIERR - REBBATALRE :

46. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 45(b)
above, the Group had the following commitments at the end of the 4N
reporting period:

222

(a)

(b)

(c)

Capital commitments

Contracted, but not provided for: B 5] 418 A& :

(a) BEAEE

2018
2018 &

HK$’000
TET

2017
20174
HK$'000
T

Acquisition of investment BN ES
properties 102,011 =
Acquisition of items of plant EERSENEREBEE
and machinery 313 5,058
Total capital commitments BAFN R 102,324 5,058

Property development commitments

Contracted, but not provided for: 2 5] 418 AR B :

(b) MIEBRARE

2018
2018 &

HK$’000
TExT

2017
20174
HK$'000
T

Residential developments FEER 2,989 19,355
Total property development )2 R AR
commitments 2,989 19,355

Commitments for sale of property interests

()

On 19 June 2017, the Group entered into a provisional
agreement for sale and purchase with, amongst others, an
independent third party, pursuant to which the Group shall
dispose of 60% interest in the T PLUS Project (as defined in
note 25), together with the outstanding shareholder’s loan
owed to the Group, at a cash consideration attributable
to the Group of HK$743 million. In accordance with the
agreement, the transfer of the ownership interest in the
T PLUS Project will be completed upon the fulfillment of
all the conditions precedent including the issuance of
certificate of compliance by the Land Department of Hong

() HEMERER AR

() MR2017F6H19H  AEEH
H(ERBE) —RBILE
ZHAIVBEREE BE B
I AEEEHESEEH
(F = R M 5£25) 2 60%1E
o BRIRNAEEHRE
BEREER  AEEEGR
% X {8 743,000,000 7T ° 1R
Bathe BEEEHEEZ
Fi 78 HERE 2R G A BT A ST R 1K
B (BREEBERITTEE R

Kong Special Administration Region, which is expected to BERBERIE  EHEK
be obtained on or before September 2019. R 20196 9 RSk RIS ) &
EPK B TTRK ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c) Commitments for sale of property interests
(continued)

()

(if)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2018, deposit payments with a total amount
of HK$297 million have been received by the Group.
Pursuant to the agreement, all deposit payments received
shall be held in an escrow account and can only be applied
for payments of construction costs and professional fees in
connection with the T PLUS Project.

As the sale transaction is expected to be completed in
September 2019, the T PLUS Project is not accounted for as
a disposal group classified as held for sale under HKFRS 5
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2018.

On 23 October 2017, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with an independent third party for the disposal
of the entire equity interest in Shijiazhuang JunlJing, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at a total
consideration of RMB508 million. Shijiazhuang Junling holds
the Group's land held for property development in Mainland
China and certain of the Group's properties held for sale
in Mainland China. The completion of the transaction is
subject to fulfillment of all conditions precedent before the
long stop date of 23 July 2018 (as extended from 23 April
2018 by mutual agreement).

As at the date of approval of these financial statements,
the transaction has not been completed. In the opinion of
the directors, as the fulfillment of all conditions precedent
before the long stop date is uncertain, the completion of
the sale transaction is not highly probable. Accordingly,
Shijiazhuang JunlJing is not accounted for as a disposal
subsidiary classified as held for sale under HKFRS 5 in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018.

46. EiE

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H

(o) HEMERERZAEG)

()

(if)

(#8)

MR2018F3H31H @ AEE
B U B 48 5 %8 & 297,000,000
BIL 2 & FRIE o BIEZ W
F CWEzZ 23 ReE
EERREERE » LR 7]
BEX N EEEERAEZE
R NEEER -

AR TEHISEER SR 2019
FoH T M2018F3 A
31H - BEEBWARRESR
7S B TS R E R S S SRR AR
BB BEMRREAARIIED
HABELHEZLEAR -

R2017F10823H » A&EE
B — 2B\ E = SR
EEpEARERNARER
= (X RAzEEEZEHRBA
A2 EERE  BREAA
R #508,000,000 7 ° A R ¥
EEFEEREERF A
BIEMEBER 2 LA RE
T2 & B A A B (A B 4 1 8
E2ME - BERZAFA
B RIE R 201847 A 23
Bz &&E IEA B (EEH
FEEBE2018%4 A23BIER)
BIEZERKE © FAIEE o

R ERTHREZ BHE - 7%
RHMATHK - EERE
RN FT A SR I
REEBE I B ERTEERK
HE R H AR WNIRE A GE ST
X e A It - R 20184 3 A 31
B AXREERSETRBES
75 B 7 3R 5 2E BN 2B 5 SR R 4R
AU EARRAARGIED
BABIEEEZRENBA
al e

2017183 DMBSERZERBIRDF
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B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

47. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following material
transactions with related parties during the year:

(a)

(@)

47. BEFEE

Associates: BN A
Management fee income EEBUA (i)
Construction contract revenue  JEEE A 49URES 0]
Interest expense paid and FEN REMNRLIERA A
payable to the ultimate ZHBFX
holding company on:
An unsecured bond —IEEAES (ii)
Convertible bonds AR ES (iii)

Notes:

(i) The transaction prices were determined by reference to the then
prevailing market rates.

(i) The interest expense was paid to GT Winners on an unsecured
bond of HK$158,000,000 which bore interest at the rate of 1.48%
per annum. The unsecured bond was issued to GT Winners on
21 November 2016 and was fully redeemed by the Group on
21 December 2016.

(iii) The interest expense was paid to GT Winners on the Convertible

Bond C (as detailed in note 33(c)) which bore interest at the rate of

10% per annum.

The related party transactions in respect of items disclosed in
(ii) and (iii) above also constitute connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are exempted
from announcement, reporting and independent shareholders
approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing
Rules.

1

Outstanding balances and other transactions with related parties:

(i) Details of the balances with joint ventures and associates
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in notes
17(b), 17(c), 18(c) and 18(e) to the financial statements,
respectively.

(i) Details of the trade receivable balances with other partners
of joint operations at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in note 23(c) to the financial statements.

(i)  Details of the guarantees provided by non-controlling

shareholders of a subsidiary in respect of certain bank and

other loans of the Group are set out in note 32(e) to the
financial statements.
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47.

48.

49,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(iv)  Details of the guarantees given by the Group for banking
facilities granted to an associate are disclosed in note 44(a)(ii)

to the financial statements.

(v)  Details of disposal of a subsidiary and certain dump
trucks (property, plant and equipment) of the Group to a
connected person of the Company are disclosed in notes
29(a) and 43(b) to the financial statements, respectively.

(©  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Key management personnel of the Group solely represents
directors of the Company. Further details of directors’emoluments
are included in note 9 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Other than certain equity investments and the derivative components of
convertible bonds being classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, respectively, as disclosed in notes 26 and 33
to the financial statements, all financial assets and liabilities of the Group
as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 were loans and receivables, and financial
liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
as follows:

the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
included in the level 2 and level 3 categories have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most
significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the credit
risk of counterparties.

The directors of the Company consider the fair values of financial assets
and liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one year
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into
levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

47.
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49,

B R SR M
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

49, ERTECAFERAFERE
e D)

REEHBERRRER 2D E

TE(E)
F—HATEHEIRBREES
B ERIEBRTSFTRER (RE
FHE) o

49. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities.

FZMAHEAETIRE R A
ZREI - KEEEXRBEAIER
(BB ) k& (BB ERBITE)
BB ABURSL -

F MR HEETIRTALIERE
AR M5 8E GER B R AR
BIZEEXBBEZMHETNERT -

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
technigues that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value measurement using

RAAVEIE

Quoted
prices in
active
markets
AERTIS
PR EH%
(Level 1)
(F—%)
HK$'000
FA&TT

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
EATEHE EATUEHE
BABE BWABE
(Level 2) (Level 3)
(E=#R) (B=4)
HKS'000 HKS$'000
T4 THT

31 March 2018
Assets measured at fair value:

Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

31 March 2017
Assets measured at fair value:

Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Liabilities measured at fair value:

Derivative components of
convertible bonds

201843 H31H

HAFEHE
WA -

A FEA A2
2 BANEE

201753 H31H

EATEHE
B -
AT B AR
2IARE

BAF(EIE
R :
TRBMES
e

80 - - 80
105 - - 105
- - 38,260 38,260

RAFREBEFE  F—REE R

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the current and

prior years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, balances with
associates, other partners of joint operations and non-controlling
equity holders of subsidiaries, cash and bank balances, trade and other
payables, accrued charges and bank and other borrowings. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes to the
financial statements. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risks), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HKS
or RMB, which are the same as the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities. The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange
rate fluctuations arise. The Group does not expect any significant
exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations and shall use derivative
contracts to hedge against its exposure to currency risk only when
it is required. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

(i) Fairvalue and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group has significant bank and other borrowings, convertible
bonds, guaranteed bonds, bank deposits with floating interest
rates which are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk. During the
year, the Group has not hedged its cash flow and fair value interest
rate risks. The directors of the Company consider the Group's
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk on the bank deposits is
insignificant as most deposits bear variable interest rates which
did not significantly fluctuated in recent years.
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 (2017: 100)
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 (2017: 100) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 would have decreased/
increased by approximately HK$12,346,000 (2017: HK$12,183,000).

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's exposure to
interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is insignificant.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees issued
by the Group as disclosed in note 44(a).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its debtors and amounts
due from other partners of joint operations. The Group is exposed to
concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion of its trade debtors
are generated from a limited number of customers. At the end of the
reporting period, two (2017: two) customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 62% (2017: 67%) of the Group's trade debtors. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. The Group also reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. To mitigate credit risk arising from guarantees provided to
banks in respect of credit facilities utilised by an associate, the Group has
delegated a team responsible for assessing credit standing and limits
to the guarantees to be made. In addition, the management considers
the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to property
purchasers is limited because the facilities are secured by the properties.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

Except for the above, the Group does not have any significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from associates and
other partners of joint operations, the Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from default of the counterparty is limited as the counterparty
has sufficient net assets to repay its debts and/or a good history of
repayment. The Group does not expect to incur a significant loss for
uncollected amounts due from these associates and other partners of
joint operations.
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

50. BIKEMEER

ZRBUR (&)

Liquidity risk REEEERER
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains EERRDECRRTE @ ANEEEE

a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds,
guaranteed bonds and equity financing as significant sources of liquidity.
Details of which are set out in notes 32, 33, 34 and 37 to the financial
statements.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and

R R — E*?Zﬁi&ﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁ
B MEEERRERNUNARSEEE
REESMENMBEERERMNZITE -
BT E BSPEIRITIE S B B R I AR
BTERERL ©

AEEKSFRITREMER « AJRRE
5 BEREFEBRABREEREFTER
FES KR - BEFBEHN I HREKM
5532433234 %37°

TRHFNAEEIFTESRE BERBE
BEEFKDON <RIBS OFH - TR
BAKEZERRER ARRERE
1%25&,55%1% TMERE - ZFIIKF

FEENERAEZHEERE - ﬂ”ﬁE %%

principal cash flows. To the extent that cash flows are at floating rate, fﬁ@mui?’yﬁc C RARE SIS
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the RZHMEEFE

reporting period.

Liquidity and interest risk tables HEBEERFIEEER

31 March 2018

20183 A31H

Weighted Repayable
average on demand Total
effective or within Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year 1-5years 5years cash flows amount
mETYE  RRERY RUERHE
BRA= —EREE -5ZRE BBALE REER SREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TERL TER TER TERL TER
Trade payables B oENTE 915,321 604,453 - 1,519,774 1,519,774
Other payables and accruals HiERIER
Jet o 388,964 - - 388,964 388,964
Due to other partners of joint Wé%%i‘%ﬁi\fﬁ%ﬁf
operations - interest free HE - ﬁa 44,187 - - 44,187 44,187
Due to associates Kﬂéﬁ“" 12,436 - - 12436 12,436
Due tonon-controlling equity ~ RISBR A E’]?HWWQ
holders of subsidiaries EREALTE 7,239 - - 7,239 7,239
Interest-free loans fiom a KA —fAlBAREE
non-controling equity holder ~ RIRERBALZEE
of a subsidiary 5 - - 157,738 157,738 142,862
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER - 28
- Variable rate 3.00 2,705,595 2,343 5,000 2,712,938 2,710,969
Guaranteed bonds ERES 6.00 41,340 - - 41,340 39,000
Obligations under hire purchase A M RBERE
contracts and finance leases i 4,63 11,184 6,055 - 17,239 16,807
Financial quarantee contracts ~ BAIERAH) 490,980 - - 490,980 -
4,617,246 612,851 162,738 5,392,835 4,882,238
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

31 March 2017

Weighted
average
effective
NEEEE

TEFS
LGRS

Trade payables B AR
Other payablesandaccruals — EAEMFERIESFIE
Duetoother partnersofjoint ~ RAEEREMBHTIA

operations - interest free -58

Due to associates YA NS

Due tonon-controlling equity ~ REIBAF E’J?H Sz
holders of subsidiaries BEAZTE

Interest-free loans from a RE—BEHBARFER
non-controlling equity holder — RERB AL ZEER

of a subsidiary
Bank and other borrowings SAOREMER -8

- variable rate 240
Liability component of convertible ATHRk &2 E 5

bonds 0-10.00
Guaranteed bonds ERES 600
Obligations under hire purchase  EEA NI RAIEAT S5

contracts and finance leases 397

Financial quarantee contracts ~ BAEHERAX

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

50. IBEMREREBERBEK @)

REESREME(E)
B Ew KIS REERK (&)
2017%¥3 A31H

Repayable
on demand Total
or within More than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-5years 5 years cash flows amount
BRERY, AEFAE
—FMER  —FERF BALF REBE KmfE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK000
TAL TAL TAL TEL TATL
1032,1% 556918 = 1,589,114 1,589,114
352,069 = = 352,069 352069
10,579 = = 10579 10579
12436 = = 12436 12436
6,774 = = 6,774 6,774
= = 49,760 49,760 44,778
2998671 20217 3964 3,022,852 2944528
279417 = = 279417 207,778
1,170 42510 = 43,680 39,000
14333 17,256 = 31,589 30511
110,530 - - 110,530 -
4818175 636901 53,724 5,508,800 547,567
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31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 50. BriEEBEEIE B R BUER (4)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the
likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which
are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the "repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2018, the aggregate carrying amount
of the bank borrowings classified as repayable on demand was
HK$2,704,632,000 (2017: HKS$2,936,053,000). Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management reviews
the expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank borrowings.
The maturity profile of the Group's bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the scheduled repayment dates and the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

Repayable
within
1 year

A—%

wiRE
HK$'000

TET

2018%F3H31H
TBIRESRIEEIEX
ZIRITREMEFK 1,687,876

31 March 2018
Bank and other borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause

1-5 years

—§EhfF

1,110,500

REEES R ()

il AR BREREOZEERRXSHEH
FRERERREGBIRE - AEH
RELZFAEANEBERSBEEREL
L BRERGERRIEY &
SERR - TRAIGEARE B < HE
fA5RIA - AT - RIAMGBEERX S Y
FRFEREOBR AL HRE
B MABAEEREIZEFHMIFED
BERZUWBERBFBERREEBRZA
REMERR

MAEBZREREEBRLZBITERR
EaEEAS TR AA [ AR B Kk —F
AEE | R E 4R - R2018F3 A31
B DEAREREEZRITERZE
BE M {8 /&2,704,632,0007%8 7T (2017 4F :
2,936,053,00078 7T ) ° #&E EAKE 2 Bf
AR - AR REBHEERITITERNB
EESRBIRFE R Z Al BEIETK o

REERBECAR  BEEBRNALE
BZRITERZARRSREEN - 1
BEHR - REBOTERXBHRESLR
REIRANER - AEBER A RRERERR
RHRITERB BT

Total
undiscounted Carrying
cash flows amount

AERRE
REAE AREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

2,798,376 2,704,632

201743 A31H
BIREKERBIEX
ZIRITREMMAERK 2,509,830

31 March 2017
Bank and other borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause

504,547 3,014,377 2,936,053

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders'value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Depending on the market conditions and funding arrangements,
if at any time, repurchase of the Company’s shares will lead to an
enhancement of the net asset value per share and/or earnings per
share of the Group, the directors of the Company will authorise such
transactions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debts
less total cash and bank balances divided by the equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratio as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

B R SR M

31 March 2018
20183 H31H
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AEEFEREABBLXRERES &
AEEL RANBERRR S RIRTTER
FBRRR AR R RIBCRE(H R - NS

HRIT R E A B K
Liability component of convertible bonds A #f% (&% B & &5
Guaranteed bonds BRER

Bank and other borrowings

HEAHKLBEHEENRIA

Hire purchase contract and finance
lease payables

Total debts (VT
Less: Total cash and bank balances B IR MIRTTAE AR

Net debts B Fa8

Equity attributable to shareholders RABIREREEHER
of the Company
BARAELE

Gearing ratio

HREARABELEMOT ¢

2018 2017

2018 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiET FHET
2,710,969 2,944,528
- 217,778

39,000 39,000
16,807 30,511
2,766,776 3,231,817
(2,017,182) (1,764,790)
749,594 1,467,027
2,505,803 2,220,482
30% 66%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 51. TENBRAAFE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2018 RARIEZHBARIN 201843 A 31
are as follows: HEFFIBAT

Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable to the Principal
Name of subsidiary business share capital Company activities

MY,/ BRTEE/

HEBAREE BEWY MR AR ARTAEEREE D FEER
2018 2017
2018 F 2174

% %

Bloom Team Building Construction Hong Kong HKS2 100 100 Building
Company Limited ordinary shares construction
works
EHRETRERAT & 2ETEER BFRETR
Champ Success Development Limited Hong Kong HKS100 60 60  Property
ordinary shares development
EXERERATF BB 100 BT EBR NEER
Champion Surveying & Hong Kong HKS2 100 100 Surveying &
Engineering Co, Limited ordinary shares engineering
works
B RlR TIRAR AT Bt VETERR AIE R
TRET
Chun Wo Building Construction Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$600,000,000 100 100 Construction
ordinary shares
EMEERR A B 600,000,000 BT & B 2E
Chun Wo Construction and Hong Kong HK$291,000,000 100 100 Construction
Engineering Company Limited ordinary shares
HK$9,000,000
non-voting deferred
shares
EMRETRERAR B 2910000008 TEBR BE
9000000787

ERFEETRD

Chun Wo E &M Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$35,000,000 100 100 Electrical and
ordinary shares mechanical
contract works
EMEETRERAA 5 35,000,000 BT ERER HEANIR
Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Hong Kong HK$14,000,000 100 100 Interior design
Engineering Company Limited ordinary shares and decoration
ERBEEHIIRARAR B 14000000 77T & Ak ERRAREE
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(continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Chun Wo Engineering (Macau)
Company Limited
EMIRORM)ERARA

Chun Wo Foundations Limited

EAMETEERAR

Chun Wo Foundations (Macau)
Engineering Limited

MR (RM) TRBRAF

Chun Wo Group Finance (HK) Limited

Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited

BB EERERAR

City Professional Management Limited

BHERERERAR

City Security Company Limited
BmERARA

Full Fame Development Limited

BEEYRARAH

Place of
incorporation/
business

MY,

CE 3L

Hong Kong
Macau

&

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong
Hong Kong

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRTEE/
A

MOP1,000,000
capital

1,000,000 BFI LA

HK$19,000,000
ordinary shares
19,000,000 77T & Ak

MOP100,000
capital

100,000 BFATTER

HKS1
ordinary share
BT ERR

HKS1
ordinary share
IBTERR
HK$8,230,000

ordinary shares
8230000 BT E B

HK$1,000,000
ordinary shares
1,000,000 77T & Ak

HKS1
ordinary share
BT ERR

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

51. TEMB QA TAFHE @)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company

ARAEEREE DL
2018 2017
2018 20175

% %

100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

2017/18 3R DN ES E

Principal
activities

TERK

Construction

22

Construction
B
Construction
o2
Financing

Tunnel
management
services

REERRS

Property
management
services

NEERRS

Security guard
services

E RS

Property
development

NEERE

BERAERAA

235
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR R EE

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Green Solution Interior Design and
Decoration Company Limited

ERERRE REEBRAT

Smartlink International
Development Limited

ERERERERAA

Smartwill Asia Limited
BETNERAR

Vasteam Construction Limited
EEREERAT

Wing Cheong Electrical
Engineering & Contracting
Company Limited

KEERIRARAT

AR SFHERSE
BREAT] (hote (i)
CGiEL0)

AEIBEMZEZABRAR
(note (if))

(B i)

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRATEE/
R

Place of
incorporation/
business

AR,/

CE 3

Hong Kong HKS1
ordinary share

Bt AT ERR
Hong Kong/ HKS1
the UAE ordinary share
A/ MEH 1 BT ERR
Hong Kong/ HKS1
the UAE ordinary share
&/ 1 T AR
Hong Kong HK$100,000,000
ordinary shares

35 100,000,000 BT E MR
Hong Kong HK$20,000,000
ordinary shares

35 20,000,000 BT EBR
PRC/Mainland HK$150,000,000
China registered capital
i,/ Bk 1500000007 7T
MR

PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000
China registered capital
WE/HERE  ARE100000007T
MR

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

51. TEMBATFE @)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company

ARTAEEREE DL
2018 2017
2018 F 2175

% %

100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

Principal
activities

FEEH

Interior design
and decoration

ERREREE

Property
investment

NERE

Property
development

NEERE

Civil engineering
construction
work services

TARRETR
1T AR

Electrical and
mechanical
contract works

BEAHTRE

Property
development

MERR

Consultancy
service

ERIR



51.

52.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Notes:

(i) All the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

(ii) These subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established under
PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
OPERATIONS

Particulars of the Company’s principal joint operations as at 31 March
2018 are as follows:

Place of
Form of business  registration
Name of joint operation structure [operation

REXBER BaRpl i g

CW - CMGC Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong

(&0 - gk E EINC)IN &R

CW - STEC - CMGC IV Unincorporated Hong Kong

&0 - LBE - dnkEE FRAEVEA BB

Kaden - Chun Wo Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong
EINC)IN &R

Leighton - Chun Wo Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong
FRAEVEA BB

B R SR M

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

51. TEMB QA TAFHE @)

() LAmBEZZ2HEBARSHARRRE
A o

(i)  ZEMBRRHRBREDBEIERKILZ
SNEEE DR

ERNBARREERAREIEREARF
EREMEARBEEFERELE L
ARRBMBAR - KARABEZERRIIH
HMBARZFIFE<SRBBNILE

52. TEEEEKHE

AEEFESEEBKN2018F3A31H

HIFFIBAT -
Percentage of
attributable interest Principal
of the Group activities
FEBELAERE DL TEER
2018 2017
2018 20174
% %
(note (a)) (note @)  (note (b))
(Hy&E (a) (@)  (FiEED)
51 N/A Construction
TEA  BE
34 N/A Construction
TEH BE
49 49 Construction
B
20 20 Construction
BE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
OPERATIONS (continued)

53.

Notes:

()

The Group's attributable interest is equal to, greater or less than 50% in
these body unincorporates. However, under the joint venture agreements,
the joint operators have contractually agreed sharing of control over the
relevant activities of these body unincorporates, hence all these body
unincorporates are jointly controlled by the Group and the other joint
operators. Furthermore, the relevant joint venture agreements specify
that the Group and the other parties to the joint arrangements have
rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint
arrangements in accordance with the attributable interest of the Group as
disclosed above and the interest attributable to the other joint operators
respectively, therefore these body unincorporates are classified as joint
operations.

All principal joint operations engaged in construction work are contracted
to carry out infrastructure and public facilities related works in Hong Kong.
These joint operations are strategic to the Group's principal activities in
construction work.

The above table lists the joint operations of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the results
of the year or constitute a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other joint operations would, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

PARTICULARS OF JOINT VENTURES

Particulars of the Group's joint ventures, which are indirectly held by the
Company, as at 31 March 2018 are as follows:

Place of
Name of Particulars of registration  Ownership
joint venture issued shares held and business interest
FifsE st it FrE%E
BERRER BiTRMZFHE eSS i
%
Dingway Registered share BVI 45
Investment of USS1 each
Limited (note)
RERE AMEARGRIET RBREHES
BRAR ()
Novabala JV 2,000 common Philippines 20
Corp. shares of PHP100 each and
9,000 redeemable
preferred shares of
PHP200 each
2,0008% AR EI{E100 FREE
FREHRNER
A& 52 9,0008% B AR
HE00FEELR
B A B B (B ST iR

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017/18

52, TESEEBER®)

G

AEBEREESASER « BRIIERZ
FEIERNREANE R 50% o R ¢ AR
LatE AR AERORERRZEAR
ZEIERBEAEBBREERIET
T Bt ZFEAREAEEEIY
BAEEREMEEHELRZES - 1t
SN IS EHRETH  AEEREE
THEEMET X7 BERD BIREE Ll
SEEGZEEIEME S EE2E
&= ZHEAETHATSREE - MRE
ERMEM - At 0 ZEFEQREAER
BWHIEREEER -

FIENEZETENERAEEHEHE
FIA) AR BB EITER R AR
T2 - xR EXBHARBNEE
TRENEIZEHEHEE -

ERINBARNRBEERAREIERFEARF
EEEIEARBEEFERELEZ
AEBE/EXR - ARREZR /I
HMBEXK FFe<REBANIE -

53.

AEATRE

R2018F3H31H AEE AL QT
(BARRIEERF) 2 BRFBHOT

Percentage
of voting

Profit
sharing

Principal
activities

REER

At
%

FELA
%

FTEEH

50 45 Investment

holding
REER

20 20 Designand

construction

Ret Mgk



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

53. PARTICULARS OF JOINT VENTURES (continued) 53. B¢ ARFHE®W)

Note: Dingway Investment Limited has a wholly-owned subsidiary, named CCCC Mizk : REREBRAGZEZENBATA
International USA LLC, which is incorporated in the State of Delaware of CCCC International USA LLC @ 3Z A @l ¥
the USA and is engaged in the business of property development. EBRFEE MM S R B EERE

5o
54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES 54, TEBENTFE

Particulars of the Group's principal associates as at 31 March 2018 are as R2018F3A31H  AEBEBZ BB &

follows: RAZFFIBWAT ¢

Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable to the Principal
Name of associate business share capital Group activities

MR, BRTEE/

N I A AR AR EARELERET DT TEER
2018 2017
2018 FF 20174

% %

Vietnam Land (HK) Ltd. BVI US$25,000,000 20 20 Investment
ordinary shares holding
RERARE 25,000,000 7T REEKR
LiER
Top Spring Chun Wo* Cayman Islands  US$10 ordinary shares 40 N/A Property
development
REEA HE/HS 10ET LBk NER  DEEE
= Established during the year * REF AL
The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the opinion of ERINBARAESRBEBRENF
the directors of the Company, principally affected the results for the year EXREABRASEAEFERELS
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give ZARE B E QT ° AREIEZRRBI
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the HEMABERRZFBEESHERBNRIT
Company, result in particulars of excessive length. Ko
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HE SRk BT o

31 March 2018
20184F3 H31H

55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 55. AN T 2 AR R &R

COMPANY
RI|BERR - BEAANRE M BIRRE

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BRI :

2018
2018 5
HK$’000
FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I YN ] 22,018 22,564
Investments in subsidiaries (note 51)  FAKTEB R 3% & (MfsE51) 1,934,913 2,245,469
Total non-current assets IEmEN B EARRE 1,956,931 2,268,033
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and ARSI - e REAM
other receivables JE U ZIE 930 642
Income tax recoverable AR EIFIR 227 =
Cash and cash equivalents Re kMRS EEIAR 660 16,314
Total current assets BN EEMTE 1,817 16,956
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE \
Other payables and accruals H b A 3R I8 K FE ST IR 19,905 21,424
Liability component of convertible AgRESFaEE S
bonds - 217,778
Derivative components of convertible  AI R {EHHTEE D
bonds - 38,260
Total current liabilities mE B BB 19,905 277,462
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEERE (18,088) (260,506)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABRRBAE
LIABILITIES 1,938,843 2,007,527
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE \
Other payables and accruals H b e 5k I8 K FE ST IR 4,321 20,923
Due to subsidiaries FEAST BT /B A Rl 5RIE 804,249 943,767
Total non-current liabilities e EDN=REFGEE] 808,570 964,690
Net assets BEFE 1,130,273 1,042,837
EQUITY fE=
Issued capital BEITARA 187,553 161,929
Reserves (note) e (FIEE) 942,720 880,908
TOTAL EQUITY fERBE 1,130,273 1,042,837
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Tk —3
Director Director
2 =
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55.

56.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R T EE

31 March 2018
201843 A31H

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 55. AR T 2P HARRT )
COMPANY (continued)
Note: The movements of the Company’s reserves during the year are as ek : REERARRZEHEEB W
follows: ™
Shares held
Share  under share Share-hased  Convertible
premium awardscheme  Contributed compensation  bond equity Retained
account account surplus reserve reserve profits
RERH
Rt REHEER g iR
wEE THENRG 8RS fie  E5RE  RERA
Notes HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$000
Bz T ThT Thn BT i Thr
A1 April 2016 Ra0i654818 47795 - 5552 . B8 UG 06D
Profitfor the year and RERRHRAER
total comprehensive 2ENREE
income for the year = = = = = 40415 40415
Share placement RiE 37(a)) 82800 - - - - - 82800
Issue of shares Upon RATARESN
exercise of convertible AR
bonds 3 63,048 - - - (7980) - 55,068
At31 March 2017 01753 A31H
and 1 April 2017 Rw17E4R18 623804 - 52552 - 17978 186,574 880,908
Profitfor the year and FEERTIRAER
total comprehensive 2ENEEE
income for the year - - - - - 161 1611
Issue of shaes upon ARATARESN
exercise of EanRn
convertible bonds B 156,725 - - - (33889) - 12840
Repurchase of shares under ~ IREEAR(D 148
the share award scheme BE AT 38(a) - (18197) - - - = (18197)
Share award expense R RBHES 38(0) - - - 3443 - - 3443
Equiy-settled share WREEE Y
option expense RIER 39) - - - 21832 - - 2832
Transfer o share option WRRERER
feserve upon the ERERERE
forfeiture of
share options 39 - - - (58) - 58 -
Recognition upon ERE kR ES
modification of terms =
of convertible bonds 3 - - - - 33885 - 33885
Transfer upon modificationof MBI AT AR (AR
terms of convertible bonds [t 3(b) = = = = (17978) 17978 =
Final 2017 dividend declared ~ EERDI7ERBRE 12 - - - - = (61533) (61533
Interim 2018 dvidend declared  BER01IBERHRE 12 - - - - - (23069 (23069
At31 March 2018 R018E3A31H 780529 (18197) 52552 6217 - 121619 942,720
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 56. #t/EMBEHRK
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Bk RER2018F6 A7 BEESH
Board on 27 June 2018. RO R RETEE

201718 3R TMNBAEZERER QT
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

Year ended 31 March
BZ3 A31 HILEE

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
201445 20155 20165 20174 2018 &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&TT T T FET THET
RESULTS E4
Revenue ] 6,551,240 8,317,087 8,541,826 8,810,797 8,231,055
Profit before tax FREERT R A 139,821 145,165 349,720 235,947 230,200
Income tax FTisti (46,498) (41,894) (43,246) (30,126) (66,523)
Profit for the year IR A 93,323 103,271 306,474 205,821 163,677
Attributable to: FE(g -
Shareholders of the Company A TR 93,009 102,518 301,950 205,506 150,176
Non-controlling interests eI 314 753 4524 315 13,501
93,323 103,271 306,474 205,821 163,677
At 31 March
3 A31H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
20144F 20154 2016%F 20174F 2018 &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAETT FETT FHET T FHT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Total assets BEAE 6,487,239 6,895,710 7,192,101 8,463,164 8,628,952
Total liabilities BERSE (4842693)  (5310,603) (5,263,395) (6,217,904)  (6,104,870)
1,644,546 1,585,107 1,928,706 2245260 2,524,082
Equity attributable to: FEAEHE RS -
Shareholders of the Company iN/NE] S 1,643,882 1,583,690 1,902,856 2,220,482 2,505,803
Non-controlling interests eI A 664 1417 25,850 24,778 18,279

1,644,546 1,585,107 1,928,706 2,245,260 2,524,082
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE FIERR SHEWX
Total Total
estimated estimated
site area gross floor
Expected date (square area (square Group's
Location Stage of completion  of completion metres) metres) interest
fhat it E
ik TIRE BatERAH BHEER BRER T5E
(FAK) (FAK) Frit s
A parcel of land located Phase 1: Completed - Residential, 111,554 219990 100%
between northern side of Phase 2: Completed - commercial and (Phase 3)
He Ping Road and Phase 3: Planning - carpark
southern side of
Guang Hua Road,
Shijiazhuang,
Hebei Province,
The People’s Republic of China
hEARLME F-8:BxI - % BER 111,54 219990 100%
AR F-H:BRI - 85 (F=H)
MFELREER B B £=0: sE -
Plot No. 95-C35 at Planning - Residential 2425 2,715 100%
Shams Abu Dhabi,
Al Reem Island,
Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates
PR BRI AL, EEs - FE 2405 2715 100%
Al Reem Island
Shams Abu Dhabi
MR R S5-C35
Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 499 Superstructure work 2018 Residential and 2202 13,807 60%
atTseng Choi Street, Area 4, in progress Commercial
Tuen Mun, New Territories,
Hong Kong
BRM AL SRR FESRETRENR 2008 FEREE 2002 13807 60%
PSR 4995
Lot Nos. 1770, 1771 RP, 1774, Planning - Residential 3075 6,150 100%

1766 RP.and 1768 in

Demarcation District No. 3

Tung Chung, Lantau Island,

New Territories, Hong Kong

BRRMAABLRELENAEN i+ - e 3075 6150 100%
HERE770~ 1771RP~ 1774

1766 RP. R 1768%:
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE BERRE HEWE e

(continued)

Total Total
estimated estimated
site area gross floor
Expected date (square area (square Group's
Location Stage of completion  of completion metres) metres) interest
fhist CHELL
e IR B ERAE i* AEERE EXER piN-1: |
(ERX) (ERX) Frib s
SW 14th Street and Planning - Residential, 11,200 290,000 45%
SW 14th Terrace and commercial and
between S. Miami and hotel
SW 1st Avenue in
Miami, Florida
FEEM W 14th Street FrElm - 1% EEREE 11,200 290,000 45%
and SW 14th Terrace and

between S. Miami and
SW st Avenue in Miami, Florida

Residential Accommodation, Demolition work 2021 Residential 1692 7,966 40%
No. 128 Waterloo Road, in progress

Kowloon

Kowloon Inland Lot No. 1900

NERIBERE1900 57 BRI EETH 2021 FE 1692 7,966 40%
N

BIT£E185

FEREH

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BEWE

Location Usage Lease term

b F Rz HAOFH

Nos. 4602, 4603, 4607, 4608, Tower 2, Residential Long
The Gate Towers, Shams, Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

P Bt B BRI AR AL EL FEEE =H
Reem Island

Shams

The Gate Towers

=)

254602 ~ 4603 * 4607 * 4608 5

1902, Tower 2, Sigma Towers, Residential Long
The City of Lights, Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi, UAE.

P Bt e B A AL b FEEE =H
Reem Island, The City of Lights

Simga Towers 25 2FE 1902
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MAJOR MEMBERS OF
ASIA ALLIED
INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP

DNBEEEZEETENRE

CONSTRUCTION

= Chun Wo Construction Holdings Company Limited
EAZEZERAR AR
e  Chun Wo Building Construction Limited
EMEEFR AT
e  Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited
BREETIZER AT
e  Chun Wo E & M Engineering Limited
EMEETEFGRAT]
e  Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Engineering Company Limited
EMEEEHTEFR AR ”
e Chun Wo Foundations Limited
RAMETEFR AR
= Chun Wo Overseas Holdings Limited
EAFIMERFR AR
e R. J. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd.
TSR BRAR]

CHE N R <

ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND ASSETS LEASING
MEZREEERE

®  Chun Wo Property Development Holdings Limited ”
AN EERERBRE QA
& Fo

SECURITY AND FACILITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES Caun Wo

REZ KR iEEERY

= City Services Group Limited
W ARG EE AR AR
e City Professional Management Limited

HMBEEERERAT
e  City Security Company Limited
W R R A A
WoTii M
OTHFB BUSINESS Cm”jSER%lciE% G%\oﬁ
HAb R

= AAIl Overseas Holdings Limited
MBS EEEIMERE R A A

= Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited
BMBEEEERAR




Q& U G R R BR 4 A

& Asia ALLED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED

C1, 5th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3798 5711 Fax: (852) 3798 5700

&8

hERDE

REEFa601 260355

U T2 AE—H

5 #C1 Y MIX
it (852) 3798 5711 {EHE: (852) 3798 5700 oo

FSC responsible sources
www.asiaalliedgroup.com e FSC™ C004888
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